TECHNICAL REPORTS SERIES NO. 431

Application of Membrane Technologies for Liquid Radioactive Waste Processing



APPLICATION OF MEMBRANE TECHNOLOGIES FOR LIQUID RADIOACTIVE WASTE PROCESSING The following States are Members of the International Atomic Energy Agency:

AFGHANISTAN ALBANIA ALGERIA ANGOLA ARGENTINA ARMENIA AUSTRALIA AUSTRIA AZERBAIJAN BANGLADESH BELARUS BELGIUM BENIN BOLIVIA BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA BOTSWANA BRAZIL BULGARIA BURKINA FASO CAMEROON CANADA CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC CHILE CHINA COLOMBIA COSTA RICA CÔTE D'IVOIRE CROATIA CUBA CYPRUS CZECH REPUBLIC DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE CONGO DENMARK DOMINICAN REPUBLIC ECUADOR EGYPT EL SALVADOR ERITREA ESTONIA ETHIOPIA FINLAND FRANCE GABON GEORGIA GERMANY GHANA GREECE

GUATEMALA HAITI HOLY SEE HONDURAS HUNGARY ICELAND INDIA INDONESIA IRAN, ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IRAO IRELAND ISRAEL ITALY JAMAICA JAPAN JORDAN KAZAKHSTAN KENYA KOREA, REPUBLIC OF KUWAIT **KYRGYZSTAN** LATVIA LEBANON LIBERIA LIBYAN ARAB JAMAHIRIYA LIECHTENSTEIN LITHUANIA LUXEMBOURG MADAGASCAR MALAYSIA MALI MALTA MARSHALL ISLANDS MAURITIUS MEXICO MONACO MONGOLIA MOROCCO MYANMAR NAMIBIA NETHERLANDS NEW ZEALAND NICARAGUA NIGER NIGERIA NORWAY PAKISTAN PANAMA PARAGUAY

PERU PHILIPPINES POLAND PORTUGAL OATAR REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA ROMANIA RUSSIAN FEDERATION SAUDI ARABIA SENEGAL SERBIA AND MONTENEGRO SEYCHELLES SIERRA LEONE SINGAPORE SLOVAKIA **SLOVENIA** SOUTH AFRICA SPAIN SRI LANKA SUDAN SWEDEN SWITZERLAND SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC TAJIKISTAN THAILAND THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA TUNISIA TURKEY UGANDA UKRAINE UNITED ARAB EMIRATES UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA UNITED STATES OF AMERICA URUGUAY UZBEKISTAN VENEZUELA VIETNAM YEMEN ZAMBIA ZIMBABWE

The Agency's Statute was approved on 23 October 1956 by the Conference on the Statute of the IAEA held at United Nations Headquarters, New York; it entered into force on 29 July 1957. The Headquarters of the Agency are situated in Vienna. Its principal objective is "to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world".

© IAEA, 2004

Permission to reproduce or translate the information contained in this publication may be obtained by writing to the International Atomic Energy Agency, Wagramer Strasse 5, P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria.

Printed by the IAEA in Austria November 2004 STI/DOC/010/431 **TECHNICAL REPORTS SERIES No. 431**

APPLICATION OF MEMBRANE TECHNOLOGIES FOR LIQUID RADIOACTIVE WASTE PROCESSING

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA, 2004

COPYRIGHT NOTICE

All IAEA scientific and technical publications are protected by the terms of the Universal Copyright Convention as adopted in 1952 (Berne) and as revised in 1972 (Paris). The copyright has since been extended by the World Intellectual Property Organization (Geneva) to include electronic and virtual intellectual property. Permission to use whole or parts of texts contained in IAEA publications in printed or electronic form must be obtained and is usually subject to royalty agreements. Proposals for non-commercial reproductions and translations are welcomed and will be considered on a case by case basis. Enquiries should be addressed by email to the Publishing Section, IAEA, at sales.publications@iaea.org or by post to:

Sales and Promotion Unit, Publishing Section International Atomic Energy Agency Wagramer Strasse 5 P.O. Box 100 A-1400 Vienna Austria fax: +43 1 2600 29302 tel.: +43 1 2600 22417 http://www.iaea.org/Publications/index.html

IAEA Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

Application of membrane technologies for liquid radioactive waste processing. — Vienna : International Atomic Energy Agency, 2004. p. ; 24 cm. — (Technical reports series, ISSN 0074–1914 ; no. 431) STI/DOC/010/431 ISBN 92–0–106804–2 Includes bibliographical references.

1. Radioactive wastes. 2. Membrane separation. I. International Atomic Energy Agency. II. Technical reports series (International Atomic Energy Agency); 431.

IAEAL

04-00383

FOREWORD

In recent decades various membrane separation processes have been developed and utilized in the field of potable water purification and, more recently, in the treatment of various process liquors and liquid waste. The widening application of membrane processes and technologies is a result of the increasing variety of commercial membranes and membrane apparatus available. Since the development of suitable membrane materials and their long term verification in conventional water purification fields, these membrane processes have been adopted by the nuclear industry as a viable alternative treatment method for liquid radioactive wastes. It has been demonstrated that pressure driven membrane separation processes can be successfully employed for the removal of radioactive substances and have some distinct advantages over the existing conventional processes. Membrane processes in combination with other conventional methods have proved to offer superior treatment capabilities, particularly in instances where conventional methods alone were not as efficient or effective.

Recognizing the growing importance of membrane technologies in processing different liquid radioactive waste streams it was decided to prepare this report which reviews and analyses the existing information on application of these technologies in the nuclear industry, in particular in the processing of liquid radioactive waste. The report reviews types of membranes, equipment design, range of applications, operating experience and performance characteristics of different membrane processes. The report intends to provide Member States with the basic information on applicability of membrane separation technologies for processing liquid radioactive waste.

The initial draft of this report was prepared by consultants from Canada and the Russian Federation and then discussed and further developed at a series of meetings between 2000 and 2003.

The IAEA is grateful to those who contributed to the preparation of this report and wishes to especially thank R. Kohout of Canada who compiled all the available information and prepared the final version. The IAEA officer responsible for the report was V. Efremenkov of the Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Technology.

EDITORIAL NOTE

Although great care has been taken to maintain the accuracy of information contained in this publication, neither the IAEA nor its Member States assume any responsibility for consequences which may arise from its use.

The use of particular designations of countries or territories does not imply any judgement by the publisher, the IAEA, as to the legal status of such countries or territories, of their authorities and institutions or of the delimitation of their boundaries.

The mention of names of specific companies or products (whether or not indicated as registered) does not imply any intention to infringe proprietary rights, nor should it be construed as an endorsement or recommendation on the part of the IAEA.

CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION				
	1.1.	Background			
	1.2.				
	1.3.	Structure	3		
2.	ME	MBRANE TECHNOLOGY	3		
	2.1.	General overview of membrane separation technology			
	2.2.	Radioactive waste treatment applications	5		
		2.2.1. Pressure driven membrane processes	5		
		2.2.2. Other membrane processes	8		
		2.2.3. Objectives of application	8		
		2.2.4. Economics	9		
		2.2.5. System design	9		
3.	PRE	ESSURE DRIVEN MEMBRANE PROCESSES	11		
	3.1.	General			
	3.2.	Cross-flow versus dead end filtration			
	3.3.	Reverse osmosis	14		
		3.3.1. Reverse osmosis process	14		
		3.3.2. Applicability of reverse osmosis to LRWs	16		
	3.4.	Ultrafiltration	16		
		3.4.1. Ultrafiltration process	16		
		3.4.2. Applicability of ultrafiltration to LRWs	17		
	3.5.	Microfiltration	17		
		3.5.1. Microfiltration process	17		
		3.5.2. Applicability of microfiltration to LRWs	18		
	3.6.	Nanofiltration	18		
		3.6.1. Nanofiltration process	18		
		3.6.2. Applicability of nanofiltration to LRWs	19		
4.	ME	MBRANE TYPES AND CONFIGURATIONS	19		
	4.1.	Polymeric membranes	19		
		4.1.1. Physical structure	19		
		4.1.2. Geometric shape	21		

		4.1.3. Temperature limits	23		
		4.1.4. Separation ability	23		
		4.1.5. Radiation stability	23		
		4.1.6. Resistance to chemical attack	23		
		4.1.7. Biodegradability	25		
		4.1.8. Useful life	25		
	4.2.	Inorganic membranes	25		
	4.3.	Configuration of membrane elements	27		
		4.3.1. Tubular membrane elements	29		
		4.3.2. Spirally wound membrane elements	31		
		4.3.3. Hollow fibre membrane elements	32		
		4.3.4. Flat membrane devices	34		
	4.4.	Membrane equipment and systems	35		
		4.4.1. Transportable skid mounted plants	36		
		4.4.2. Fixed stationary plants	36		
		4.4.3. Mobile systems	39		
5.	OPERATING PARAMETERS				
	5.1.	Flux	41		
		5.1.1. Normalized flux	43		
		5.1.2. Critical flux	43		
	5.2.	Recovery factor	43		
	5.3.	Rejection factor	44		
	5.4.	Transmission or salt passage	46		
	5.5.	Decontamination factor	46		
	5.6.	Concentration factor	47		
6.	DES	SIGN AND OPERATIONAL ASPECTS	47		
	6.1.	General	47		
	6.2.	Preliminary design	48		
		6.2.1. Initial design considerations	48		
		6.2.2. Feedwater characterization	49		
		6.2.3. Pre-design verification and testing	50		
	6.3.	Membrane system design	52		
		6.3.1. Selection of membrane type	52		
		6.3.2. Membrane process configuration	52		
	6.4.	Feedwater pretreatment requirements	57		
	6.5.	Final system design	58		
		6.5.1. Equipment redundancy	58		
		· · ·			

		6.5.2. Proces	s control	58
		6.5.3. Radiol	logical considerations in system layouts	59
		6.5.4. Second	dary liquid wastes	59
		6.5.5. Second	dary solid wastes	60
	6.6.	Operational a	spects	60
		6.6.1. Scale c	control	60
		6.6.2. Chlori	ne content control	61
		6.6.3. Contro	ol of acidity/alkalinity	61
		6.6.4. Preven	ntion of fouling	61
		6.6.5. Cleani	ng of membranes	62
7.	ME	MBRANE PER	RFORMANCE AND MAINTENANCE	62
	7.1.	Membrane co	ompaction	62
	7.2.	Concentration	n polarization	63
	7.3.	Membrane for	uling	65
	7.4.	Symptoms of	membrane fouling	67
	7.5.	Cleaning and	restoration of membranes	69
	7.6.	Preventive me	easures	72
		7.6.1. Gener	al	72
		7.6.2. Preven	ntion of colloidal fouling	73
			ntion of organic fouling	73
			ntion of biological fouling	74
	7.7.	-	f membrane performance	74
			ical/physical monitoring prameters	75
		7.7.2. Perfor	mance monitoring methods	75
8.	TRE	ATMENT OF	RADIOACTIVE LIQUIDS	77
	8.1.	General		77
	8.2.	Waste sources	s, types and characteristics	77
			ar power reactors	77
		8.2.2. Institu	tional activities	78
			sources	78
	8.3.		chnology in the nuclear industry	79
			se osmosis	80
			se osmosis with conventional pretreatment	82
			se osmosis with ultrafiltration pretreatment	
			iltration + reverse osmosis)	88
			se osmosis with microfiltration pretreatment	
		(micro	filtration + reverse osmosis)	90

8.3.5. Ultrafiltration	94
8.3.6. Microfiltration	95
9. CONCLUSIONS	96
APPENDIX I: EXAMPLES OF MEMBRANE TECHNOLOGY	
INSTALLATIONS WITH OPERATING	
RESULTS AND LESSONS LEARNED	99
APPENDIX II: OTHER MEMBRANE SEPARATION	
METHODS	116
REFERENCES	133
CONTRIBUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW	145

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. BACKGROUND

The nuclear industry generates a broad spectrum of low and intermediate level liquid radioactive wastes (LRWs). These liquid wastes may be produced continuously or in batches and may vary considerably in volume, radioactivity and chemical composition. A wide range of treatment methods has been used throughout the industry to treat these wastes.

Treatment methods for LRWs have usually utilized the same conventional processes found in industrial and municipal water treatment. These processes typically include chemical treatment, adsorption, filtration, ion exchange and evaporation. They are limited by either their inability to remove all contaminants or, in the case of evaporation, the high operating costs involved and the large quantities of secondary solid waste produced, making satisfactory processing of LRWs difficult.

In recent decades various membrane separation processes have been developed and utilized in the field of potable water purification and more recently in the treatment of various process and waste liquors. Some of the membrane processes are capable of removing both dissolved and particulate contaminants. The best known and most utilized processes in the field of water and wastewater treatment are those utilizing pressure gradient as the process driving force. These processes include reverse osmosis, nanofiltration, ultrafiltration and microfiltration.

It has been demonstrated that pressure driven membrane separation processes can be successfully employed for the removal of radioactive substances, with some distinct advantages over the more conventional processes. After development of suitable membrane materials and their long term verification in conventional water purification fields, these membrane processes have been adopted by the nuclear industry as a viable alternative for the treatment of LRWs. In most cases the membrane processes are used as one or more of the treatment steps in complex waste treatment schemes combining conventional and membrane treatment technologies. These combined systems have proved to offer superior treatment capabilities, particularly in cases where conventional methods alone could not perform the task as efficiently or effectively.

Other membrane separation methods are in use or in various stages of development. These methods utilize electrical potential, concentration or temperature gradient as their driving force instead of pressure gradient. While some of these have been successfully tested and utilized in various industries, they have generally not proved to be technologies of choice for processing LRWs. However, some of these new membrane methods are being rapidly developed and could become technically significant in the future.

Pressure driven membrane separation processes may be considered either as alternatives to existing radioactive waste processing techniques or to complement existing radioactive treatment systems. In practice, most modern radioactive waste processing systems use a combination of membrane separation and conventional steps. In some systems the membrane separation process is the main treatment step, while in others it supports conventional technologies, increasing their effectiveness. Such combined systems are capable of producing high quality treated effluents, bearing an acceptable level of residual radioactivity, for discharge. In addition, the volumes of secondary radioactive waste residues are minimized and can be suitably conditioned to meet the waste form criteria for disposal.

1.2. OBJECTIVE AND SCOPE

The objective of this report is to provide Member States and their technical and regulatory bodies with meaningful information on membrane separation techniques and their applicability to the processing of liquid radioactive process streams and wastes. It is intended to provide an understanding of the unique features of membrane separation methods and their application for contaminant removal. The report also covers the operational sensitivities and limitations of membrane systems. Special emphasis is placed on factors that need to be carefully assessed when considering membrane technology for the processing of LRWs. These include equipment design, membrane configuration and arrangement, process application, operational experience, data for key performance monitoring, plant and organizational impacts.

This report covers the processing of aqueous low and intermediate level radioactive wastes by pressure driven membrane processes. The membrane processes covered in detail are reverse osmosis, nanofiltration, ultrafiltration and microfiltration. Other membrane separation methods, such as those using driving forces other than pressure, are not in the scope of this report but information on them is provided in Section 2 and Appendix II.

1.3. STRUCTURE

This report is structured to provide a general overview of pressure driven membrane separation processes and a summary of their application to the nuclear industry. An overview of membrane separation processes in general is presented in Section 2. Sections 3–5 provide theoretical and technical information on pressure driven processes. Design and performance requirements and operational considerations for these processes are provided in Sections 6 and 7. Examples of actual applications of membrane technology in the nuclear industry are given in Section 8. Section 9 provides concluding remarks on the requirements for implementation of membrane technology techniques in LRW processing. Appendix I contains case studies of membrane technologies successfully applied to the treatment of LRWs. Other membrane separation methods that have not been utilized for treatment of radioactive wastes are highlighted in Appendix II.

2. MEMBRANE TECHNOLOGY

A wide variety of membrane separation processes exist. These differ from one another in the type and configuration of the membrane, the mechanism of trans-membrane transport for various water solution components, the nature of the process driving force and other features. While some processes are well proven in full scale industrial applications, others are experimental, in development, or are in transition from the development stage to industrial use. The proven processes have been used for purification, desalination, ion separation, material recovery, or concentration process functions in industries such as water purification, wastewater treatment, pharmaceutical, medical, microelectronics, chemical processing, food processing, etc.

2.1. GENERAL OVERVIEW OF MEMBRANE SEPARATION TECHNOLOGY

Membrane separation processes may be classified and categorized by a number of criteria. An exhaustive variety of membrane classifications can be found in Refs [1, 2]. A basic distinction between the individual methods is the process driving force used to purify or concentrate a solution, which may be a pressure gradient, concentration gradient, electrical potential gradient or temperature gradient. In some instances, and specifically in some processes under development, more than one driving force may be used. Membrane processes can be classified as follows with respect to the process driving force:

Pressure gradient (P) as the process driving force:

- Reverse osmosis;
- Nanofiltration;
- Ultrafiltration;
- Microfiltration.

Electrical potential gradient (E) as the process driving force:

- Electrodialysis;
- Electrodialysis with application of liquid organic membranes;
- Membrane electrolysis;
- Electrosorption;
- Electrofiltration;
- Electrochemical ion exchange.

Concentration gradient (C) as the process driving force:

- Dialysis;
- Membrane extraction;
- Supported liquid membrane (SLM);
- Emulsion liquid membrane (ELM);
- Non-dispersive solvent extraction with hollow fibre contactors;
- Pervaporation.

Temperature gradient (T) as the process driving force:

- Membrane distillation;
- Thermo-osmosis.

Processes with combined driving forces:

- Electro-osmofiltration (P + E);
- Electro-osmotic concentration (E + C);
- Gas separation (P + C);
- Piezodialysis (P + C).

A simplified overview of the common membrane separation methods arranged by the main process driving force and the respective application range is shown in Fig. 1 [3]. Table 1 provides further information on these processes, such as membrane type, method of separation and range of applications [4].

2.2. RADIOACTIVE WASTE TREATMENT APPLICATIONS

2.2.1. Pressure driven membrane processes

The pressure driven separation processes such as reverse osmosis, nanofiltration, ultrafiltration and microfiltration have been preferred by the nuclear industry over other membrane processes for the following reasons:

- (a) They are well proven in industrial water and wastewater treatment applications.
- (b) They are mature technologies with over 30 years of design and operating experience.
- (c) A large number of successful applications have already been used successfully in the nuclear industry.
- (d) The process design is well understood and computer simulation codes are available.
- (e) Flexibility in process configurations can optimize performance.
- (f) They are suitable for system integration with conventional treatment steps.
- (g) A broad spectrum of membrane materials and types is available for pressure driven processes and these membranes can match the characteristics of the contaminants to be removed.
- (h) They are suitable to meet broad process objectives and needs. Pressure driven membrane systems cover the entire removal spectrum from large particles to ionic species (see Fig. 1).

It is envisaged that pressure driven membrane processes will remain the leading membrane processes for full scale utilization in the nuclear industry, especially where larger volumes of radioactive wastes with variable characteristics are involved. Consequently, pressure driven processes are covered in detail in this report.



FIG. 1. Typical membrane separation methods.

TABLE 1. TYPICAL MEMBRANE SEPARATION PROCESSES:OPERATING PRINCIPLES AND APPLICATIONS

Separation process	Membrane type	Separation method	Range of application
Microfiltration	Symmetric microporous membrane	Sieving mechanism as a function of pore size and adsorption	Sterile filtration clarification
Ultrafiltration	Asymmetric microporous membrane	Sieving mechanism	Separation of macromolecular solutions
Nanofiltration	Asymmetric 'skin type' membrane	Solution diffusion mechanism	Separation of divalent ions from solutions
Reverse osmosis	Asymmetric 'skin type' membrane	Solution diffusion mechanism	Separation of salt and microsolutes from solutions
Dialysis	Symmetric microporous	Diffusion	Separation of salt and microsolutes from macromolecular solutions
Electrodialysis	Cation and anion exchange membranes	Selective transport of ions or molecules according to electric charge	Desalting of ionic solutions
Supported liquid membrane	Microporous membranes supporting adsorbed organic liquid	Solution diffusion via carrier	Separation and concentration of metal ions and biological species
Membrane distillation	Microporous membranes	Vapour transport into hydrophobic membrane	Ultrapure water concentration of solutions
Pervaporation	Asymmetric membrane	Solution diffusion mechanism	Separation of organics

2.2.2. Other membrane processes

Other membrane separation processes, such as those utilizing electrical potential, concentration and temperature gradient, or combinations of these, are numerous. Some of these processes have been tested in various countries for removal of radionuclides or treatment of nuclear power plant wastes, but to date have not seen widespread use in the nuclear industry, with some minor exceptions. For example, electrodialysis has been used in the Russian Federation for the treatment of LRWs but has not been used widely in other countries. A potential problem associated with electrodialysis is the formation of explosive and toxic gases which may deter the application of this technology for the treatment of radioactive waste. It is envisaged that some separation methods will undergo further development in the future and be considered for the treatment of LRWs. Information on membrane separation methods other than pressure driven ones is provided in Appendix II. This information includes references on their application for the treatment of LRWs, where applicable.

2.2.3. Objectives of application

The objectives and goals of the installation of membrane technology in a nuclear power plant or any other facility producing LRW are specific to each case. In most cases a number of objectives and goals together warrant incorporation of membrane separation technology. The following are examples of typical waste treatment objectives that may entail installation of membrane technology, depending on local conditions and the specific needs of the facility:

- (a) Replacement or upgrade of an existing system which is not performing to satisfaction and/or is operating with ageing components;
- (b) Volume reduction of bulk quantities of liquid waste to facilitate further processing by more conventional treatment techniques (such as evaporation);
- (c) Reduction of the volume of radioactive wastes to be disposed of, typically to extend the life of on-site storage facilities or to lower waste disposal costs;
- (d) Meeting 'zero liquid' discharge requirements on nuclear power plants (i.e. all water generated within the plant must be returned for recycling);
- (e) Attainment of high product water purity levels to meet criteria for environmental discharges;
- (f) Reduction of radiation exposures to operators and maintenance personnel;

- (g) Attainment of the capability to process liquid waste that has varying concentrations of impurities while meeting product quality requirements;
- (h) Removal or reduction in the concentration of selected substances (particulate or dissolved, organic or mineral, radioactive or non-radioactive);
- (i) Reduction of operating costs;
- (j) Reduction of labour requirements;
- (k) Overall waste treatment economics.

2.2.4. Economics

One reason to consider separation technology in addition to, or as a replacement for, conventional processes is to reduce waste treatment costs. This depends to a great degree on local operating and licensing conditions for the particular facility. Some membrane processes, such as ultrafiltration and nanofiltration, can perform treatment functions that conventional techniques cannot, and therefore costs cannot be compared. However, the overall membrane treatment plan can be compared, for example, to an existing evaporation process in terms of decontamination efficiency, and the total treatment costs may then be compared.

The relative costs of all separation processes are an important criterion in the selection of a treatment process. For example, Fig. 2 shows the relative costs of some desalination technologies as a function of salt concentration in the feedwater [5]. This indicates that membrane technologies such as reverse osmosis or electrodialysis are generally not used at very low ionic strengths (where ion exchange is less expensive) or very high salt concentrations (where distillation (evaporation) is less expensive), but are usually cost effective for the range of feedwaters between these extremes.

2.2.5. System design

For treatment of LRWs, especially in nuclear power plants, membrane processes are most often installed to complement or enhance the performance of existing treatment systems. In these situations consideration needs to be given to the existing system and its capabilities, such as waste feed collection and storage, waste stream segregation provisions, availability of filtration and ion exchange equipment, and provisions for the treatment of secondary liquid waste streams. The size and/or choice of membrane system may be dictated by the available floor space and the control systems may need to be integrated with existing systems. The product water from the membrane system may require ion exchange polishing, utilizing existing equipment to meet the discharge or recycle quality requirements. The concentrate from the membrane process may be further reduced in volume by an existing evaporator, or conditioned directly utilizing existing immobilization systems.

Application of any specific membrane process must be considered in the context of the overall processing goals, which will include consideration of waste feed characteristics, desired product quality, process limitations, overall system flexibility, the final waste form desired, compatibility with existing treatment systems, and cost. Membrane systems are rarely acquired 'off the shelf' but must be designed and then built only after extensive on-site testing for each specific application. Aspects to be considered in the overall system design are addressed in Section 6, and examples of membrane technology applications for the treatment of a variety of LRWs are given in Section 8.



FIG. 2. Water desalination costs as a function of salt concentration.

3. PRESSURE DRIVEN MEMBRANE PROCESSES

3.1. GENERAL

Pressure driven membrane separation processes differ mainly in the pore size of their membranes, which makes a particular membrane effective for the removal of a specific range of impurities. Reverse osmosis is used to remove all ionic species and thus has the smallest membrane pore size. Nanofiltration is sometimes referred to as 'loose reverse osmosis' as it can remove divalent ions and low molecular weight contaminants while allowing monovalent ions to pass through. Ultrafiltration is used for removal of macromolecules such as proteins and small colloids, but not ionic species. Microfiltration is used to remove particulates, bacteria, and other larger colloids only. Semi-permeable membrane pore size ranges, with the categories of impurity for which the respective processes are effective, are shown in Fig. 3 [6].

The smaller the solutes or particulates to be separated, the smaller the pore size of the membrane and the greater the process pressures required. This has implications for both operating and capital costs. The process efficiency and



FIG. 3. Semi-permeable membrane pore size ranges, with categories of impurities for which they are effective.



FIG. 4. Pressure driven membrane processes.

membrane performance, however, often depend on the operating conditions and their susceptibility to fouling, which may reduce the effective size of the pores. Nominal pore sizes provided by the manufacturer are only a rough guide and may lose their significance when membrane fouling occurs under operating conditions. Figure 4 illustrates the relationship between pore size and typical operating pressures for pressure driven membrane processes [3].

In pressure driven membrane systems the pressure of the feed solution permits passage of the major portion of the solution through a semi-permeable membrane. The portion of the feed solution that passes through the membrane is called permeate, product or filtrate. The portion of the feed solution that does not pass through the membrane is called concentrate, retentate or reject. A simple schematic representation of a membrane process is shown in Fig. 5.

3.2. CROSS-FLOW VERSUS DEAD END FILTRATION

Pressure driven membrane processes may be viewed as sophisticated filtration methods capable of separating fine particles, molecules and ions in



FIG. 5. Schematic representation of a membrane module.

solution. Pressure driven membrane processes can be operated in cross-flow mode or in dead end (conventional) mode. A schematic comparison of cross-flow and conventional filtration is shown in Fig. 6 [7].

In conventional filtration, feed flow is perpendicular to the membrane or filter surface. There is only one product stream, the filtrate. All of the feed solution passes through the filter and is recovered. In conventional flow configurations, the flow dead ends against the filter surface. Accumulating particles on the filter surface may cause significant pressure drop as the filter surface becomes plugged or fouled. This accumulation must be removed periodically, either by back-flushing gas or liquid through the filter (membrane) or by other means.

In most membrane separation process applications, pump pressure is utilized to drive the feed solution along the membrane surface in a cross-flow filtration mode rather than perpendicular to the membrane surface. Cross-flow filtration reduces material buildup on the membrane by sweeping the material away from the surface. However, there are limits to the type of membrane fouling that the cross-flow velocity can inhibit.



FIG. 6. (a) Cross-flow filtration versus (b) conventional (dead end) filtration.

3.3. REVERSE OSMOSIS

3.3.1. Reverse osmosis process

3.3.1.1. Direct osmosis

Osmosis is the spontaneous transport (diffusion) of solvent that takes place when two solutions of different concentrations are separated by a semipermeable membrane that allows the solvent (but not dissolved species) to pass through it. The solvent, usually water, flows through the membrane from the less concentrated into the more concentrated solution (Fig. 7). The flow continues until the solutions on both sides of the membrane are at the same concentration or until the pressure exerted by the difference in height between the two solutions is sufficient to stop the flow. The pressure required to just



FIG. 7. Conditions of direct osmosis and reverse osmosis.

stop the flow is termed osmotic pressure, at which point the two solutions are in equilibrium. As the concentration difference between the solutions on the two sides of the membrane increases, the osmotic pressure increases.

3.3.1.2. Reverse osmosis

The osmosis process can be reversed. Pressure applied to the more concentrated solution will permit the solvent to flow through the semipermeable membrane into the less concentrated solution (Fig. 7) [8]. The term reverse osmosis is reserved for separation of dissolved ions and small molecules that contaminate aqueous solutions. The pressure exerted to force the flow of water into the less concentrated solution must exceed the osmotic pressure of the feed solution.

The pressure imposed upon a feedwater in a reverse osmosis operation has two components — that required to overcome the osmotic pressure of the solution to liberate pure water and that required to overcome resistance to flow posed by the membrane. There is a straight line relationship between the driving pressure and the rate of water permeation through the semi-permeable membrane.

In reverse osmosis, pressure greater than the osmotic pressure (2–10 MPa) is applied to the concentrated solution to cause the solvent to flow from the concentrated side of a semipermeable membrane to the diluted side. In most applications of reverse osmosis, when the dissolved solid concentration reaches about 5–10 wt%, the osmotic pressure becomes too high to sustain the process. Reverse osmosis typically removes 95–99.5% of total dissolved inorganic solids and 95–97% of dissolved organic solids. Some basic patents covering reverse osmosis processes are described in Refs [9–13].

Reverse osmosis is used industrially for the production of drinking water from saline or brackish waters and is increasingly being used for the treatment of wastewaters. In general, reverse osmosis systems compete with other separation processes (such as evaporation) that are used for the total rejection of contaminants in feedwater.

3.3.2. Applicability of reverse osmosis to LRWs

Reverse osmosis is a well developed technology. Systems have been used in industrial settings for many years, being applied to separation, concentration of product streams and wastewater treatment. The technology has been used for removal of radionuclides from low level liquid wastes such as waste streams at nuclear power plants. Because reverse osmosis rejects nearly all contaminants from a solution (dissolved gases and tritium being two exceptions), the high purity product water may be recycled within the power plant. The purified water is usually of such low activity (sometimes after ion exchange polishing) that it is suitable for discharge to the environment (see Section 8 and Appendix I for examples of applications). In recent years reverse osmosis systems have been used to replace or augment existing evaporation and/or ion exchange technology. Reverse osmosis systems in the nuclear industry are usually a part of an overall liquid waste treatment system.

3.4. ULTRAFILTRATION

3.4.1. Ultrafiltration process

The ultrafiltration membrane is considerably more porous (i.e. its nominal pore size is larger) than the reverse osmosis membrane. As a result, most soluble species, including inorganic salts, pass through the membrane with the water. Colloids, suspended solids and high molecular weight organic molecules do not pass through the membrane with the water. They are rejected and remain in the concentrate (retentate) stream. The porous nature of the ultrafiltration membrane allows the process to be operated with high fluxes at relatively low pressures (e.g. 0.2–1.4 MPa). This is possible because the osmotic pressure of colloids and high molecular weight organics is extremely low. The degree and quantity of the separation are a result of the pore size of the membrane and the molecular structure, size, shape and flexibility of the colloids and organic molecules. Pore sizes ranging from 0.001–0.01 µm allow separation from solution of molecules with a molecular weight between 500 and 300 000.

Ultrafiltration units are usually operated on the cross-flow principle. Some basic patents covering ultrafiltration processes are provided in Refs [14–16]. Ultrafiltration is used industrially for the removal of macromolecules and colloids from wastewater and has been used extensively in the food and dairy industries.

3.4.2. Applicability of ultrafiltration to LRWs

In some applications the primary function of ultrafiltration systems is to remove colloids and other particulate foulants from feed streams that are to be further treated by reverse osmosis systems. Ultrafiltration is often used for the removal of alpha activity from waste streams. Actinide wastes are often in colloidal or pseudo-colloidal form in a radioactive waste stream and can be effectively removed by ultrafiltration. Ultrafiltration can also be used to selectively remove dissolved metal ions from dilute aqueous solutions if these ions are pretreated to form solid particles, hydroxo complexes or other less soluble chemical species. An example of this is the addition of a high molecular weight chelating agent to the incoming waste solution to form macromolecular complexes. The solution is then processed through an ultrafiltration membrane system that rejects the macromolecular complexes (retentate) but allows uncomplexed ions such as sodium, potassium, calcium, chloride, sulphate and nitrate to pass through as filtered water (permeate).

Ultrafiltration is used in the treatment of fuel pond storage waters, solvent wash liquors and plutonium evaporator overheads from reprocessing lines, and of aqueous effluents from plutonium fuel fabrication plants. The use of complexing agents in combination with ultrafiltration has been seen as having the potential to yield high decontamination factors (DFs) for specific ions [17]. Inorganic ultrafilters based on zirconium/carbon and other matrices have shown potential in radioactive waste treatment [18]. Published information [19–21] indicates that DFs in the region of 1000 for α and 100 for β and γ species can be achieved, with an overall volume reduction of the order of 10^4 .

3.5. MICROFILTRATION

3.5.1. Microfiltration process

Microfiltration is a membrane separation process with membrane pore sizes between 0.05 and 5 μ m, operating at pressures up to 0.1 MPa. The membrane rejects particles and dissolved macromolecules larger than 0.1 μ m. Microfiltration membranes have a relatively large average pore size and consequently can retain only relatively large impurities (i.e. suspended fine particles, but not colloidal matter), but operate at high flux rates. Some basic patents

covering microfiltration processes are given in Refs [22–26]. Microfiltration is used industrially for the removal of particulate material and has been used extensively in drinking water treatment and for the treatment of domestic sewage.

3.5.2. Applicability of microfiltration to LRWs

Microfiltration is used for particle separation in wastewaters generated by LWR power plants and often provides a concentration factor (CF) of 100. The process can be used in conjunction with precipitation processes, provided the precipitated particles are suitably coarse. Organic as well as inorganic microfiltration membranes can be used, depending on the characteristics of the feedwater. Ceramic microfilters have been used in the nuclear industry for high activity wastewaters because of that material's radiation stability.

3.6. NANOFILTRATION

3.6.1. Nanofiltration process

Nanofiltration is a membrane separation process which uses thin porous membranes with pore sizes between 0.001 and 0.01 μ m. Nanofiltration processes typically operate at pressures from 0.3 to 1.4 MPa. These membranes also reject organic compounds with a molecular weight of 200–500 or above [27, 28]. Nanofiltration thus represents a process that functions between ultra-filtration and reverse osmosis, and is often termed 'loose reverse osmosis'. The range of pore sizes makes this process unique since single-charged ions pass freely through the pores but multi-charged ions, which have larger dimensions, are retained. Nanofiltration membranes are also called demineralizing (or water softening) membranes [29].

Nanofiltration membranes are often negatively charged, so it is primarily the anion repulsion that determines salt rejection. These membranes can provide selective separations, including separation of salts with charge differences and separation of high molecular weight organics from high concentration monovalent salt solutions. In addition, these membranes can provide high fluxes at low pressures, as compared with conventional reverse osmosis membranes. These characteristics have been exploited for several wastewater treatment applications. Nanofiltration has been used industrially in water softening applications, removal of dissolved organic substances and fractionation of low and high molecular weight organic substances [30].

3.6.2. Applicability of nanofiltration to LRWs

In the nuclear industry, the major use of nanofiltration membranes has been in boric acid wastewater treatment. These have been used to reject radioactivity while allowing boric acid to pass through with the permeate, thus allowing the permeate to be recycled or discharged. Nanofiltration may also be used in fuel fabrication facilities to remove dissolved uranium ions from wash solutions, permitting their discharge with no further treatment.

4. MEMBRANE TYPES AND CONFIGURATIONS

Membrane separation processes are governed by both the chemical nature of the membrane materials and the physical structure of the membranes. The desired separation attainable with a particular membrane depends on the relative permeability of the membrane for the treated feed solution components. The most important characteristics of membranes are pore size distribution, porosity, surface chemistry, chemical and physical compatibility with process liquors, and cost.

For this report, the membranes of interest are those that have found widespread utilization in the nuclear industry. These are thin porous semipermeable membranes constructed from polymeric materials, and membranes made of inorganic materials such as special ceramics, all suitable for use in pressure driven separation processes.

4.1. POLYMERIC MEMBRANES

4.1.1. Physical structure

Membranes can be categorized by their physical structure as homogeneous (symmetric), non-homogeneous (asymmetric) and composite. Homogeneous or symmetric membranes are made of one material with an identical structure throughout the thickness of the membrane. To ensure sufficient mechanical strength, the membrane has to be of suitable thickness to withstand hydraulic pressures. This characteristic is disadvantageous in operation as it creates a higher hydraulic resistance to flow. For this reason these membranes are usually only used for microfiltration.



FIG. 8. Structure of an anisotropic membrane: (1) selective thin porous (active) layer with a thickness of 0.1–1 μ m; (2) thick porous sub-layer with a thickness of 0.1–1 μ m.

Historically, the conflicting requirements to have a membrane with low hydraulic resistance but containing pores small enough to effectively reject impurities were successfully reconciled at the end of the 1950s by Sourirajan and Loeb [31], who developed a two layer anisotropic thin porous semipermeable membrane, shown in Fig. 8. These non-homogeneous or asymmetric single layer membranes are composed of a very thin active layer which is connected to a thicker porous supporting layer made of the same material.

The selectivity of the separation process, i.e. a measure of the passage of a given component through the membrane, is controlled by the properties of the active layer. The porous supporting layer only serves to improve the mechanical properties of the membrane. The finely porous active skin layer grades to a macroporous structure underneath. These membranes are used in the separation range from microfiltration to reverse osmosis.

Thin film composite (TFC) membranes consist of an active surface layer, a support layer and various intermediate layers. The intermediate layers usually consist of three layers, a support web, a microporous interlayer and an ultra-thin barrier layer on the top surface. Structural support is provided by the web, onto which the microporous interlayer is cast. The top barrier layer can withstand high pressures because of the support provided by the interlayer. All three layers are normally made of different materials. For example, a polyamide barrier layer may be supported by a polysulphone microporous support cast onto a polyester web [32], as shown in Fig. 9. These membranes are typically manufactured for nanofiltration and reverse osmosis applications.

Since the initial development of the first asymmetric cellulose acetate membrane, significant progress has been made in the field of non-cellulosic membrane materials that are more durable, less susceptible to biodegradation, and perform well within broad pH and temperature ranges. The materials most commonly used for the production of membranes are:



FIG. 9. Schematic cross-section of a TFC reverse osmosis membrane.

- Cellulose acetate;
- Polypropylene;
- Polysulphone;
- Polyvinyldenefluoride (pvdf);
- Polyamide/polysulphone TFCs.

While cellulose acetate was initially used to form asymmetric membranes, the development of TFC membranes represents the latest technological development. New membrane materials and production technologies are continually being investigated.

4.1.2. Geometric shape

Polymeric membranes are usually produced as flat films or hollow fibres. They can also be produced by coating the polymer onto supporting surfaces, such as those surfaces that have a tubular geometry. For commercial utilization, membranes are formed in elements that can be easily handled, installed and operated.

Flat membranes are most often arranged in a spirally wound configuration to fit within cylindrical piping, but they also may be produced as sheets to fit into specialized equipment shells (plate and frame). Hollow fibre membranes are typically arranged in cylindrical elements, formed into a 'tube



FIG. 10. AMICON hollow fibre ultrafiltration membrane with the active layer on the inside surface.

sheet' configuration. An active layer of hollow fibre membranes, having a nominal fibre diameter of tens of microns, can be on either the outside or the inside wall of the hollow fibre, as shown in Fig. 10 [2]. For tube diameters reaching several centimetres, the active layer of tubular membranes is usually placed on the inside of the tube. The membrane element shells are pressure vessels that form a pressure boundary for the treated feed solution under operating conditions.

4.1.3. Temperature limits

Cellulose acetate membranes operate satisfactorily in the $5-50^{\circ}$ C temperature range. Above 50° C, cellulose acetate begins to hydrolyse, losing its ability to reject ionic species. Aromatic polyamide membranes have a similar operating temperature range of $5-46^{\circ}$ C. Thin film composites can operate in a temperature range of $0-79^{\circ}$ C with no degradation [33]. However, these are only typical temperature ranges which vary with the specific membrane material. Membrane suppliers must be consulted for operating temperature data.

4.1.4. Separation ability

The separation abilities of a membrane are characterized by its 'cut-off', which indicates the size of particles which are blocked by the membrane and kept on its feed flow side. In the case of microfiltration membranes, the cut-off is expressed as the mean pore size (usually expressed in micrometres), and in ultrafiltration membranes as the relative molecular mass of substances that do not pass through the membrane. Nominal pore sizes provided by the manufacturer are only a rough guide as most membranes have a wide pore size distribution. The separation ability of nanofiltration and reverse osmosis membranes is usually expressed by a rejection coefficient, usually determined for a 0.5% NaCl solution.

4.1.5. Radiation stability

The properties of most polymeric membranes remain stable up to radiation doses of 10^5 Gy [34].

4.1.6. Resistance to chemical attack

4.1.6.1. Oxidizing agents

The active layers of the majority of polymeric membranes can quickly decompose in the presence of oxidizing agents such as chlorine-organic substances, ozone and hydrogen peroxide. These oxidizing agents are often used to suppress the growth of bacteria and microorganisms on membranes. Since polymeric membranes can be destroyed by low levels of strong oxidants it is important to neutralize or remove the oxidizing agents before the feedwater is introduced to the membrane. This can be achieved by adding reducing chemical agents (e.g. sodium bisulphate, $NaHSO_3$) to the feed solution, or removing the oxidants with activated carbon or by other means.

While aromatic polyamide membranes cannot tolerate chlorine at all, thin film composite membranes tolerate chlorine levels of up to 100 ppm [33]. Many membrane manufacturers will provide data on the exposure limits to free chlorine. For example, the membrane may be rated at 1000 h of exposure to 1 ppm free chlorine before degradation begins to take place. The rate of chlorine attack will also depend on other factors such as the concentration of other ions which may act as catalysts to reduce the free chlorine. Allowable chlorine concentrations for various membrane materials are shown in Table 2 [35].

4.1.6.2. pH range

Cellulose acetate membranes operate in a limited pH range of 2.7–7. Aromatic polyamide membranes can tolerate a pH range of 4–11. Thin film composites can tolerate a broader pH range of <1-13 [33]. Allowable pH ranges for some polymeric membranes are given in Table 2.

TABLE 2. ALLOWABLE CONCENTRATIONS OF CHLORINE AND pH OPERATING RANGES FOR TYPICAL REVERSE OSMOSIS MEMBRANES

Reverse osmosis membrane type	Allowable chlorine concentration (ppm)	Allowable pH range
Cellulose acetate based	03–1.0	4–6
Polyamide ^a	< 0.05	4–11
TFC not resistant ^b	0^{c}	3–11
TFC with minimal resistance ^d	0.05	3–11
TFC chlorine resistant ^e	1.0	3–11

^a Linear polyamide.

^b Polyamide or polyurethane.

^c Feed must be dechlorinated.

^d Aromatic polyamide.

^e Sulphonated polysulphone.

4.1.7. Biodegradability

The first generation of thin porous membranes manufactured from cellulose containing materials was degraded by biological activity. Biodegradation led to the membranes having increased porosity and surface damage that reduced the ability of the membranes to retain contaminants. The newer polymeric membranes available on the market today are less susceptible to biological attack. However, the membrane surfaces can still serve as breeding grounds for biological activity causing blockage (fouling) of the membrane pores, thus reducing the membrane's performance. Precautions that need to be taken to prevent biodegradation of the polymeric membranes are described in Section 7.

4.1.8. Useful life

Polymeric membranes used for conventional non-radioactive water purification may have lifetimes of over five years, depending on the application. Membrane lifetime in radioactive waste treatment applications may be similar, depending on the specific application, the radiation stability of the membranes and any synergistic effects of all the process variables. Manufacturers of polymeric membranes normally give the expected lifetime of their products as three years.

4.2. INORGANIC MEMBRANES

Inorganic membranes manufactured from materials such as ceramics, metal, graphite, and combinations of these have been produced or are under development in an attempt to alleviate some of the limiting features of polymeric membranes. They have gained popularity for applications in harsh operating environments where polymeric membranes would not perform well or would not survive at all. The available pore size range of inorganic membranes is still generally limited to microfiltration and ultrafiltration applications. They are usually manufactured in a tubular form.

Inorganic membranes exhibit greater mechanical durability in some operations than polymeric membranes. They do not suffer from the performance degradation that results from compaction of the membrane structure under pressure or ageing. The main disadvantage of inorganic membranes has been their considerable manufacturing cost compared to polymeric membranes. The most common materials used for inorganic membranes are:
- Zirconium oxide/carbon;
- Ceramic;
- Metallic oxides (alumina);
- Stainless steel.

Inorganic membranes can operate at elevated temperatures, with metal membranes remaining stable at temperatures as high as 500–800°C. Many ceramic membranes are usable at temperatures exceeding 1000°C. They are also much more resistant to chemical and radiation attack.

Ceramic membranes are being used increasingly in membrane separation applications. Their production technology has vastly improved with the introduction of ceramic 'nanostructural' materials. There are a number of methods of producing nanostructural materials and selective surface layers, all of them based on sol-gel processes. The most frequently used materials to produce nanostructural layers appear to be Al₂O₃, ZrO₂, CeO₂, TiO₂ [36]. Ceramic membranes usually have a coarse base (several millimetres thickness), a thin inter-layer (10–100 µm thickness) and a selective layer (1–5 µm thickness). The selective layer is the active layer with average pore sizes of up to 2.5 nm. This layer can be modified, for example, by impregnation of a polymeric material into its pores [37]. In this way it is possible to manufacture a highly durable reverse osmosis membrane on a firm base. For example, CARBOSEP ceramic membranes manufactured in France have a tubular macroporous carbon base coated by a thin selective ZrO₂ layer. These tubular membranes (Fig. 11) are available in two different geometries, single channel or 'trilobe', with a wide range of cut-off values (10-0.1 µm), particularly suitable for ultrafiltration



FIG. 11. CARBOSEP tubular inorganic membranes.

applications. CARBOSEP membranes are insensitive to solvents; highly resistant to radiation; have superior resistance to heat, chemical and mechanical constraints; and ageing. They can be sterilized with steam. Ceramic monolithic KERASEP tubular membranes (Fig. 12) are offered in several multi-channel geometries (7, 19 or 27 channels), with a range of cut-offs suitable for applications between nanofiltration and microfiltration. They also have excellent resistance to chemical constraints and ageing.

There are no data on the radiation resistance of inorganic membranes, but this is considerably higher than for polymeric membranes. This would permit processing of radioactive waste with higher levels of radioactivity, or greatly extending the useful lifetime of the membranes.

4.3. CONFIGURATION OF MEMBRANE ELEMENTS

To make practical use of polymeric membranes in treatment systems and satisfy throughput requirements, the membrane's surface area needs to be maximized in a configuration that is easily installed, maintained and occupies a minimum amount of space. These requirements have led membrane suppliers to develop membrane elements (modules) that meet these objectives in an optimal way for each type of membrane container: flat, tubular, spirally wound and hollow fibre. The advantages and disadvantages of the different membrane elements are listed in Table 3 [33].



FIG. 12. KERASEP high flux ceramic monolithic membranes.

The various membrane configurations have the following ranges of membrane surface working area per unit of membrane element volume [2, 8, 38]:

- Flat (60–300 m²/m³);
- Tubular (60–200 m²/m³);
- Spirally wound (300–800 m²/m³);
- Hollow fibre (20 000–30 000 m²/m³).

TABLE 3. ADVANTAGES AND DISADVANTAGES OF VARIOUSMEMBRANE ELEMENTS

Element type	Advantages	Disadvantages
Flat (plate and frame)	Moderate membrane surface/ volume ratio Well-developed equipment	Susceptible to plugging at flow stagnation points Potentially difficult to clean Expensive.
Tubular	Easiest type to clean chemically or mechanically if membranes become fouled Can process high suspended solid feed with minimal pretreatment Good hydrodynamic control Individual tubes can be replaced High pressure (1500 psig*) equipment available	Relative high volume required per unit membrane area Relatively expensive
Spirally wound	Compact Good membrane surface/ volume ratio Less expensive than tubular and hollow fibre elements	Susceptible to plugging by particulates Badly fouled membranes are difficult to clean — basically limited to chemical cleaning
Hollow fibre	Compact Excellent membrane surface/ volume ratio Economical	Susceptible to plugging by particulates Badly fouled membrane elements are hard to clean — limited to chemical methods

* 1500 psig = 1.034×10^7 Pa.

Element properties	Type of membrane element			
	Flat plate	Spirally wound	Tubular	Hollow fibre
Packing density (m ³)	Moderate (200–500)	High (500–1000)	Low-moderate (100-500)	High-very high (500-10 000)
Energy utilization	Low-moderate (laminar flow)	Moderate (depends on spacer design)	High (turbulent flow)	Low (laminar/dead end)
Cleaning	Moderate	Can be difficult (spacer blockage)	Good (physical cleaning of surface with spongy balls)	Good (back-flushing)
Replacement	Single sheet or cartridge	Entire element	Tubes or entire element	Entire element
Material	Polymeric, ceramic (small)	Polymeric	Ceramic/ polymeric/ sintered metal/ carbon	Polymeric, glass
Common applications	Microfiltration, ultrafiltration (small to medium scale)	Nanofiltration, reverse osmosis (large scale)	Microfiltration, ultrafiltration, reverse osmosis (small to medium scale)	Microfiltration (large scale)

TABLE4.GENERALCHARACTERISTICSOFVARIOUSMEMBRANE ELEMENTS

This and other general characteristics of various membrane types are summarized in Table 4 [3].

4.3.1. Tubular membrane elements

The tubular membrane element configuration has a simple design. The membrane is usually inserted into, or coated onto the inside surface of a porous tube. The tube is designed to withstand the necessary operating pressures. Figures 13 and 14, respectively, give a schematic and general view of the tubular membrane design. The liquid feed is introduced into one end of the tube, and as it flows through the tube permeate passes through the membrane in cross-flow. The permeate is collected in an outer shell of the element that encases the



FIG. 13. Schematic view of a tubular membrane design.



FIG. 14. General view of tubular membrane design.

An important advantage of the tubular arrangement is that the feed liquor can flow across the membrane surface at high velocities (up to 10 m/s), reducing the possibility of surface fouling. However, this in turn results in higher pumping costs. The membrane surface can easily be cleaned by periodically passing spongy balls whose diameter is slightly larger than the tube diameter through the tubes. The membranes are also easily cleaned by chemical cleaning solutions. Individual membrane tubes can be replaced easily in some designs, reducing the cost associated with replacement of the whole element. Tubular membranes have a high tolerance for suspended solids and are often chosen over other module designs for these applications. Ultrafiltration modules are often tubular in design.

The main disadvantage of tubular membrane systems is the low membrane packing density, which results in a large footprint for installations and a subsequent high cost in comparison with other membrane configurations. A disadvantage of processing radioactive solutions with tubular membranes is the high hold-up volume per unit of membrane area.

4.3.2. Spirally wound membrane elements

A spirally wound membrane element is simply a flat sheet assembly rolled into a central core. The elements contain two layers of spirally wound polymeric membrane with a porous woven fabric support sandwiched in between. The three sides of this assembly are sealed to form an envelope containing the porous support. The open fourth side is attached to a perforated central tube. A sheet of plastic mesh is placed on one side of the membrane envelope. The membrane envelope and the mesh are then wrapped around the perforated central tube in a spiral fashion. The mesh separates the membrane layers and also serves as a turbulence promoter.

The individual spirally wound membrane sections are inserted into a cylindrical pressure vessel to form a completed membrane element. A single element may contain several spirally wound sections connected in series. The feed solution is introduced into the first element at one end and flows along the inter-membrane gap created by the mesh. Product water permeates the membrane inside the membrane envelope in a cross-flow fashion and follows the flow channels in the fabric support that directs the permeate to the perforated central tube for collection. The remaining feed solution (now somewhat concentrated) enters the subsequent membrane section where the process is repeated. Schematic and general views of a spiral membrane element are given in Figs 15 and 16.

The main advantage of this design is the large surface area of the membrane that is packaged into a relatively small volume of the cylindrical membrane element. The volume of liquid hold-up is small, which is an advantage since radiation fields can be better controlled. A further advantage is that the membrane configuration allows easy chemical cleaning. However, the narrow flow channels are susceptible to fouling by turbid feed solutions.

The dead space between the spirally wound membrane section and its container makes this configuration susceptible to biological growth. Typically,



FIG. 15. Schematic view of a spirally wound membrane section.

fouling and biological growth are most likely at the leading edge of the last section of the element shell. The high hydraulic resistance of spirally wound membrane elements compared to other designs is also a disadvantage. Sometimes the element itself can break down if high pressure causes the element to come apart in a telescope-like fashion. Another disadvantage is that the entire element has to be replaced in the event of membrane damage or irreversible fouling. Spirally wound elements are of standard sizes, i.e. 5, 10, and 20 cm in diameter. As one of the least expensive and compact configurations they are commonly used in reverse osmosis applications and have been used extensively for desalination of seawater and brackish waters. They are rarely used without pretreatment of the feedwater to remove suspended solids.

4.3.3. Hollow fibre membrane elements

Hollow fibre elements contain membranes that have been produced from hollow hair-like fibres with outside diameters of 200 μ m or less. The fibres have a thin dense skin that inhibits permeation of contaminants but allows product water to pass through. A thick porous layer under the active skin provides support for the skin while allowing free passage of water to and from the fibre pores. The fibres are wrapped around a support frame and bundled together into either a U shape or a straight-through configuration in an element with a



FIG. 16. General view of a spirally wound membrane element.

straight-through fibre configuration. The feed is directed into the inside of the fibres. The permeate passes through the membrane to the outside of the fibres where it collects inside the element shell. The concentrate exits from the opposite end of the element. Figure 17 gives a general view of an element containing hollow fibre membranes.

Hollow fibre elements are quite compact due to a very high packing density and require minimal floor space. Product recovery is high, typically 50–60% of the feed flow. The hollow fibres can withstand high operating pressures which are contained within the fibres, so the element shells are simple to design and relatively inexpensive to fabricate. Hollow fibre configurations can also be operated as dead end filters with cleaning by back-flushing of the fibre elements. They can also be operated under vacuum conditions because of the



FIG. 17. General view of an element containing hollow fibre membranes.

strength of the individual fibres. Microfiltration hollow fibre systems have been used extensively in drinking water applications and in the polishing of treated sewage water because of the low cost per unit of membrane area.

4.3.4. Flat membrane devices

4.3.4.1. Flat polymeric membrane devices

The first semi-permeable membranes developed were geometrically flat and required a plate and frame press to operate. Figure 18 gives a general view of a typical design of flat (plate and frame) membrane equipment. The device consists of membrane support plates and spacers that are stacked alternately in



FIG. 18. *Filter press flat sheet membranes: (1) flanges, (2) tightening bolt, (3) strong plate, (4) membrane, (5) drainage plate, (6) separating plate.*

a sandwich-like array and held together by bolts. The membrane support plates provide a rigid backing for the membranes, but also provide flow channels that collect the permeate from the membrane and carry the permeate to an outlet tube. The spacer plates direct the feed solution uniformly over the membrane surfaces. The spacers and support plates may be made of metal or moulded plastics, with the rest of the assembly made of steel.

The plate and frame membrane assembly is simple to manufacture and easy to install and operate. The main disadvantage of this system is that it has a low membrane area/volume ratio, requiring much more floor space for the equipment. Another disadvantage is the method of membrane cleaning, which is labour intensive and requires disassembly of the stack. This is undesirable in radioactive liquid applications because of the potential radiation dose to operators and the possible spread of contamination.

4.3.4.2. Flat ceramic membrane devices

Flat ceramic membranes are mainly used in microfiltration and ultrafiltration equipment that operates by rotary tangential flows. There is little possibility of developing and manufacturing the same equipment with polymeric membranes because these would not be strong enough to withstand the gravitational forces created during rotation of the equipment.

4.4. MEMBRANE EQUIPMENT AND SYSTEMS

Membrane plants can be designed as skid mounted systems, stationary systems, or as mobile units that can be easily moved between applications. The

membrane plant itself will consist of membrane elements, associated pumps and tanks, control equipment, dosing equipment, and cleaning systems.

4.4.1. Transportable skid mounted plants

Skid mounted systems normally contain membrane modules, pumps, controls, chemical dosing equipment, a clean-in-place (CIP) system, and connections for feed and product water, all within a self-supporting framed structure. Typical skid mounted systems are pilot plants and some smaller throughput permanent systems.

Figure 19 shows a skid mounted pilot plant for treating low level radioactive effluent. This particular pilot plant consists of a tubular ultrafiltration system that is used to pre-treat the feed, and a two stage and two pass reverse osmosis system that uses spirally wound elements. The plant was designed to process radioactive feedwater at a rate of 20 L/min.

4.4.2. Fixed stationary plants

Stationary systems typically are permanent systems having a larger throughput, with individual components fixed in place separately and connected by permanent piping and wiring to the process control centre located at some distance from the operating membrane equipment. Pumps, process control equipment and miscellaneous service equipment such as dosing facilities and cleaning tanks are installed separately from the skid mounted membrane elements.

Figures 20 and 21 show a permanent stationary system containing B-9 DuPont hollow fibre reverse osmosis elements used for the production of ultrapure water in the microelectronics industry in Canada [39]. The system shown has a throughput of $60 \text{ m}^3/\text{h}$.

Figure 22 shows a fixed membrane system containing reverse osmosis elements only. This is an industrial sized unit, with a throughput of $240 \text{ m}^3/\text{h}$, treating contaminated groundwater in a nickel refinery [40].

Figure 23 shows a fixed membrane system containing ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis membrane systems. This is a large installation with a throughput of 670 m³/h, treating effluent from a municipal sewage treatment plant. The treated water is reused in a petroleum refinery [40].





FIG. 19. Two views of a skid mounted pilot plant containing tubular ultrafiltration and spirally wound reverse osmosis systems (courtesy of ANSTO).



FIG. 20. A stationary hollow fibre reverse osmosis plant with a throughput of $60 \text{ m}^3/h$.



FIG. 21. High-pressure multi-stage pumping station of the 60 m^3/h hollow fibre reverse osmosis plant.



FIG. 22. Fixed membrane reverse osmosis system with a throughput of $240 \text{ m}^3/h$.



FIG. 23. Fixed membrane ultrafiltration/reverse osmosis system with a throughput of $670 \text{ m}^3/h$.

4.4.3. Mobile systems

Figure 24 shows a mobile system, 'ECO-2', used to treat small batches of liquid waste at various sites in the Russian Federation. Various mobile plants in the ECO series have a similar process configuration, consisting of filtration, spirally wound ultrafiltration, ion exchange softening, electrodialysis and adsorption. This particular mobile plant, ECO-2 (Fig. 24), was put into service in 1993. More than 450 m³ of LRWs, originating as surface runoff from a solid



FIG. 24. The ECO-2 mobile system for LRW processing, containing ultrafiltration and electrodialysis equipment.

radioactive waste disposal site, were treated. In 1997, about 400 m³ of low level liquid wastes were processed by this mobile plant at the RADON facility in Volgograd [41].

The main shortcoming of the ECO series of mobile systems has been their lack of flexibility to allow for a quick change of process technology to meet the particular treatment requirements of different sites. Furthermore, experience showed that it was necessary to adjust the process components even when treating radioactive wastes from different sources at the same site. This experience confirmed that each radioactive waste treatment application requires a custom-made treatment system, and that it is difficult to design a fully versatile system that has the capability of processing different substances.

5. OPERATING PARAMETERS

This section describes and defines the basic operating parameters used in the design and operation of pressure driven membrane separation processes such as reverse osmosis, ultrafiltration, microfiltration and nanofiltration.

5.1. FLUX

The rate at which the product (permeate) passes through the membrane per unit area of membrane surface is defined as flux. It is generally reported in terms of volume of processed product for a given area of membrane over a period of time. Flux is reported in units of $L \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$, $m^{-3} \cdot m^{-2} \cdot d^{-1}$ or USgal/ft⁻²·d⁻¹. The ability to maintain a constant flux over an extended time period has an important bearing on the operating costs of a membrane system. The membrane is replaced when the output (permeate) falls to an unacceptable level and cleaning and regeneration procedures fail to restore the flux. Decreases in flux caused by surface fouling, internal pore fouling, concentration polarization and membrane compaction are discussed in Section 7.

Two of the key variables that affect the flux are temperature and pressure of the feed solution. Flux increases with higher temperature because fluid viscosity decreases. Consequently, water flux through microfiltration, ultrafiltration, nanofiltration and reverse osmosis membranes increases by about 3% per degree Celsius as water temperature increases. The thermal stability of the membrane limits the temperature to which the feed solution can be raised. For most organic based membranes this limit is approximately 45°C. Higher processing temperatures are possible with ceramic based microfiltration membranes.

In reverse osmosis and nanofiltration systems, as the pressure is increased, flux increases linearly and product quality increases. The osmotic pressure of the feed solution determines the flux/pressure relationship (Fig. 25) [3]. In ultrafiltration and microfiltration systems, the flux initially increases and then levels off and becomes independent of the pressure (Fig. 26) because of concentration polarization (discussed in Section 7) [3]. However, unlike reverse osmosis, the product quality of microfiltration and ultrafiltration systems decreases with increased pressure.



FIG. 25. The effect of pressure on reverse osmosis and nanofiltration.



Transmembrane pressure

FIG. 26. The effect of pressure on microfiltration and ultrafiltration.

The pH of the feed solution will also affect the flux. Membrane processes are characterized by solute–solute interactions and membrane–solute interactions, and these can often be sensitive to pH. In ultrafiltration for example, the colloid or macro-solute charge varies with pH and the membrane used may also be sensitive to pH. The interaction of the two will determine rejection and the potential for fouling.

5.1.1. Normalized flux

To distinguish between normal phenomena such as permeate decrease with decreasing temperature and real performance changes, the measured permeate flow has to be normed. This means comparison with a given reference performance. For example, the permeate flux might be normed to an operating feed temperature of 25°C and a pressure of 2.76 MPa (400 psig). The observed permeate flux (*OBF*) in MPa is normed using a temperature correction factor (*TCF*) supplied by the manufacturer [42, 43]. The feed pressure (*FP*) in MPa is adjusted based on the permeate back pressure (*PBP*) in MPa and the osmotic pressure (*OP*) of the feed solution in MPa. The normalized permeate flux (*NPF*) is:

$$NPF = \frac{2.76}{[FP - PBP - OP]} \cdot \frac{1}{TCF} \cdot \text{OBF}$$
(1)

5.1.2. Critical flux

The critical flux defines the permeate flux above which an irreversible deposit appears [44]. In cross-flow filtration the critical flux appears where the boundary layer is thickest, usually at the exit from the membrane channel [45]. Above the critical flux deposits will grow, eventually requiring mechanical or chemical cleaning. Thus, membrane processes may be distinguished by two distinct zones, one where no deposit appears and no cleaning is required and a zone where cleaning becomes necessary. Critical flux depends on the hydrodynamics and particle size charge on the membrane.

5.2. RECOVERY FACTOR

The recovery facture measures how much of the feed is recovered as permeate. It is reported as a percentage. Recovery is calculated using:

$$Recovery = \frac{Q_{permeate}}{Q_{feed}} \cdot 100$$
(2)

where Q_{permeate} is the permeate (or product) flow rate and Q_{feed} is the feed flow rate.

For dead end filtration systems the recovery factor is 100% because all of the solution passes through the filter into the filtrate.

Extremely high recoveries are possible in microfiltration systems, but for reverse osmosis, nanofiltration and ultrafiltration systems typical recoveries are in the range of 75–95%. However, 80% is often the practical limit because of severe reductions in operating efficiency.

A key point to consider for reverse osmosis applications is that as the recovery is increased, the osmotic pressure increases and the amount of energy required to overcome the osmotic pressure increases. The purity of the permeate is also reduced as the feed concentration increases (Fig. 27) [3].

5.3. REJECTION FACTOR

Rejection, or retention, is a measure of the fraction of solute or solid that is retained or does not pass through the membrane. It is generally expressed as a percentage, calculated using the following equation:

$$R = \frac{\left(C_{\text{feed}} - C_{\text{permeate}}\right)}{C_{\text{feed}}} \cdot 100$$
(3)

where C_{feed} is the concentration of a specific component in the feed solution to the membrane process and C_{permeate} is the concentration of the same specific component in the cleaned discharge stream leaving the membrane system. The



FIG. 27. The effect of feed concentration on reverse osmosis and nanofiltration.

apparent rejection factor is defined by the bulk concentrations sampled in the feed and permeate streams. The real or intrinsic rejection factor is taken to be the concentration of the specific component if it were measured directly at the boundary between the membrane and the solutions on either side of the membrane:

$$R = \frac{\left(C_{\text{wall}} - C_{\text{permate}}\right)}{C_{\text{wall}}} \cdot 100 \tag{4}$$

Rejection depends on the type and characteristics of the membrane and measures the effectiveness of separation. For nanofiltration and reverse osmosis membranes it measures the effectiveness of the membrane in preventing the passage of dissolved inorganics through the membranes.

Rejection may differ substantially between various feed solutions. In part these differences are explained by the different charges associated with the ions in solution. Higher charged ions are more easily rejected. This feature can be useful if, for example, extraction of radioactive strontium from a solution containing sodium is being attempted. Rather than using reverse osmosis to retain all of the solute, nanofiltration could effectively retain the strontium while permitting sodium to pass through the membrane.

The rejection efficiency of reverse osmosis membranes usually ranges from 85–99.5% and is quoted by the manufacturer for a standard set of feed conditions. A typical set of standard conditions is:

- Feed concentration: 2g/L NaCl;
- Temperature: 25°C;
- Pressure: 2.76 MPa (400 psig);
- Recovery factor: 10%;
- Operating time: 30 min.

For reverse osmosis systems, as increasing the operating pressure increases the flux through the membrane, the passage of solutes through the membrane will decrease and permeate quality will increase. For reverse osmosis, higher operating pressures are desirable because the degree of separation and the quality of the product are improved.

For microfiltration and ultrafiltration processes, where separation is based solely on size, increasing the flux through the membrane by increasing the operating pressure tends to increase the passage of solute or solid and decrease the permeate quality. For microfiltration and ultrafiltration systems, lower operating pressures are desirable because the degree of separation and product quality are improved.

5.4. TRANSMISSION OR SALT PASSAGE

Salt passage or transmission (T) is the percentage of solute or solid present in the feed that is not retained by the membrane. It is the percentage of species of interest that is transmitted through the membrane and is calculated using the following equation:

$$T = \frac{C_{\text{permeate}}}{C_{\text{feed}}} \cdot 100 \tag{5}$$

Rejection and transmission are related as follows:

$$R = 100 - T \tag{6}$$

5.5. DECONTAMINATION FACTOR

The performance of waste treatment processes can be valued in terms of the DFs achieved. Decontamination factors are particularly useful for performance evaluation in the treatment of radioactive wastewater. The DF in membrane processes used for radioactive waste treatment is defined as:

$$DF = \frac{\text{Specific activity of the feed}}{\text{Specific activity of the permeate}}$$
(7)

For the treatment of radioactive wastewater, DFs can be determined for specific radionuclides; for total alpha, beta or gamma emitters; and for total activity. For non-radioactive species, a DF may also be derived from the concentration of a solute (dissolved species) or solid in the feed and permeate solutions:

$$DF = \frac{C_{\text{feed}}}{C_{\text{permeate}}}$$
(8)

where C_{feed} is the concentration of the particular species in the incoming feed and C_{permeate} is the concentration of the same species in the purified stream (permeate) leaving the membrane system.

5.6. CONCENTRATION FACTOR

The concentration factor (CF) is the ratio of concentrations of the solute (dissolved species) or solid in the concentrate or reject stream to its concentration in the feed stream [46]:

$$CF = \frac{C_{\text{conc}}}{C_{\text{feed}}} \tag{9}$$

A high CF is desirable because it is equated with improved separation. High CFs are usually limited because they in turn result in a high osmotic pressure (reverse osmosis, nanofiltration) or cake buildup (microfiltration, ultrafiltration). This can lead to increased energy costs and the need for more frequent membrane cleaning or replacement.

6. DESIGN AND OPERATIONAL ASPECTS

6.1. GENERAL

The following is applicable to the design of pressure driven membrane processing systems, and primarily for designs incorporating reverse osmosis. A reverse osmosis system is the most complex to design and is the focus of this section. However, design and operational considerations for ultrafiltration, nanofiltration and microfiltration processes are similar and should be examined in the same detail.

An integrated system utilizing a membrane separation process usually consists of feedwater pretreatment, the membrane system, post-treatment (if required), reject stream treatment, and auxiliary equipment such as a CIP system. The performance of the membrane separation system is normally measured by two parameters, the permeate flow and the permeate quality. These should always be measured in relation to the given feed conditions and feed composition. The goal of a system design is usually to maximize contaminant rejection and recovery for a given permeate flow and to minimize feed pressure and membrane costs. Table 5 summarizes the fundamentals of system process conditions, design and operating conditions to achieve good membrane performance [47].

Area to be considered	Condition	Response
Process conditions	Feedwater salinity	Known
	Permeate flow	Known
	Feedwater fouling tendency	Known
	Temperature	Select
System design	Element type	Select
	Flow configuration	Optimize
	Number of permeate passes	Optimize
	Elements per vessel	Optimize
	Vessels per stage	Optimize
	Number of stages	Optimize
Operating conditions	Recovery	Optimize
	Cleaning	Optimize
	Salt rejection	Maximize
	Pressure	Minimize

TABLE 5. CONSIDERATIONS IN SYSTEM DESIGN

The relative importance of the above considerations determines the optimum design. One or more aspects will impact each design more than others. These are discussed below. Many membrane manufacturers offer design assistance, including computer programs, for using their products. The design of a system incorporating a membrane process can be considered as a series of steps as follows [40]:

- Step 1: Preliminary design requirements;
- Step 2: Selection of the membrane;
- Step 3: Process configuration;
- Step 4: Determination of pretreatment needs (fouling issues);
- Step 5: Pilot and/or on-site flow testing;
- Step 6: Final system design.

6.2. PRELIMINARY DESIGN

6.2.1. Initial design considerations

It is essential to determine the key drivers for the process (economic, environmental, performance, etc.) as the design phase gives the best opportunity

to optimize costs and achieve a robust design. The following significant technical information must be gathered in the initial design stages [40]:

- (a) Feedwater quality (range);
- (b) Separation requirements;
- (c) Required product flow quality specifications (of all output streams);
- (d) Tests to confirm the existence of critical operational issues (scalants, foulants, chemical effects, biological activity).

Of these, understanding the nature of the feed stream is the most important. Very often not all the minor contaminants of the feed can be identified because of their low concentrations. A thorough understanding of the history and source of the wastewater can be valuable at this stage of the design. Once the key technical information has been gathered, the performance criteria can be established. These are:

- Acceptable limits for variability in performance;
- Recoveries (volume and mass rates).

A number of parameters can influence performance. However, a design so conservative as to include the most extreme variables can lead to excessive and often costly design.

6.2.2. Feedwater characterization

It is essential that the feedwater to the membrane system be well characterized. This allows operational changes in membrane performance to be better understood but also allows potential foulants to be recognized. Data on the chemical, physical, radiological and biological properties of the feed stream are required. The basic information required will include, but is not limited to, the range of:

- (a) Suspended solids determine the silt density index (SDI), see Section 6.4;
- (b) Dissolved minerals;
- (c) Radioactivity;
- (d) Dissolved organic matter;
- (e) Microorganisms;
- (f) Temperature;
- (g) Total salinity;

- (h) pH level;
- (i) Others, such as surfactant concentrations.

It should be recognized that in the treatment of LRWs the characteristics of a particular water stream or source may vary widely, and this needs to be considered in the system design. Sometimes very extensive sampling and analysis are needed to gain an understanding of this variance [48]. Variation in feed composition is best ameliorated in the design by including collection and storage facilities of suitable size. If several large storage tanks are used, the feed can be fully characterized before it is treated in the membrane plant and corrective action taken to minimize potential problems before the stream is treated. In this arrangement, the membrane plant treats 'batches' of feed yet still operates continuously. It allows the pretreatment of the feed to be adjusted in accordance with the change in feed characteristics before it is processed in the membrane plant.

6.2.3. Pre-design verification and testing

Membrane module performance can to some degree be predicted as a function of operating parameters and feedwater characteristics. Calculation methods [35, 49] exist for various membrane operating conditions, but computer modelling programs available from the membrane manufacturers have largely superseded these. These programs predict the performance of a membrane plant based on feedwater analysis and performance requirements.

Computer prediction alone is not rigorous enough to serve as the basis for the design of a full scale plant. While computer simulations are useful to examine the robustness of a proposed design, they should not be used solely as the design basis. Physical testing of the waste feedwater is required. Three basic types of testing can be used [40].

(1) Preliminary selection of the membrane

Different membranes can be chosen and tested in a small laboratory bench rig. This is done only to evaluate membrane types under a particular operating condition to ensure that the correct membranes have been selected. This approach can be considered as a screening test for membranes. No design data can be inferred from this test work.

(2) Testing of the process configuration

The selected process layout can be evaluated with a small pilot rig using actual feed. The performance of the proposed design is observed, and early indications of fouling and scaling can be detected. This testing can provide useful information on operating parameters such as permeate flow and quality as a function of feed pressure, but design data are not obtained because the rig (and therefore hydraulic parameters) is usually too small to scale up.

(3) Pilot demonstration

A pilot plant demonstration of the process involves construction of a 'mini' plant that typically processes 5–10% of the actual feed flow. This plant uses membrane modules of the same size as those in the full scale plant. The plant is usually operated for a minimum of six months so that membrane performance, fouling, pretreatment requirements and design data can be fully assessed. The testing should be carried out using the actual waste stream that will eventually be treated with a full scale membrane treatment system.

Although expenditure of 10–15% of the final capital (for a full scale plant) is required, this would be offset by savings in the costs of a full scale plant. One of the reasons for this is that the concentrations of potential foulants are often too small to be detectable in the feedwater or may not have been analysed in the initial screening of the waste solution. Only operation of a plant for a long period of time allows these foulants to build up in sufficient concentration to allow determination of their effect on plant performance. A pilot plant also allows assessment of cleaning procedures and evaluation of the secondary waste streams produced during cleaning and normal operation. Critical flux is also determined by pilot plant demonstration. This cannot be determined by computer modelling.

Pilot testing can also be carried out at sites with existing membrane equipment as a means of evaluating alternative process configurations. The value of on-site pilot scale testing is that it allows system performance to be verified with actual solutions to gain insight into membrane behaviour and fouling. Alternative membrane filtration systems have been evaluated at many sites with existing reverse osmosis treatment plants [50, 51]. These tests provide valuable information on the capabilities of alternative technologies for treatment of a particular waste stream. Pilot testing also allows innovative improvements, such as methods to improve DFs in the membrane process, to be tried out. In one pilot demonstration, for example, the DF was increased from 3 to 91 in the second pass of a reverse osmosis plant by testing an innovation [52].

Pilot plant demonstration is essential to test membrane technology for treatment of radioactive wastewaters. Operational issues such as membrane fouling are even more critical for radioactive wastewaters than for conventional wastewater applications and must be evaluated. This is because secondary waste generation and plant maintenance have significant impacts on the comparative benefits of one process technology over another for the treatment of radioactive wastes. In summary, the objective of a pilot plant is to confirm system design, fine tune the operating parameters, establish cleaning regimes, evaluate secondary waste formation and, above all, minimize risk.

6.3. MEMBRANE SYSTEM DESIGN

6.3.1. Selection of membrane type

Selection of the membrane material, its configuration and the operating parameters are critical to the membrane system design. A wide variety of membranes are commercially available with different operational characteristics (see Section 4).

The choice of a membrane must be based not just on the performance data (salt rejection, flux), but also take into account the interaction of the membrane with the feed solution and whether this will lead to stable operation and minimal fouling. Once these have been achieved the process configuration can be determined and optimized, usually by computer modelling.

6.3.2. Membrane process configuration

This section discusses the design of a membrane system in terms of the process configuration or how the membrane modules are arranged. The focus is on spirally wound elements, which constitute the majority of reverse osmosis and nanofiltration applications [40]. The most common configurations are:

- (a) Straight through configurations with:
 - -Series arrays,
 - -Parallel arrays, or
 - -Tapered arrays;
- (b) Recycle configurations;
- (c) Batch configurations.

6.3.2.1. Straight through configurations

These configurations are the simplest of the array structures and the most common (Fig. 28). An array is usually comprised of one or more pressure tubes, each containing 1–7 spirally wound elements [40].

In a series array, the entire flow is passed over all the modules. As permeate is drawn off the cross-flow is progressively reduced. This can lead to poor cross-flow at the tail of the array and increased fouling of the end elements in the array, limiting the length of a series array.

In the parallel array a greater feed flow is accommodated by splitting the flow. This array may still be limited by poor cross-flow at the tail. To maintain minimum cross-flow at the tail, the recovery is limited.

The tapered array overcomes the limitations of series and parallel arrays. The number of tubes in each section generally corresponds to the entrance volume feed rate. Systems with more than one array are used for higher system recoveries without exceeding the single element recovery limits. Concentrates from the first array become the feed to the second array. To compensate for the permeate that is removed and to maintain a uniform feed flow to each array, the number of pressure vessels per array decreases in the direction of the feed flow. Typically, two arrays will suffice for recoveries of up to 75% and three would be used for higher recovery rates.



FIG. 28. Straight through configurations.

For each of the configurations shown in Fig. 28, the 'depth of the array' is the total number of elements in a series. The typical recovery rate of one element is 15%. For six elements in a pressure tube recovery rises to 50%. For two pressure tubes containing a total of twelve elements recovery is typically 75%. To accommodate changes in osmotic pressure, inter-stage pumping may be required as shown in Fig. 29 [40].

The applied pressure becomes a balance between the membrane driving pressures required (membrane type) and the osmotic pressure that has to be overcome, depending on the feed total dissolved solid (TDS) and recovery at each stage.

6.3.2.2. Recycle configurations

Recycle configurations are variations of the straight through configurations shown in Fig. 30 [40]. In these designs, reject is recycled to ensure sufficient cross-flow and an even hydraulic distribution in the membrane modules. This is crucial to avoid fouling and to minimize the concentration polarization layer.

These designs are suitable for small systems in which it is difficult to achieve a suitable hydraulic profile. They are also used where cross-flow is critical, such as in tubular ultrafiltration systems. Typical applications are in small plants requiring high recovery rates [40].



Position along the array

FIG. 29. Limitations in recovery.



FIG. 30. Recycle configurations.

The number of membrane modules (array) used in a system depends primarily on the productivity design requirement. Small flow rate systems typically use a single module only, arranged as a batch or a continuous process. Larger flow rates will require several modules which can be creatively staged on the hydraulic side (feed, permeate, concentrate), either individually or in arrays. The term 'stage' refers to the number of modules treating feed and reject, and the term 'pass' refers to the number of modules treating feed and permeates. It is rare to find systems with more than two passes. However, a two pass permeate system may be considered in some designs when standard permeate quality would not be sufficient, for instance when polishing of the permeate by ion exchange is not available. Figure 31 [32] shows a multiple (two) pass system.

The desired recovery determines the configuration. Tapered arrays are normally used in ratios of 4:2:1. In general, the recovery data given in Table 6 apply to multiple stage reverse osmosis systems [40].



FIG. 31. Multiple pass reverse osmosis system.

6.3.2.3. Batch versus continuous processing

In full scale industrial applications a membrane system is usually designed for continuous operation. However, in certain applications, especially when relatively small volumes (batches) of waste liquor arise in a noncontinuous manner, the batch operation mode may be preferred. The feedwater is collected in a tank. During treatment permeate is removed and the concentrate is recycled back to the tank. At the end of the batch process, a small volume of concentrate remains in the feed tank. After this has been drained, the membranes are typically cleaned before the tank is filled again with a new batch. Batch systems are usually designed with a constant feed pressure and a declining permeate flow as the feed becomes more concentrated.

A variation on the batch mode is the semi-batch mode. The feed tank is refilled with feedwater during operation. The batch is terminated when the feed tank is full of concentrate.

Recovery (%)	Stages
<50	Single
50-75	Two
75–87	Three
>87	Return water for recycling

TABLE 6. RECOVERY WITH DIFFERENTMEMBRANE MODULES

The batch process mode is simple, but its performance is not constant because the concentrate returns to the feed tank, changing the feed conditions. It is more difficult to predict the performance of a batch process and performance estimates are usually made at the start, middle and end of the batch. Control strategies must be in place to determine the end point of processing so that operational limits are not exceeded and extensive fouling is avoided.

6.4. FEEDWATER PRETREATMENT REQUIREMENTS

Each membrane system will require some sort of feedwater pretreatment, either to protect the membrane's integrity and/or to optimize its performance. The pretreatment requirements will be dictated by the membrane process selected, feedwater quality, the membrane selected and its configuration, together with the operational and performance requirements. Of these, the feedwater quality is usually the only variable and it is the removal of potential foulants in the pretreatment that often determines the overall performance of the membrane system. For this reason the pretreatment system is usually critical to the performance of the membrane. Feedwater pretreatment may include coarse filtration, chemical precipitation, pH adjustment, temperature adjustment, chlorination, coagulation, microfiltration or ultrafiltration, addition of anti-scaling agents and many others, depending on the feed stream analysis.

Reverse osmosis membranes usually require extensive pretreatment for wastewater applications. The pretreatment often includes other membrane technologies such as ultrafiltration or microfiltration. For example, to determine the need to pretreat feedwater to remove colloidal substances, an SDI is performed on the feed [53–55]. The colloidal and particulate substances, if not removed, would form a gel layer on a nanofiltration and reverse osmosis membrane surface, and would impair the membrane's function. The SDI is an arbitrary comparative measure of the degree of plugging in a given time period. It works by passing the test water through a 45 µm MilliporeTM filter under constant pressure. Most membrane suppliers will provide the value of SDI above which removal of suspended solids is necessary. To remove these suspended solids and protect the reverse osmosis system, microfiltration or ultrafiltration are often selected as the pretreatment method. Another measure of water quality is the quantity of dissolved organic substances in the water. Two measures are often used, total organic carbon and dissolved organic carbon. Both are useful indicators of potential fouling by organics. It should be

noted that some contaminants act as catalysts for other fouling mechanisms but on their own may not be considered problematic.

6.5. FINAL SYSTEM DESIGN

6.5.1. Equipment redundancy

The implications of plant maintenance, removal of membranes and equipment malfunction need to be considered in the design of a full scale plant. For this reason, some membrane plants have redundant equipment designed and built into them. This is especially important for plants treating radioactive wastewater. This redundancy can take the form of two or more parallel, identical plants, each capable of treating the design flow of radioactive wastewater [50], or built in redundancy of only specific equipment such as extra tanks for feed or product, or process pumps. The membrane plant designer must consider the relative importance of each unit and the impact of equipment not being available to process waste solutions in a timely fashion.

6.5.2. Process control

Membrane plants are usually designed with a high degree of process control. A programmable logic controller (PLC) is normally used to monitor and record the operating variables (pressure, temperature, flow, conductivity, pH, tank level). Some of these variables are used to directly control the membrane plant. The process control design will normally incorporate automatic startup and shutdown of feed pumps, dosing pumps and heating (if required). The plant design must include shutdown in the event of conditions that are detrimental to plant performance or unsafe. Automation of data collection permits the performance of the system to be monitored in real time with respect to initial flow conditions or design flows, and permeate quality. Records can be reviewed over longer time intervals to compare the impacts on performance of modifications to feed pretreatment, changes in operating strategies, etc.

In considering the process control design for a membrane plant treating radioactive wastewater, special consideration needs to be given to locating process control equipment away from potential hot spots and/or contamination, and the degree of automation required to minimize operator contact.

6.5.3. Radiological considerations in system layouts

Ensuring radiological safety is an important part of membrane system design. The following factors need to be considered in terms of radiological safety during the review of pilot plant trials:

- (a) Containment of leaks, ease of decontamination;
- (b) Sufficient space to permit membrane removal;
- (c) Maintenance of pumps, instrumentation;
- (d) Location of process control equipment, cleaning tanks, dosing equipment;
- (e) Sampling requirements;
- (f) Identification of potential hot spots;
- (g) Location of shielding to avoid interference with operation and maintenance;
- (h) Degree of automation/duration of operator contact.

6.5.4. Secondary liquid wastes

Membrane processes generate secondary waste streams as they are, in principle, separation processes. The generation of secondary waste streams needs to be considered in terms of downstream processing. Ideally these streams are considered well before implementation of the new membrane plant, but even then the streams may become problematic and new strategies may need to be devised [56].

The concentrate from a reverse osmosis process will normally undergo further volume reduction, either by another membrane process or by evaporation. For microfiltration and ultrafiltration, the reject stream containing particulate matter needs to be treated or directed to another part of the site processing facility. In each case the characteristics of the concentrated waste stream must be considered in terms of their impact on other (downstream) processes.

The other source of secondary waste is spent cleaning solutions. These can be voluminous if repeated cleaning is required due to unexpected fouling conditions. The impact of greater than expected volumes of spent cleaning solutions must be considered during the design phase.

Recycling of secondary waste streams to the feed of a membrane treatment plant must be evaluated with extreme caution as a buildup of unwanted contaminants may have a severe impact on plant operation through reduction in permeate quality, more frequent cleaning cycles or progressive, irreversible fouling.

6.5.5. Secondary solid wastes

The membranes themselves, as well as the related hardware, will eventually become secondary solid waste and the design of a new plant incorporating membrane technology must take the expected generation of this waste into account.

6.6. OPERATIONAL ASPECTS

6.6.1. Scale control

In reverse osmosis systems in which high recoveries are required, the solubility limits of many salts and other materials that may precipitate on the membrane surface are quite important. Compounds that are frequently encountered as scale deposits in reverse osmosis systems are calcium carbonate, sulphate salts of calcium, barium and strontium, calcium fluoride and silica [32].

Several methods are used to minimize or eliminate the formation of these scale deposits. These methods may be used in pretreatment rather than in the membrane plant itself. One method of controlling carbonates is acidification by acid injection. Acid injection converts bicarbonate alkalinity to CO_2 , eliminating the formation of CaCO₃ scale. Another method sometimes used in pretreatment is water softening using lime or lime soda. In this process, hydrated lime or soda ash is added to soften the water. Calcium and magnesium hydroxides are then removed as a precipitate [32]. Coagulants are often added to the treated water to aid in the removal of the precipitate.

A third method used is the addition of anti-scaling agents. This is the most common method when the concentration of the scale forming species is low. These compounds reduce the rate at which scale forms, allowing the system to operate with concentrations above the solubility limit. For example, a common anti-scaling agent used to control calcium sulphate (gypsum) formation is sodium hexametaphosphate (SHMP). In reverse osmosis systems these anti-scalants are injected into the particular feed stream of the module that is likely to suffer from scaling, for example the second stage of a reverse osmosis process. The design of a membrane plant should allow for anti-scalant injection.

6.6.2. Chlorine content control

The presence of chlorine in the feedwater can result in chemical damage of reverse osmosis membranes. Chlorine is often added to feedwaters to control microbial growth. Unfortunately, many reverse osmosis membranes, especially polyamide membranes, are damaged by even low chlorine concentrations. If chlorine is present the feedwater must be dechlorinated before it enters the reverse osmosis system. Table 2 gives an example of allowable chlorine concentrations for some reverse osmosis membranes.

Membrane manufacturers will provide chlorine tolerance levels for their products. Chlorine is usually removed from reverse osmosis feedwater by injection of sodium metabisulphite. This is a reducing agent that neutralizes the oxidizing potential of chlorine. The design of a membrane plant should allow for sodium metabisulphite injection prior to the first stage reverse osmosis module.

6.6.3. Control of acidity/alkalinity

Excessive acidity or alkalinity of the waste feed is detrimental to most membrane materials. This is particularly important for membranes based on cellulose acetate. These membranes undergo rapid hydrolysis below pH4 and above pH7. Feed pH is normally adjusted as part of the pretreatment. However, during the reverse osmosis process, pH correction may also be required between stages. Compared to the feed, it is typical for the permeate stream to have a reduced pH and for the reject stream to have an elevated pH. As the permeate is low in ionic species it approaches the quality of pure water, which is acidic. If solution conductivity is used as a measure of permeate quality, the measurement may be meaningless (at high purity levels of around 1 μ S/cm) due to the presence of protonated water molecules.

For similar reasons injection of dilute acid to a second stage feed stream may be required to reduce the pH of the feed to this module. Injection of both acid and alkali streams between membrane stages or passes needs to be considered in the design.

6.6.4. Prevention of fouling

Based on the pilot scale testing programme recommended during the preliminary design phase, the final design should integrate measures to control various types of fouling, such as colloidal, organic and/or biological, that may have taken place during the extensive pilot scale trials. Prevention of these forms of fouling is discussed in Section 7.6.
6.6.5. Cleaning of membranes

All membrane systems require cleaning to remove potential foulants. Cleaning is usually begun when the normalized flux drops by 10–15% or more (see Section 7.5). The design and type of the cleaning system (physical, chemical or both) is usually determined after pilot testing. The impact of the cleaning waste liquors must also be considered as the design progresses, as well as how these wastes will affect the secondary waste streams (Section 6.5.4).

The cleaning system is usually designed in consultation with the membrane and/or equipment module supplier to establish the choice and concentration of cleaning agents, flow rates, time of cleaning and flushing regimes.

7. MEMBRANE PERFORMANCE AND MAINTENANCE

The overall performance of a membrane based separation process depends on the characteristics of the membrane, the feed solution being treated and the general operating practices that are employed. During the operation of membrane systems, membrane performance typically will decrease over time. This is generally caused by:

- Membrane compaction;
- Concentration polarization;
- Membrane fouling.

7.1. MEMBRANE COMPACTION

The compressive force applied to the membrane under the system hydraulic pressure causes membrane compaction. It is a plastic creep process in which the thin membrane skin grows in thickness as it is compressed into the underlying porous substratum that supports the membrane [46]. As the membrane thickens, its permeability decreases.

When pure or clean water feed is processed at a constant pressure, the flux through asymmetric reverse osmosis membranes will gradually decrease



FIG. 32. The effect of time and pressure on pure water flux through reverse osmosis membranes susceptible to compaction.

(Fig. 32) [46]. The effect of compaction on the maximum attainable flux for the applied pressure can be predicted. The flux losses are irreversible. Figure 33 gives an example of flux decline for a spirally wound reverse osmosis element at Chalk River Laboratories [57].

Compaction of the membrane structure usually takes place during the initial period when feed is introduced to the membrane system. After pressure is continuously applied to the membranes, the loss in membrane flux should not exceed 10%.

7.2. CONCENTRATION POLARIZATION

Concentration polarization takes place when species that are retained or rejected by the membrane accumulate at the membrane surface. The concentration increases as they approach the membrane surface (see Fig. 34) [3]. The impact of this accumulation depends on the solute. The consequence of concentration polarization is that the membrane surface is subjected to a feed concentration that is higher than the concentration of the bulk feed stream. In reverse osmosis and nanofiltration, high osmotic pressures develop due to electrolyte



FIG. 33. Normalized permeation flux in an individual spirally wound reverse osmosis element.

accumulation near the membrane wall. In ultrafiltration, osmotic pressure and possible gel formation may result from the presence of macromolecules. In microfiltration, stagnant and irreversibly bound cake may form.

Concentration polarization is generally detrimental because it decreases flux and retention and increases the potential for fouling through bacterial growth or chemical reactions such as precipitation. Although concentration polarization is reversible, the fouling it causes may not be. If the flux is dropped either by reducing feed pressure or closing off the permeate outlet, the accumulated solutes should dissipate. Concentration polarization affects the observed rejection of solute by the membrane. The real rejection of the species may be high (90%) but the wall concentration may be 10 times the bulk concentration, yielding a real rejection of only 9% compared to the bulk concentration [3].

Using low flux rates, membrane modules that have narrow feed channels or high feed rates can reduce concentration polarization. These latter two approaches promote turbulence and reduce the boundary layer of concentrated solutes. These approaches have economic consequences.



FIG. 34. Example of concentration polarization in reverse osmosis.

If the flux is kept low, a larger membrane area is necessary to maintain the desired throughput. In reverse osmosis and nanofiltration systems, the quality of the permeate will decrease, while with ultrafiltration the opposite is true.

If the feed flow rate is kept high, more energy is required to pump the feed solution through the membrane modules. At the higher pressure needed to maintain the increased flow rate, the membrane's life may be shortened due to membrane compaction.

7.3. MEMBRANE FOULING

The problem of membrane fouling is much more severe than either membrane compaction or concentration polarization, although the latter does contribute to the onset of fouling. Chalk River Laboratories has gained much experience with membrane systems used for the treatment of LRW [57, 58]. The flux decline with time observed in Fig. 34 was determined to be the result of concentration polarization coupled with surface fouling. Surface fouling takes place when there is a deposition of sub-micrometre particles on the surface, as well as crystallization and precipitation of smaller solutes. It occurs when rejected solids are not transported from the surface of the membrane back to the bulk stream. Fouling can also occur in the pores of the membrane and is more difficult to rectify than surface fouling.

In general, there are four major types of fouling — dissolved solids, suspended solids, non-biological organics and biological organisms [59]. The different types of fouling frequently occur simultaneously and each can influence the rate of fouling from the other mechanisms.

Dissolved solids are inorganic scale and gel forming materials such as calcium, barium and silica, which may be present in the feedwater in low concentrations. They are either cations (positively charged ions) or anions (negatively charged ions) which may complex and precipitate in the brine stream as their concentrations increase during membrane processing, particularly in reverse osmosis. Examples of such precipitated cation/anion compounds include calcium carbonate, calcium sulphate, barium sulphate and strontium sulphate. Dissolved solids form and attach to the membrane in layers according to their chemical type. Calcium carbonate forms in the brine spacers above the membrane surface and impedes flow. Sulphates form in small pools on the surface of the membrane. Silicate gels 'wet out' the membrane surface, spreading over it in a thin layer and slowly blinding the membrane.

Suspended solids maintain their suspension through a process of repulsion by a double layer of charge. Examples of suspended solids include colloidal forms of metal oxides such as iron, aluminium or silica. The charge repulsion characteristics of suspended solids also stabilize particulates such as carbon fines that may inadvertently leak from mixed media or carbon filters. Suspended solids tend to agglomerate and settle onto the membrane surface when concentrated past the point of their charge related stability. Suspended solids (colloids and particulates) agglomerate at the membrane surface, usually in the leading membranes of an array.

Biological foulants are aerobic and anaerobic living materials such as bacteria, fungus, algae and the metabolic waste they generate. Such foulants tend to be present in low concentrations and grow into massive quantities that effectively block flow through the membrane surface. Biological growth occurs in areas where 'food' is available. Iron reducing bacteria, for example, grow in areas containing iron fouling. Fungus tends to grow in areas such as those with a supply of silica-phosphate gel, which provides both protection from flow and food for additional growth.

Non-biological organic foulants are substances that contain carbon based chemical structures but which are not living organisms. Examples of nonbiological organic foulants are oil, plant materials, cationic surfactants and hydrocarbons. Organic foulants are carbon based molecules which have a natural affinity for the membrane surface. Because of this affinity, organic foulants such as oils wet out the membrane, spreading directly onto the membrane surface.

7.4. SYMPTOMS OF MEMBRANE FOULING

Fouling is inevitable, but can be controlled by prediction and compensation to decrease its severity [60]. The potential for an onslaught of fouling can be anticipated during design or during the operational phase by using the Langelier saturation index (LSI) and the SDI. If the LSI calculations show that the membrane system is susceptible to scaling, preventive steps should be undertaken to minimize fouling. If tests to establish the SDI of the incoming feed indicate that plugging from suspended particles can take place, appropriate feed pretreatment must be incorporated to minimize further fouling.

A key to understanding fouling of the membrane system is the gathering of sufficient operating data to develop a reasonable baseline for future comparisons with system performance. It is to be expected that over time the membrane's performance will deteriorate (Fig. 35).

The deterioration in performance will depend upon the membrane type, system design and feedwater quality. It is important to continuously collect data to permit useful comparisons with past operating experience. Table 7 lists the more common fouling symptoms, their likely cause, methods to confirm the fouling mechanism, methods to clean the membrane, and longer term preventive steps to reduce future disruptions to the operating system [60]. These latter steps will be discussed in Section 7.5.



Time

FIG. 35. Membrane flux deterioration over time.

Symptom	Likely cause of fouling	Diagnostic steps	Cleaning/control method	
Significant increase in passage Moderate increase in pressure gradient Slight to moderate flow loss	Scaling Calcium, magnesium or salts (most common) Barium or strontium (less common)	Check water analysis Recalculate LSI	Acid clean Reduce recovery Adjust pH Use antiscalant Increase softener regeneration frequency High pH clean (Chelants, detergents) Improve prefiltration Increase cross-flow Reduce recovery	
All effects usually most noticeable in last stage or element	Metal hydroxides (e.g. iron)			
Significant increase in ∆P Moderate flow loss	Dissolved organics/ suspended colloids Clay or silt particles, often organic and	Run SDI or particle sizing to determine if pretreatment is effective		
Moderate increase in passage All effects usually most noticeable in first stage or in last element	inorganic constituents Humic and fulvic acids (tannins, 'colour') Some synthetics such as common herbicides or pesticides	Check for visible foulant in membrane elements and housings Compare total organic compound levels in the feed with baseline measurements		
Rapid and significant flow loss No or slight to moderate increase in passage Generally no or slight increase in ΔP	Suspended organics Fats and oils Hydrocarbon compounds Synthetic coagulation/flocking agents	Check fluid– membrane compatibility Check for contamination of the system	Often hard to clean Change membrane type, remove organics with granular activated carbon upstream High pH soaks may be effective depending on organic type	
Significant, steadily increasing flow loss Slight to moderate increase in passage Moderate but rapidly increasing ΔP	Biofouling Biofilm Free floating' microorganisms (not likely without concurrent biofilm)	Check micro-counts (cfu/mL*) in concentrate/permeate Check for visible evidence in system (slime layers) Check sampling valves for contamination	Sanitize Eliminate 'deadlegs' Do not allow system shutdowns, unless biostat is used Sanitize all system components, including pretreatment	

TABLE 7. MEMBRANE FOULING SYMPTOMS AND TREATMENTS

* cfu/mL: colony forming units per millilitre.

Fouling generally results in decreased permeate flow, increased feed pressure to maintain the same flow, and usually an increase in the pressure differential, across the array. Pressure and permeate flow rates must be monitored closely and these critical parameters kept within the manufacturer's recommended specifications.

Understanding the makeup of the foulants is critical to improving the overall performance of the system and developing appropriate strategies to minimize fouling. At Chalk River Laboratories it was found that the chemical scale on the fouled reverse osmosis membranes was comprised primarily of aluminium, silica, calcium, phosphorus and, to a lesser extent, iron and sulphur [57, 58]. Calcium hydroxylapatite and octacalcium phosphate scales were identified as major fouling species on the spirally wound reverse osmosis membranes. Clay and aluminium silicate based scale was also thought to account for the initial large flux decline associated with concentration polarization, and is the most difficult scale to remove with standard chemical cleaning procedures. Precipitates were observed on the surface of the membrane. These precipitates were difficult to dissolve in concentrated acids. Alkaline cleaning chemicals at pH12 became the most effective means of restoring permeate flux. At this pH, silica solubilizes to silicic acid and can be removed.

During operation, reverse osmosis membranes take on an anion charge on the surface [43]. This causes cationic foulants such as aluminium and ferric hydroxides to be attracted to the surface along with cationic coagulant polymers. With composite membranes, fouling occurs faster and is more noticeable than with other membranes because these are operated at higher flux rates.

7.5. CLEANING AND RESTORATION OF MEMBRANES

Membranes should be cleaned when there is a 10–15% decrease in system performance, manifested by either a 10–15% reduction in permeate flow or a 10–15% increase in the pressure needed to maintain the same flow. Failure to clean according to the 10–15% rule may result in serious and irreparable damage to the membranes. For example, silica may crystallize in a surface pore of a membrane. As the crystal grows, it expands and tears the membrane pore, decreasing the membrane's rejection of solutes and compromising the permeate quality. Inorganic scale formation may also physically damage membranes, causing permanent rejection loss and resulting in scale formation that is difficult or impossible to remove.

Cleaning techniques have been developed to meet specific requirements. The main methods of membrane surface cleaning include mechanical, air assisted, and the use of chemical reagents.

Tubular arrays can be cleaned mechanically by injecting sponge balls to remove the foulant from the membrane surfaces. In some applications, passing spongy balls with diameters that exceed the tubular diameter of the membrane is effective [61]. However, this technique is restricted to specific membrane designs. It is not effective for the removal of chemical or organic foulants or for cleaning membrane pores.

Another mechanically assisted method is to back flush membranes with compressed gas and/or water. If this method is to be used, the organic membranes have to be strong enough mechanically to withstand the back flush, or they must be rigidly constructed so that the membranes do not collapse when the force of the air stream or water stream is applied in the reverse direction to displace the foulant layer. Compressed gas may cause spirally wound membranes to telescope and the excess pressure may dislodge mechanical seals.

Another mechanically assisted technique is to apply a shock wave to the flow system to dislodge the fouled material from the membrane surface. This is done by suddenly depressurizing the flow [36]. Again, this technique can only be applied to systems that utilize rigid membranes because soft, pliable membranes may be ripped from their support tubes as the shock wave migrates through the array.

A novel approach has been developed for cleaning the membrane surface without interrupting the filtration process [62]. Direct membrane cleaning was done with conductive stainless steel membranes in which an electric current was applied in pulses. Currents up to 2000 A/m^2 were pulsed for five seconds every 15 minutes to demonstrate that the flux could be continuously maintained.

After feed pretreatment, the most effective method to control fouling on a membrane surface is to clean the membrane chemically. The composition of the cleaning solution will vary according to the waste being processed. The cleaning solutions are many and diverse and include various acids, alkalis, chelated compounds and surfactants. Most membrane systems are now designed with CIP systems integrated into their process piping and control systems.

While these techniques can be effectively utilized to recover permeate flux, it is crucial to understand (if possible) the cause of the loss of the permeate flux or permeate quality before adopting a cleaning strategy. Membrane cleaning and restoration may include several sequential steps. If several cleaning agents are used, it is important to consider the order in which they are introduced. In general, biological growth and colloidal silts should be removed first. A second cleaning to remove metals and scales should then be attempted. Finally, attempts should be made to remove layers that contain silica and barium sulphate formed closest to the membrane.

Other factors that must be considered with chemical cleaning include the selection of cleaning agents, redirection of permeate and concentrate waste streams during cleaning, and minimization of cleaning waste volumes (secondary waste generation). Generic cleaning agents such as sulphuric acid, sodium hydroxide, sodium tripolyphosphate, sodium ethylendiaminetetraacetate and citric acid are inexpensive and can be effective in reducing feed pressures and increasing permeate flux. However, it may be beneficial to use specially formulated cleaning agents. While higher in price, they may remove the foulants completely because residual foulants often serve as nucleation sites, causing more rapid fouling when the system is returned to service [59]. Some of these proprietary cleaners will keep the foulants in suspension and prevent their redeposition onto other areas of the membranes, especially during recirculation of the chemical solution when foulants can be redeposited on the front end of the array.

During the cleaning solution recirculation and rinsing procedures, pressures should be reduced to reduce or prevent permeate flow. Reduced pressures cause the membrane foulants to be attracted into the cleaning solution and away from the membrane surfaces.

The secondary waste volume generated from cleaning of the membranes should be minimized. Good cleaning agents will reduce the quantity of waste generated because their improved effectiveness for removal of foulants reduces the volume of solution that has to be applied. The most effective cleaning solution for Chalk River Laboratories' reverse osmosis membranes was 'Memclean', an alkaline based detergent containing EDTA [57, 58]. Secondary wastes from cleaning accounted for about 5% of the annual waste feed volume to the plant. Generic acid based cleaning solutions were generally not effective for removal of the scale forming compounds. Silica scale was not effectively removed from the membranes with any of the cleaning chemicals that were investigated. It was concluded that the silica scale formed a tightly adherent layer immediately on top of the membrane surface. This caused a continuous drop in permeate flux and the need for premature replacement of the membranes.

7.6. PREVENTIVE MEASURES

7.6.1. General

Understanding the basic principles of fouling will allow effective intervention to prevent premature membrane fouling. As stated earlier, it can be expected that fouling will take place in almost all membrane systems, but proper maintenance procedures and membrane cleaning methods will improve system operation over the long term.

Pretreatment processes should be integrated into the initial design of the operating system. Information on what pretreatment steps should be incorporated is dependent on knowledge of the waste feedwater. Aside from a wide ranging chemical analysis of the feed, design should be based on actual pilot tests conducted on the waste streams that will be processed by the membrane system.

As a general rule, particles suspended in pretreatment, iron compounds and other colloid particles that can form a dense gel layer on the membrane must be removed prior to membrane separation. It may be necessary to eliminate some volatile organic compounds and oxidizing agents such as dissolved active chlorine, ozone and peroxides if these chemicals are used to reduce the microbial activity in the feedwater. Organics can be decomposed by breaking up their structures with oxidants, adding coagulants such as alum or ferric chloride, or adding powdered activated carbon to prevent their deposition on the membrane surface [63]. Adjustment of the solution's pH by addition of acid is often required to prevent low solubility cations such as calcium, magnesium and barium from exceeding their solubility and precipitating onto the membrane surfaces. Inhibitors (antiscalants) can be added to shift fouling from the membrane surface into the bulk phase of the solution. Surfactants can also be added to form a hydrophobic layer of polar organic molecules that can reduce the adhesion of sludge particles on the membrane surface.

Scaling inhibitors can be polyphosphates such as SHMP, polyacrylates or polycarbooxilites [54]. Normally, if information on the chemical composition of treated water is sparse or absent, the inhibitor should be applied at a rate of not less than 10 g/m³ of water treated. The chemical composition of the majority of inhibitors is proprietary. Many compositions of inhibiting products are known, e.g. Permatreat, Flocon, AF-150, AF-200, Aqua Feed, TRC-233, EL-5600 and Dequest. For example, at Chalk River Laboratories it was determined that the most effective antiscalant chemical for the spirally wound reverse osmosis system was Pretreat Plus, which is manufactured by King Lee Technologies (San Diego, California) [57, 58].

7.6.2. Prevention of colloidal fouling

Colloids are usually charged particles smaller than 1 µm in diameter. They are common in surface waters and if not removed from feedwaters can drastically reduce the productivity of a membrane. Several techniques can be used to remove colloids. A common pretreatment method is coagulation/ flocculation followed by conventional filtration. Typical coagulants used are alum (Al₂(SO₄)₃, ferric chloride (FeCl₃), and polymer or polyelectrolyte materials [35]. However, the use of these methods in pretreatment may cause problems in the later stages of the lifetime of a reverse osmosis plant. Unprecipitated iron or aluminium may concentrate in a downstream reverse osmosis stage and initiate coagulation on the surface of the reverse osmosis membrane, causing fouling. Alternatively, ultrafiltration may be used to remove colloidal particles and is often a very good pretreatment for reverse osmosis. While ultrafiltration can be used to produce a high quality feed for reverse osmosis, the ultrafiltration membranes themselves can foul (but not necessarily by colloids). Therefore, pretreatment systems employing ultrafiltration membranes to remove colloids must be designed to maintain the performance of the ultrafiltration membranes.

One particular cause of colloidal fouling that can often result in problems in reverse osmosis is silica. If silica is already present in the feedwater supply to the site it will need to be controlled to avoid fouling in the reverse osmosis plant. Some sites have studied silica in their feedwater extensively in an effort to reduce silica fouling in the wastewater treatment membrane plant [64].

7.6.3. Prevention of organic fouling

The adsorption of organic matter onto the membrane surface causes flux loss, especially in the first array. Most membrane manufacturers recommend pretreatment to remove organics if the total organic carbon in the feedwater is more than 3 mg/L. The two most common removal methods are chemical oxidation (chlorine, hydrogen peroxide, ozone) or adsorption onto activated carbon. Organics can foul ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis membranes, depending on the size and charge of the organic molecules. The precise method of removing the organics can be determined in pilot plant tests. Even if there are normally very few organics in the feedwater, the plant design should incorporate some contingency for their removal. An accidental oil spill into the feedwater is a good example of how this may be overlooked, but the consequences of such a spill can be severe for the membrane plant.

7.6.4. Prevention of biological fouling

The formation of biological foulants or slimes on the membrane surface is undesirable because it reduces the flux through the membrane and reduces the effective salt rejection of the membrane. To prevent biological activity, the feedwater is often disinfected before it enters the reverse osmosis system. Chlorination to 0.5 ppm by injection of chlorine gas or addition of hypochlorite is the most common method used. However, as discussed in Section 6.6.2. reverse osmosis membranes are damaged by chlorine. Therefore, after the feed has been chlorinated for biological control it must be dechlorinated, usually with sodium metabisulphite, before it enters the reverse osmosis system. Other disinfectants that may be used for biological control include ozone, ultraviolet light, formaldehyde, concentrated sodium bisulphite and copper sulphate [35]. The amount of biological activity in the feedwater must also be reduced before it reaches the wastewater treatment plant as microorganisms, whether alive or dead, can foul membrane surfaces. For this reason it is useful to carry out audits of the main sources of biological activity in the site wastewater and implement control strategies [50, 65].

Biological fouling may also occur in the membrane plant if it is shut down for long periods. This is because microorganisms will feed off any source of carbon that is available. One common type of anti-scalant is a form of carboxylic acid, which becomes a food supply for bacteria when equipment is idle. The bacteria will then form a slime on the membrane surface. For this reason continuous operation is favoured over operating regimes with shutdown periods of 24 hours or more, and this should be considered in the design.

7.7. MONITORING OF MEMBRANE PERFORMANCE

To maintain high throughputs and high quality permeate the process must be continuously monitored and compared with expected performance. Data are routinely collected and analysed using computers that are an integral part of the process control systems of membrane separation systems. It is crucial that when fouling develops it is expected, so that corrective action can be taken to avoid irreversible losses in productivity and quality. The penalty for not preventing irreversible fouling is premature and costly membrane replacement.

In practice, membrane treatment shows that despite protective measures fouling will take place on a membrane surface. Fouling on a membrane surface always results in a decrease in its flux. In the treatment of radioactive wastes fouling will result in a gradual increase in radiation field buildup around the equipment. These radiation fields will increase the radiation dose to staff and may cause radiation damage to the membranes.

7.7.1. Chemical/physical monitoring parameters

Chemical monitoring allows the system to operate within the membrane manufacturer's recommended guidelines. Feedwater that is chlorinated to arrest the growth of microorganisms must be analysed on-line to avoid deterioration of the membranes [66]. Chlorine content is reduced by adding sodium bisulphate. Typically, this process is automated. The feed must also be monitored to ensure that the incoming pH solution is within tolerated levels. On-line conductivity measurements are collected and used to establish rejection and monitor permeate quality. If organics are a component of the feed stream, an on-line total organic carbon analyser is recommended. Routine sampling is required to conduct off-line chemical analyses to monitor for the presence of the identified foulants, to ensure the chemicals are being introduced at the right dosage, and to perform quality assurance checks of the on-line process monitors.

The important physical monitoring parameters include measurements of the incoming feed rate and pressure, discharge feed rate and pressure, permeate flow and pressure, process temperatures, and on-line determination of SDI that should be kept below certain levels to avoid early fouling by suspended particles and colloids (see Section 7.7.2). These measurements allow calculation of trans-membrane pressures (TMPs), mass balances, recovery and rejection factors, decontamination and volume reduction factors, and concentration factors. All of this information can be recorded by a PLC and continually provided to operations staff, plotted as a function of time. These plots permit operations staff to be aware of operating changes and to take corrective action to avoid losses in throughput.

7.7.2. Performance monitoring methods

Traditionally, system performance is evaluated by analysing trends in terms of permeate flux and salt rejection. Performance is evaluated analytically by normalizing the membrane system operating data using American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) standard method D4512 [67]. In the case of low to moderate fouling the method may not account for variations that might lead to severe or irreversible fouling. An enhanced method (the MASAR method), based on overall system dependent changes, as well as the physical and mechanical design limitations, has been developed [68, 69]. The prediction of membrane fouling trends is based on a sensitive performance trend

parameter. The fouling monitor represents the relative difference in normalized product flows using both the ASTM and the MASAR normalization methods. An example of the sensitivity of this monitoring technique is provided in Fig. 36.

Permeate flux may also be monitored by observing the normalized trend over time [70]. The declining trend obeys a power law function so that:

$$A_n = t^{-m} \tag{1}$$

where A_n is the NPF at time *t*. The coefficient m resides within a set of values from 0.008 to 0.08.

The LSI is determined for the feedwater to confirm the potential for scaling from calcium deposition. It provides an indication of the driving force for scale formation and growth in terms of pH, but gives no indication of how calcium carbonate or scale will actually precipitate. The LSI can be calculated



FIG. 36. Monitoring of flux decline.

using ASTM standard method D 3739 [71]. If the LSI is negative there is no potential for scaling and the water will dissolve calcium carbonate. If the LSI is positive, scale can form and precipitation is likely to take place.

The SDI is a measure of the quantity of sub-micrometre particles present and is determined by monitoring the flux decline over 15 minutes when the feedwater is filtered continuously through a Millipore 0.45 mm membrane at a transmembrane pressure of 207 kPa (15 psig). The SDI can be calculated using ASTM standard method D4189 [72]. The SDI must be kept at a value less than 3 for reverse osmosis membranes to avoid plugging.

8. TREATMENT OF RADIOACTIVE LIQUIDS

8.1. GENERAL

The use of membrane technology varies with the characteristics of the radioactive liquid to be treated, the desired separation objectives and the volume of liquid to be treated. These factors are influenced by the facility type (nuclear research facility, nuclear power plant, radiopharmaceutical production or fuel reprocessing facility), nuclear power plant type (boiling water, pressurized light or heavy water reactors), type of primary coolant or moderator (light water or heavy water), local conditions (floor space availability, distance from waste storage tanks, height restrictions), limits on environmental discharges, and other factors.

8.2. WASTE SOURCES, TYPES AND CHARACTERISTICS

8.2.1. Nuclear power reactors

8.2.1.1. Pressurized water reactors

Four types of LRWs are commonly produced in a PWR plant — miscellaneous waste, secondary system waste, chemical waste and detergent waste. Miscellaneous wastes come from a variety of sources and therefore vary greatly in content. Secondary waste is usually low in conductivity and is produced primarily by steam generator blowdown and turbine building drains. Chemical wastes are usually high conductivity liquids containing large quantities of total solids. Detergent waste usually contains a very small amount of radioactivity but contains a large amount of organic chemicals, chelating agents and suspended solids.

8.2.1.2. Boiling water reactors

Liquid radioactive wastes in a BWR plant include high purity waste, low purity waste, chemical waste and detergent waste. Each type differs in quantity and source. High purity waste is usually the result of equipment drains from the drywell and the reactor, turbine and radioactive waste buildings; ultrasonic resin cleaner wash; and resin backwash and transfer water. Low purity waste is usually of moderate to high conductivity. The contents of the chemical waste stream and detergent waste streams are similar to those found in a PWR plant.

8.2.1.3. Heavy water reactors

Since these power reactors use heavy water as a primary coolant and/or moderator, the system design is such that heavy water leaks from equipment and drains are collected, upgraded for isotopic purity and returned to the system. As a result there is usually no liquid heavy water waste to be treated. Light water wastes are typically generated as floor drains during maintenance and refurbishment activities and usually have low specific activity that can generally be handled by delayed storage and dispersal after decay. Heavy water reactors generate detergent and liquid chemical wastes similarly to light water reactors. It should be noted that tritium, present in the heavy water reactor coolant and moderator, cannot be removed by pressure driven membrane processes.

8.2.2. Institutional activities

Nuclear research and radiopharmaceutical production facilities produce LRWs. The volumes and characteristics of these sources may vary widely. For a description of these waste sources and their characteristics, see Ref. [73].

8.2.3. Other sources

Sources of LRWs requiring processing can be found in other segments of the nuclear fuel cycle (i.e. fuel fabrication, fuel reprocessing, uranium enrichment, environmental remediation, miscellaneous decontamination activities). The volumes and characteristics of these potential sources vary widely. It is not practical to identify or to categorize these streams. Reference [73] describes these waste sources and their characteristics.

8.3. MEMBRANE TECHNOLOGY IN THE NUCLEAR INDUSTRY

During the past 5–10 years membrane technology has been gradually introduced into nuclear power plants for treatment of LRWs. The main reason for this has been the desire to achieve one or more of the following:

- Reduction of radioactivity discharge to the environment,
- Reduction of solid waste from existing effluent treatment facilities,
- Recycling of boric acid.

Many power plants in the United States of America, for example, have traditionally treated low level liquid effluent by direct evaporation of the liquid waste, by conventional filtration and ion exchange, or by combinations of these. The common limitation of these processes is that they generate significant quantities of radioactive solid waste to be disposed of. Furthermore, the treated liquid effluent is not pure enough for environmental discharge or recycling.

The major limitation of evaporation is the considerable operating cost with high energy consumption. The limitation of conventional filtration and ion exchange is that colloidal particles, some radioactive, pass straight through to the product (treated) water. Colloidal particles containing ^{58/60}Co, ⁵⁴Mg, ⁵⁵Fe, and ¹²⁵Sb are typical examples of these. Ultrafiltration is capable of removing these particles completely and has been adopted at a number of sites to complement the existing conventional filtration/ion exchange systems. At other sites, ultrafiltration has been implemented in combination with reverse osmosis, and ion exchange has been discontinued or is utilized as a polishing step.

In most of these cases, the reverse osmosis units actually utilize nanofiltration membranes to allow passage of boric acid to the permeate side while rejecting any residual dissolved radioactivity. This allows the permeate to either be discharged to the environment or recycled. This represents the most widespread use of reverse osmosis (or nanofiltration) in nuclear power plants.

As each application of membrane technology in a nuclear plant or elsewhere is unique due to specific local conditions, different processing objectives and various other factors, the membrane systems used vary from application to application. Examples of this are given in Table 8). Additional information on selected applications and detailed operational experience and results are presented in Appendix I. Table 8 shows where information on the selected systems can be found in this report.

8.3.1. Reverse osmosis

8.3.1.1. Reactor coolant cleanup with boric acid recovery (Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd (AECL), Canada)

A number of membrane systems have been designed, tested and operated in the nuclear industry for boric acid reclamation [74]. Reverse osmosis with cellulose acetate membranes has been tested in Canada by AECL's Chalk River Laboratories to recover boric acid from radioactive waste streams [75]. The concept of using cellulose acetate reverse osmosis membranes evolved from a basic study from the year 1971 [76]. Figure 37 gives an outline of this process [74]. As shown in the figure, radioactive feed is introduced to RO-1. The undissociated boric acid permeates through the membranes, rejecting radionuclides other than tritium. About 90% of the boric acid is recovered with RO-1. The dilute boric acid from RO-1 can be concentrated to about 7% by RO-3. The pH can be elevated to about 9.5 to ensure that boric acid is rejected with an efficiency of about 99.9% with the TFC polyamide membranes after purification by electrode ionization technology. The concentrated boric acid could be recycled to the plant. Permeate can be discharged to drains. Waste concentrate from RO-1 containing about 99% of the radioactivity and about 10% of the original boric acid present in the feed is sent to RO-2 for further volume reduction.



FIG. 37. Boric acid recovery with reverse osmosis.

Membrane process	Facility	Wastes processed	Reference(s)	Section giving further information
Reverse osmosis (nanofiltration membranes)	AECL Chalk River Laboratory (Canada)	Reactor coolant cleanup with boric acid recovery	[78, 80]	8.3.1.1
Reverse osmosis with conventional pretreatment	Nine Mile Point nuclear power plant (NMP) (USA)	BWR floor drains and various other wastes	[81, 97, 98]	8.3.2.1, Appendix I, Example 1
	Pilgrim nuclear power plant (USA)	BWR floor drains and various other wastes	[81]	8.3.2.2
Reverse osmosis with ultrafiltration pretreatment	Wolf Creek nuclear power plant (USA)	PWR floor drains, reactor outage waste, spent resin sluice water, etc.	[82, 83]	8.3.3.1
	Comanche Peak nuclear power plant (USA)	Floor drains, resin sluice water, boron recycle water	[100, 101]	Appendix I, Example 2
	Dresden nuclear power plant (USA)	Inventory of TRU contaminated batch of liquid waste	[101]	Appendix I, Example 3
Reverse osmosis with ultrafiltration pretreatment	Bruce nuclear power plant (Canada)	Aqueous wastes from steam generator chemical cleaning	[84]	8.3.3.2
Reverse osmosis with microfiltration pretreatment	Savannah River site (SRS) (USA)	Reprocessing/defence wastes	[52, 70]	8.3.4.1
	AECL Chalk River Laboratory (Canada)	Nuclear research wastes	[60, 61, 85, 87]	8.3.4.2, Appendix I, Example 10
Ultrafiltration	Diablo Canyon nuclear power plant (USA)	Spent media transfer liquid	[85]	8.3.5.1, Appendix I, Example 8

TABLE 8. EXAMPLES OF MEMBRANE TECHNOLOGY USE

Membrane process	Facility	Wastes processed	Reference(s)	Section giving further information
	River Bend nuclear power plant (USA)	BWR floor drains	[101]	Appendix I, Example 4
	Salem nuclear power plant (USA)	PWR floor drains, equipment drains and other sources	[102]	Appendix I, Example 5
	Seabrook nuclear power plant (USA)	PWR floor drains and spent resin tank drain- down	[101]	Appendix I, Example 6
	Callaway nuclear power plant (USA)	Floor drains, equipment drains, reactor coolant	[103]	Appendix I, Example 7
	MoundLaboratory (USA)	Wastes from fuel reprocessing activities	[34, 104]	Appendix I, Example 9
	Projected facility for treatment of laundry (detergent) wastes	Laundry (detergent) wastes	[89–92]	8.3.5.2
Microfiltration	AECL Chalk River Laboratory (Canada)	Contaminated groundwater	[60, 61, 71, 72, 93–96]	8.3.6.1, Appendix I, Example 11
	Rocky Flats (USA)	Contaminated groundwater	[95]	8.3.6.2

TABLE 8. (cont.) EXAMPLES OF MEMBRANE TECHNOLOGY USE

8.3.2. Reverse osmosis with conventional pretreatment

8.3.2.1. Nuclear power plant floor drains and various other wastes (NMP units 1 and 2, USA).

Units 1 and 2 of the NMP BWR operate under a 'zero-liquid' discharge philosophy that requires all radioactive wastewaters generated within the plant to be recycled. In the original LRW system design, liquid waste was segregated into two major streams, clean waste (i.e. high purity waste from equipment drains) and floor drain waste (i.e. low purity water from floor drains). After a comprehensive development programme, including an off-site pilot testing programme, similar full scale reverse osmosis systems (ThermexTM systems) were installed for both units, primarily to treat the floor drain wastewater. The objective of employing reverse osmosis technology at NMP was to reduce solid waste generated from water processing, reduce disposal costs associated with water processing, maximize long term on-site storage capacity, reduce plant equipment maintenance costs and improve water chemistry. Figure 38 shows the LRW system schematic at unit 2 of NMP, retrofitted with the Thermex reverse osmosis system [77].

The Thermex reverse osmosis system with its pretreatment and polishing components is depicted in Fig. 39 [77]. The system consists of a control module, two deep bed filters (SS separators) configured for parallel operation, followed by a bag filter (SS polisher), a 'reverse osmosis pre-filter' (a single bag nonmembrane filter), a reverse osmosis dissolved solids separator (DSS unit), a photo-oxidation unit, and deep bed ion exchange polishing demineralizers (DSS polishers). The control module is a small skid (107 cm \times 152 cm \times 122 cm)



FIG. 38. The NMP unit 2 LRW system schematic, including the Thermex reverse osmosis system.

that is utilized to monitor and sample influent/effluent flow and provide service air and water to various system components. The suspended solids separators $(107 \text{ cm} \times 249 \text{ cm})$ remove suspended solids and a portion of the total organic carbon from the feed stream through the use of granular media. The DSS removes fine particulate, colloids, organics and dissolved solids through the use of reverse osmosis. The reverse osmosis system represents a multi-stage design in which the concentrate from the first reverse osmosis stage becomes the feed for the second reverse osmosis stage. The permeate from both reverse osmosis stages is sent to deep bed demineralizers for polishing prior to entering the treated collector tanks, while the rejected concentrate is returned to the process feed tank for recirculation through the membranes. Upon reaching a predetermined upper concentration limit, the tank content is drained for processing. The DSS permeate is low in conductivity (<10 mS/cm) and contains no colloidal or particulate material. The photo-oxidation unit (46 cm \times 122 cm \times 150 cm) ionizes total organic carbon through the use of ultraviolet light. The ion exchange media in the polishers remove ionic impurities that have migrated through upstream processing components.



FIG. 39. Schematic of the NMP unit 2 Thermex system utilizing reverse osmosis.

The general arrangement of the Thermex system at unit 2 of NMP [77] is depicted in Fig. 40, which shows typical radiation fields that have been taken from radiation surveys. Appendix I gives a case history of this application, including operational results.

8.3.2.2. BWR floor drains and other wastes (Pilgrim nuclear power plant, USA)

The original radioactive waste system at the Pilgrim nuclear power plant was designed to segregate the liquid waste into three distinct streams:

- (1) Clean waste (high purity from equipment drains);
- (2) Chemical waste (low purity water from floor drains);
- (3) Miscellaneous wastes (consisting of a range of low quality water from such activities as laundry and decontamination activities).



FIG. 40. General arrangement of the NMP unit 2 Thermex system utilizing reverse osmosis with feed pretreatment and product polishing.

A Thermex reverse osmosis system was later installed to improve the overall performance of the system. The goals were to:

- (i) Reduce waste processing and disposal costs;
- (ii) Reduce personnel exposure related to radioactive waste operations;
- (iii) Reduce waste disposal volumes;
- (iv) Reduce plant equipment maintenance costs;
- (v) Improve total organic carbon removal from floor drain wastes;
- (vi) Improve the quality of recycled water with respect to conductivity, total organic carbon, chloride and sulphate [77].

The modified system, incorporating Thermex reverse osmosis, was designed primarily for processing low purity floor drain wastes. However, the Thermex system was integrated into the overall existing system with the goal of acquiring the capability of processing both the 'clean' and the floor drain waste. This arrangement allows either the original or the new membrane based system to back one another up should the need arise. A system schematic of the Thermex system is given in Fig. 41 [77].

In the Thermex system, oils and particulate materials are removed by means of graded charcoal (suspended solids separators), followed by a 1 μ m



FIG. 41. The Pilgrim nuclear power plant Thermex system schematic, showing the standard processing pathways.

bag filter (suspended solids polisher) for removal of any fines prior to their delivery to the reverse osmosis system. The reverse osmosis unit is assembled in two sections to accommodate equipment installation (see Fig. 42 for a description of the general arrangement). In this arrangement, permeate from the first reverse osmosis section (dissolved solids separator) flows to the next reverse osmosis stage (dissolved solids polisher). The final concentrate is recirculated back to the process feed tank for reprocessing through the reverse osmosis system. The purified liquid permeate from each stage is collected and delivered to the post-treatment section of the Thermex system (a deep bed ion exchange demineralizer).

The Pilgrim nuclear power plant has taken a unique approach to the treatment of the reverse osmosis system concentrates. The concentrate is routed to the plant's spent resin storage tank, where it is brought into contact with spent resin from the condensate demineralizer system. At the time of removal this resin still possesses a major fraction of its ion exchange capacity, which is available for removal of contaminants from the reverse osmosis concentrate.



FIG. 42. General arrangement and radiation fields of the Pilgrim nuclear power plant Thermex system. The distance between the two rooms is approximately 3 metres (data taken from radiation surveys of February 2001).

In the year 2000 the plant personnel concluded that all of the goals established by the plant for radioactive waste processing had been met. In particular, the waste volumes had been dramatically lower than those experienced before system modification, and the personnel exposure associated with the radioactive waste operation had been significantly reduced.

8.3.3. Reverse osmosis with ultrafiltration pretreatment (ultrafiltration + reverse osmosis)

8.3.3.1. PWR floor drains, reactor outage waste, spent resin sluice water and other miscellaneous streams (Wolf Creek nuclear power plant, USA)

The Wolf Creek nuclear power plant is a 1250 MW PWR that began commercial operation in September 1985. In early 1998, the Wolf Creek Nuclear Operating Corporation set a corporate goal of reaching the 'top quartile position' as recorded by the US Institute of Nuclear Power Operations for effluent activity releases. Their strategy was to evaluate various process methods available and install the most efficient, cost effective, reliable system available. A complete ZEROTM system consisting of a tubular ultrafiltration



FIG. 43. The Wolf Creek nuclear power plant ZERO system utilizing TUF and SRO.

(TUF) unit, spiral reverse osmosis (SRO) unit, concentrates drum dryerTM (DD) unit and demineralizer system was installed in October 1998 to meet this goal [78]. The system was designed to primarily treat the plant wastes, including floor drains, reactor outage wastes, spent resin sluice water and other miscellaneous streams [78, 79].

Figure 43 gives a schematic overview of the system. The wastewater feed from floor drain tanks, waste hold-up tanks, recycle hold-up tanks and the secondary liquid waste monitor tanks are supplied to their influent tank by plant pumps. This feedwater is routed to the TUF unit for removal of suspended solids and the permeate serves as feed for removal of soluble species in the SRO unit. The ultrafiltration concentrate is recirculated to the ultrafiltration feed tank. The reverse osmosis unit is built as a multi-stage design in which the permeate from the first reverse osmosis stage becomes the feed for the second reverse osmosis stage. The concentrate from the second reverse osmosis stage is recycled back to the feed of the first reverse osmosis stage since its quality is still better than the system's feedwater. The concentrate from the first reverse osmosis stage represents the reverse osmosis system concentrate. The SRO permeate is routed through a downstream demineralizer system for final polishing. The effluent of the demineralization system is sent to the monitoring tanks for sampling and release [79].

The reverse osmosis system concentrates were originally treated directly in a DD unit. However, since the concentrate volumes were greater than the DD's capacity an additional reverse osmosis unit was added for further processing of these concentrates. Utilization of proper high performance (seawater type) reverse osmosis membranes in this additional step made it possible to reduce the concentrate volumes by a factor of 10–20, which increased the processing rate of the DD from 192 to 4620 L/d (from 50 to 1200 Gal (US)/d). The reverse osmosis membrane allowed passage of a high fraction of boric acid and silica while it promoted generation of good quality permeate that could be returned for processing through the standard membrane system. A case history of this application, including operational results, is presented in Appendix I.

8.3.3.2. Treatment of aqueous wastes from chemical cleaning of steam generators (Bruce nuclear power plant, Canada)

Ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis were employed for the treatment of contaminated aqueous wastes arising from chemical cleaning of steam generators and heat exchangers at the Bruce nuclear power plant (Canada) [80]. The EDTA based solvents used for the cleaning were similar to those developed by the Electric Power Research Institute's Steam Generator Owners

Group. The Bruce nuclear power plant used wet air oxidation (WAO) technology, coupled with ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis, for waste treatment. The principal goal of WAO is to oxidize most of the organics to CO_2 and water. Removal of excess ammonia from wet air oxidized copper and iron wastes is accomplished through a high temperature air stripping process. Finally, ultrafiltration and a two stage reverse osmosis step were utilized to treat the oxidized, ammonia stripped liquors. The process is shown schematically in Fig. 44 [80].

The ultrafiltration system employs four parallel banks of ten Zenon ZPF-12 tubular membranes in series. The first reverse osmosis stage contains two parallel banks in series, operating at a pressure of 6.5 MPa. The second reverse osmosis stage operates at a pressure of 4.1 MPa and consists of eight vessels arranged with three parallel pairs of vessels in series, followed by two individual vessels in series. Each reverse osmosis vessel contains six spirally wound elements (Filmtec SW30HR). Permeate from the final stage is disposed of via sewage treatment plant, meeting the criteria for sewer usage. The reverse osmosis concentrate is returned for further processing, either through the WAO process or for solidification and on-site landfill disposal, subject to de minimis regulations.

8.3.4. Reverse osmosis with microfiltration pretreatment (microfiltration + reverse osmosis)

8.3.4.1. Defence wastes (Savannah River, USA)

The SRS is a key US Department of Energy industrial complex dedicated to processing nuclear materials from the national defence programme. The separation area of the effluent treatment facility (ETF) was designed to treat liquid wastes from the separations area to reduce contaminants, permitting safe discharge to the environment [50].

Routine effluent to the ETF contains many soluble and sparingly soluble salts with the predominant component sodium nitrate. The goal of the ETF is to reduce the volume of waste that must be disposed of by concentrating the hazardous components. The majority of the concentrated waste is disposed of in a waste form that is a composite of concrete and salt containing waste. The flowsheet of the ETF is shown in Fig. 45. The major individual treatment steps in the overall process are:



FIG. 44. Schematic of the Bruce nuclear power plant spent solvent treatment facility.

- pH adjustment;
- Microfiltration;
- Mercury specific ion exchange;
- Activated carbon for organic removal (O/R);
- Reverse osmosis;
- Polishing ion exchange;
- Evaporation [50, 65].

The ETF facility has three trains of 3 stage systems in parallel. The microfiltration step utilizes cross-flow ceramic filters with a nominal pore size of $0.2 \,\mu$ m. The reverse osmosis system consists of high salt rejection spirally wound elements. The first stage consists of two pressure vessels, each containing six membrane elements. The second and third stages consist of one pressure vessel each. Each treatment train can process 385 L/m. The system design allows for redundancy of equipment and variable production flows. Since startup in October 1988 the plant has operated successfully, meeting the discharge criteria. The major operational problem concerning this plant has been biofouling of the microfilters by bacteria [65].



FIG. 45. The SRS ETF process flowsheet containing ceramic microfiltration and reverse osmosis.

8.3.4.2. Nuclear research wastes (AECL Chalk River Laboratory, Canada)

Nuclear research activities may produce low level radioactive wastes that contain a wide spectrum of dilute concentrations of chemicals and radionuclides. Application of membrane technologies to treat these wastes in research institutes has generated a wealth of data and useful experience which can be used in the design of systems for treatment of nuclear wastes.

Considerable pioneering efforts in this respect were made at AECL's Chalk River Research Laboratory, beginning in the 1970s [81]. The objective was the development and acquisition of a two stage reverse osmosis system with a productivity of 28 000 m³/a. The concentrated reject from the reverse osmosis system was to be bitumenized [57, 58, 81–83]. Research and exploratory work was conducted in the 1980s, which enabled design of a full scale system consisting of cross-flow microfiltration, spirally wound reverse osmosis (first stage), and tubular reverse osmosis (second stage), as shown in Fig. 46. The system processed approximately 2200 m³ of LRW annually. Appendix I gives a detailed case history of this application including the operational results and a flow diagram.



FIG. 46. Integrated plant for processing mixed LRWs.

8.3.5. Ultrafiltration

8.3.5.1. Nuclear power plant spent media transfer liquid (Diablo Canyon nuclear power plant, USA)

The Diablo Canyon nuclear power plant has tested two ultrafiltration systems to process separate batches of spent media transfer liquid (sluice water). The liquid was high in sub-micrometre particulate activity and has proved to be the most difficult liquid for the in-plant system to process [84]. Appendix I gives a detailed case history of this application, including the operational results.

8.3.5.2. Radioactive laundry (detergent) wastes

Laundry wastes are generated during laundering of contaminated protective clothes and footwear. The main laundry liquid wastes are characterized by high salinity, high surfactant contents, sodium hydrocarbonate and phosphate, and high alkalinity. The other stream, the laundry rinsing water, usually has salinity close to that of the water source used and contains much smaller amounts of surfactants and radionuclides.

Processing of the main laundry wastes by evaporation usually results in considerable foaming in the evaporator, with a carry-over of the treated solution into the distillate that would normally be discharged. The high salinity of the washing solutions limits the CF. On the other hand, the detergents in the laundry waste retain their functional properties, and if the suspended particles, fibres, biological matter and radionuclides are removed, the solution can be reused.

Suggestions to recycle washing solutions after ultrafiltration treatment appeared simultaneously in different countries during the mid-1980s [85–87]. For example, processing by ultrafiltration membranes with pore sizes of $0.03-0.05 \ \mu m$ suggested that 90% of the treated solution could be recycled [86]. Experience with the processing of laundry washing solutions by an ultrafiltration system utilizing membranes with a nominal pore size of 0.05 $\ \mu m$ is described in Ref. [87].

Despite the positive results obtained with the operation of membrane systems as described in Refs [85–87], it was later shown that ultrafiltration systems for laundry wastes create problems such as the accumulation of microorganisms within the treatment system and difficulties in maintaining the desired chemical composition of the recycled solution [88].

Based on experimental work, a concept for a combined installation for processing the laundry wastes was proposed. Its main feature is that the low

salinity rinse wastes are treated by reverse osmosis, while the high salinity effluents are treated by an ultrafiltration system whose objective is to recover the laundry solution in the permeate while removing the suspended particles, fibres and biological matter in the retentate [88].

8.3.6. Microfiltration

8.3.6.1. Contaminated groundwater (AECL Chalk River Laboratory, Canada)

Microfiltration can be utilized for the removal of radionuclides from soils and groundwaters contaminated by radionuclides. For the cleanup of soils the contaminants are leached by various methods, for example by counter-current reagent leaching [57, 58, 82, 83, 89–92]. The soil particles and the leaching process residues are then removed from the leachate by microfiltration. Alternatively, enhanced removal of the radionuclides can be achieved by microfiltration after coagulation of the radionuclides in the feed stream with flocculants.

A hollow fibre microfiltration system with a nominal pore size of $0.2 \,\mu\text{m}$ for groundwater remediation was installed at the AECL Chalk River Laboratory in 1988. Figure 47 is a flow diagram of the system. Feed flows tangentially across, over and around the hollow fibre membranes at a sufficient cross-flow velocity to keep the solids in suspension, thus minimizing deposition



FIG. 47. Flow diagram of a two stage chemical treatment/microfiltration process for cleaning contaminated groundwaters and soils.

and fouling. A small fraction of the total feed flow exits as a filtrate. It was demonstrated that microfiltration successfully competed with ultrafiltration as long as reagents were carefully selected to allow sedimentation of the inorganic impurities (including radionuclides) from the radioactive groundwaters and the soil leachate [92]. Appendix I gives a detailed case history of this application, including the operational results.

8.3.6.2. Contaminated groundwater (Rocky Flats, USA)

Another microfiltration system for processing groundwater and wastewater contaminated with isotopes of uranium, heavy metals and organic toxic materials was installed at Rocky Flats (USA) in 1996. This system, called the sitewide water treatment facility, consists of a tubular microfiltration apparatus with a membrane pore size of 0.1 μ m. This system was installed for pretreatment of the contaminated feedwater, after the feedwater was first coagulated. The reported removal of uranium isotopes was in excess of 99.9% [91].

9. CONCLUSIONS

The nuclear industry generates a broad spectrum of low and intermediate level LRWs. Treatment methods for processing LRWs have usually utilized the same conventional processes found in industrial water and wastewater treatment, such as chemical treatment, adsorption, filtration, ion exchange and evaporation. These processes are limited by their inability to remove all contaminants, the large operating costs involved (e.g. evaporation), or the potential to generate significant quantities of secondary solid waste. Furthermore, some LRWs have proven difficult to process satisfactorily by these conventional methods.

Membrane based processing of nuclear radioactive wastes and radioactive liquids in general has rapidly gained acceptance within the nuclear industry. After development of suitable membrane materials and their long term verification in conventional wastewater treatment, these membrane processes have been adopted by the nuclear industry as a viable alternative for treatment of LRWs. In the nuclear industry, the most utilized membrane processes are those with pressure gradient as the process driving force. These processes include reverse osmosis, nanofiltration, ultrafiltration and microfiltration and are distinguished from one another primarily by the pore size of the membrane. This allows pressure driven membrane processes to be used for selective separation over the full range of contaminant size, from micrometre sized particles to dissolved ions.

In most cases the membrane processes are used as one or more of the treatment steps in complex waste treatment schemes which combine conventional and membrane treatment technologies. These combined systems have proved to offer superior treatment capabilities, particularly in instances where conventional methods alone could not perform a similar task as efficiently or effectively. They are capable of producing high quality treated effluents with an acceptably low level of residual radioactivity for discharge, or for recycle and reuse. The concentrate waste stream containing the removed radioactivity invariably needs further processing by evaporation or other means to facilitate final conditioning to a solid waste form suitable for intermediate storage and disposal.

As membrane processes are often part of a total waste treatment scheme, the application of any specific membrane process must be considered in the context of the overall processing goals. This will include consideration of the waste feed characteristics, desired product quality, process limitations, overall system flexibility, the final waste form desired, compatibility with other existing treatment systems, and cost.

Membrane systems are rarely acquired off the shelf but must be designed and then built only after extensive on-site testing for each specific application. Selection of proper membrane materials and the membrane module configuration is a prerequisite for the successful application of a membrane system. A broad range of polymeric membranes is available from different suppliers who have accumulated a wealth of operating experience. The use of advanced inorganic (ceramic) membranes should also be considered as these are now available on the market at costs comparable to polymeric membranes. Although a membrane system can be designed using computer modelling programs and the feedwater characteristics, computer prediction alone is not rigorous enough to serve as the basis for the design of a full scale plant. Physical testing of the wastewater and pilot scale equipment is necessary.

The operating parameters of a membrane system must be well understood so that the system's performance can be maintained. This is normally achieved by monitoring the normalized flux of the membrane unit(s). Knowledge of the characteristics of the feedwater is paramount to understanding any changes that may occur in the plant's performance. It is the nonradioactive components of the feedwater that will determine the overall throughput of the plant, with considerations of radioactivity provided for in the design and layout of the plant. Prevention of membrane fouling by colloidal, organic, biological or scaling materials is the most important operational
consideration for membrane systems. The generation of further secondary wastes from excessive cleaning or membrane changes can have a severe detrimental effect on overall performance and costs. Strategies must be in place to prevent and/or minimize fouling and deal with unexpected incidents (such as an oil spill) that may occur in operation. These strategies must be determined during pilot testing of the proposed membrane system prior to full scale design.

Pressure driven membrane processes are now well established in the nuclear industry. In general, the introduction of these membrane processes has reduced waste treatment costs, improved the quality of water discharged to the environment, and increased the possibility of recycling treated water (or boric acid in some power plant applications). Other membrane separation methods are in use or in various stages of development. These methods utilize electrical potential, concentration or temperature gradient as their driving force instead of pressure gradient. While some of these have been proven and utilized in various industries they have generally not proved to be technologies of choice for processing LRWs. However, some of these membrane methods are being rapidly developed. The results of these efforts could become technically significant in the future.

Membrane systems, while somewhat more complicated to operate than traditional treatment systems, represent a major step forward in providing an effective capability for treating LRWs. Successful design and operation of a membrane system requires a collective commitment and dedicated teamwork by the system designers, operators, and the membrane suppliers.

Appendix I

EXAMPLES OF MEMBRANE TECHNOLOGY INSTALLATIONS WITH OPERATING RESULTS AND LESSONS LEARNED

General principles and key examples of the application of schemes for treatment of LRWs incorporating membrane technology are discussed in Section 8. This appendix provides information on the actual reasons for and objectives of the selection of a membrane technology for radioactive waste treatment at various nuclear facilities. The information includes detailed operational results and data and, where available, the lessons learned.

Example 1

Facility name:	Nine Mile Point nuclear power plant, units 1 and 2 (USA)
Membrane system:	Thermex reverse osmosis
Objectives:	- Reduce solid radioactive waste generation rates
	- Process wastewater feeds with widely varying
	concentrations
	 Reduce on-site processing costs

Unit 1 of NMP is a 610 MW(e) BWR that operates under a 'zero-liquid' discharge philosophy. Therefore, all water generated within the plant has to be returned for recycling. In 1994, a Thermex reverse osmosis system was installed and tested. This advanced system reduced the secondary waste generation rates by over 500% when compared to the demineralizer system already in use at the plant. The new system has also maintained high water purity levels despite encounters with high conductivity and high total organic content feedwater conditions [77, 93, 94].

The first goal of the new system was to reduce generation rates of solid (secondary) radioactive wastes. The second goal was to process feeds with widely varying concentrations of impurities while maintaining ultrapure quality standards. An ancillary goal was to reduce the concentration of organic anions that were recycled to the reactor. Reducing the level of organic anions returning to the reactor increases fuel integrity and minimizes corrosion, thereby reducing overall utility/plant life cycle costs. The final goal of the system was to reduce operating costs.

A pilot test was performed using the Thermex reverse osmosis unit to ensure that equipment installed on-site at unit 1 of NMP was appropriately sized and specified to treat the plant specific waste stream. The unit processed two 4.5 m^3 (1200 Gal (US)) samples of floor drain water. Table 9 shows the chemical characteristics of this process.

The pilot system was chemically cleaned and preserved between samples to maintain membranes within their baseline performance specifications. The volume reduction factor was extremely high due to the low conductivity and small amount of solids present in the waste sample. Table 10 shows the results of the pilot test.

Characteristic	NMP unit 1	NMP unit 2
pН	6.35	6.96
Conductivity (mS/cm)	18.6	34.3
TDS (ppm)	14.9	25
Total suspended solids (ppm)	3	250
Turbidity (NTU)*	4	16
Oil and grease (ppm)	0	0
Silica (ppm)	2.6	2.52
Calcium (ppm)	0.81	3.4
Magnesium (ppm)	0.5	0.6
Chloride (ppm)	4.7	8.5
Sulphate (ppm)	1.4	2.5
Iron (Fe ²⁺) (ppm)	0.02	0.03

TABLE 9. CHARACTERISTICS

* Nephelometric turbidity unit.

TABLE 10. PILOT SCALE TEST RESULTS

Product water quality		Final waste characteristics			
Conductivity (mS/cm)	Silica (ppb)	Total organics (ppb)	Waste volume (cm ³)	Volume reduction factor	Waste class/type
0.083	<5	189	73	62 200	A/A

The system at unit 1 of NMP was evaluated again in 1997. Following its initial pilot testing phase, the Thermex system processed a total of 50 300 m³ (13.3 million Gal (US)) from 1995 to June 1997. This process water included reactor shroud swarf, sanitary waste, lake water and oily waste. The system met the plant's first goal of solid radioactive waste volume reduction. Solid radioactive waste generation by the liquid treatment system was reduced by 89%. In addition, the system met the plant's goal of reducing the concentration of organo-anions in the recycle water. The post-UV chromatography showed minimum concentrations of organic anions. Product water from the evaporator, which had initially processed floor drains from startup until 1992, had average total organic carbon concentrations of approximately 400 ppb. However, it was shown that ultraviolet light did not significantly impact the product water quality when total organic carbon concentrations were already low (<200 ppb). The impurities rejected from the membrane system and contained in the concentrate have consistently produced class A/type A waste after dehydration.

Processing of LRW using Thermex reverse osmosis technology began at unit 2 of NMP in 1996 [95]. Unit 2 is a 1225 MW(e) BWR unit. The original radioactive waste treatment system design consisted of a flat bed filtration unit, an evaporator and a deep bed demineralizer. Its annual floor drain and equipment drain volume is 81 100 m³ (21 424 150 Gal (US)). Annual unprocessed waste generation is 260 m³ (9154 ft³) per year. Modifications to this original design were made between 1992 and 1995 that led to a decrease in annual waste and volume generation. However, the plant management was interested in further improving its processing system. The Thermex reverse osmosis system processed approximately 36 300 m³ (9.6 million Gal (US)) of floor drain water per year. Its average solid waste generation is 11 m³ (380 ft³) per year (including treatment media, membranes and filters). The total organic carbon in the effluent stream was <50 ppb. An average conductivity of 0.058 mS/cm in the effluent stream was achievable. In summary, all of the plant's goals were met.

Example 2

Facility name:	Comanche Peak nuclear power plant (USA)
Membrane system:	Ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis
Objectives:	 Demonstrate removal of activity, in particular colloidal ⁵⁸Co Remove caesium and iodine to non-detectable levels Evaluate reverse osmosis as a viable processing option for reduction of secondary waste volume (e.g. spent ion exchange resin)

The Comanche Peak nuclear power plant is a two unit PWR plant with each unit rated at 1150 MW(e). Prior to evaluating advanced ultrafiltration/reverse osmosis technology, the plant used a filter and demineralizer system to process all liquid waste prior to discharge. A 38 L/min (10 gal/min) pilot ultra-filtration/reverse osmosis/demin unit supplied by RWE NUKEM was installed in parallel with the original process so that a side-by-side comparison could be made while each waste stream was being processed [96, 97].

The objectives of the pilot unit tests at Comanche Peak were to:

- (a) Demonstrate the removal of activity, colloidal ⁵⁸Co in particular, to below discharge limits of 1×10^{-05} mCi/mL;¹
- (b) Remove caesium and iodine to non-detectable levels;
- (c) Evaluate reverse osmosis as a viable processing option for reduction of secondary waste volume, i.e. spent ion exchange resin;
- (d) Determine the volume reduction achievable by reverse osmosis.

Floor drain water, resin sluice water and boron recycle system water were processed during the testing. Total suspended solids were first removed from the feed by an ultrafiltration unit, and dissolved contaminants were then removed from the ultrafiltration permeate by reverse osmosis. The reverse osmosis unit was single-pass and had an internal recycle of the reject stream. Specific reverse osmosis (nanofiltration) membranes were used for passage of boron. Cation and anion resins were used to polish the reverse osmosis permeate before discharge to a plant product water collection tank. Both the ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis rejects were returned to the floor drain.

The results of the pilot testing at Comanche Peak are summarized below. Table 11 shows a comparison of DF of the plant filter/demin system and the alternative ultrafiltration/reverse osmosis/demin unit that was tested.

Other results were as follows:

- (1) The ultrafiltration/reverse osmosis technology, when used with demineralizers, performed better than the demineralizer technology currently used at Comanche Peak.
- (2) Product water was immediately and consistently below activity discharge limits.
- (3) The ultrafiltration/reverse osmosis technology produced 151 m³ (40 000 Gal (US)) of clean water and generated approximately 151 L (40 Gal (US)) of reject, with a CF of 1000.

¹ 1 Ci = 3.70×10^{10} Bq.

TABLE 11. DECONTAMINATION FACTORS FOR THE FILTER/ DEMIN SYSTEM AND ULTRAFILTRATION/REVERSE OSMOSIS/ DEMIN UNIT

Equipment decontaminated and date	Filter/demineralizer DF	Ultrafiltration/reverse osmosis/demin DF
Floor drain tank (FDT) 2000-02-01	6.81	57 200
Recycle Holdup Tanks 2002-02-07	1.12	1310
FDT 2002-02-14	7.97	478.5

(4) No coagulants or chemicals for pH adjustment were added.

(5) The ultrafiltration/reverse osmosis technology may reduce treatment media usage by 40–50%. The handling of reject waste produced by the ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis may offset any potential savings in treatment media usage.

Example 3

Facility name:	Dresden nuclear power plant unit 1 (USA)
Membrane system:	Ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis
Objectives:	- Process batch of transuranic (TRU) contaminated
	power plant LRW

Unit 1 of the Dresden nuclear power plant (PWR) installed a system utilizing a combination of ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis, followed by a deep bed demineralizer [97]. The plant needed to process two tanks containing a total of 1440 m³ (380 000 Gal (US)) of LRW that was also contaminated by TRU elements. The objective was to reduce the waste volume to a level that would be practical for further processing and conversion to a final waste form. The waste feed was directed to the ultrafiltration unit and the ultrafiltration permeate was fed to the reverse osmosis unit. Both the ultrafiltration and the reverse osmosis concentrate streams were returned to the feed tanks. The reverse osmosis permeate, after passing through deep bed demineralizing units, was collected in product water tanks and then, after confirmation that release criteria were met, discharged from the plant. By using an ultrafiltration/reverse osmosis system, the feed tank contents were reduced by a factor of 10, minimizing the residual volume requiring treatment for final disposal. The product water met the 1×10^{-6} µCi/mL total activity and 1×10^{-8} µCi/mL TRU activity limit requirements for discharge.

Example 4

Facility name:	River Bend nuclear power plant (USA)	
Membrane system:	Ultrafiltration	
Objectives:	 Select a technology based on pilot testing 	
	- Reduce the contribution of organics from walnut	
	shell filtration media	
	 Reduce fouling of ion exchange resins 	

The River Bend nuclear power plant is a BWR plant that began commercial operation in June 1986 [97]. The plant uses walnut shells as filter media. These increase the total organic carbon of the water and contribute to secondary waste generation. A pilot study using advanced processing technology was carried out to determine the possibility of using a backflushable dead end filter (BFF) or ultrafiltration as a replacement for the current system. The advantages of using a BFF or ultrafiltration unit are that there is no contribution of organics from the filtration system itself and the volume of waste generated is less than that of the walnut shells. The ion exchange resin efficiency was also expected to increase since fouling of the resin by the walnut shells would be eliminated.

Initial pilot testing utilized the BFF unit to process floor drain water. However, the rapid plugging of the BFF filters and the short operating cycles proved not to be practical for full scale application. Pilot testing was then resumed with an ultrafiltration unit for five weeks. Again, floor drain water was processed through the unit. The concentrate was routed to a plant sump and the ultrafiltration permeate was directed through two demineralizer vessels charged with carbon and mixed bed ion exchange resin. The demineralizers were able to remove the dissolved contaminants in the stream and the water produced was suitable for recycling to the plant. In addition, the pilot unit was able to process feedwater with a turbidity range of 20–150 NTU and routinely produced ultrafiltration permeate with turbidity values of <0.1 NTU. The ultrafiltration unit essentially removed all suspended solids. In addition, the membranes were backwashed with clean water, which eliminated the need for chemical cleaning. Table 12 shows the DF values and radioisotopic activities for the BFF and ultrafiltration tests.

Equipment type	Feed (mCi/mL)	Demin effluent (mCi/mL)	Overall DF
BFF	$5.7 imes 10^{-4}$	1.5×10^{-5}	39
BFF	6.7×10^{-4}	4.5×10^{-6}	147
BFF	5.8×10^{-4}	1.9×10^{-5}	31
Ultrafiltration	3.7×10^{-4}	4.9×10^{-7}	750
Ultrafiltration	2.9×10^{-4}	5.7×10^{-7}	510
Ultrafiltration	4.9×10^{-4}	4.8×10^{-7}	1030
Ultrafiltration	4.7×10^{-4}	2.2×10^{-7}	2110
Ultrafiltration	4.3×10^{-3}	$6.0 imes 10^{-7}$	7260

TABLE 12. RIVER BEND ACTIVITY REDUCTION RESULTS (COMPARISON OF BFF AND ULTRAFILTRATION)

Example 5

Facility name:	Salem nuclear power plant (USA)
Membrane system:	TUF TM ultrafiltration
Objective:	Reduction of activity in the plant's discharges

The Salem nuclear power plant was one of the first PWRs to use ultrafiltration in their LRW system. The plant consists of twin Westinghouse 1100 MW(e) PWR units [98]. The first unit began commercial operation in June 1977, the second in October 1981. In the 1980s, Salem's primary LRW processing goal centred on reducing costs through volume reduction of contaminated secondary wastes resulting from processing of the LRWs. However, these goals shifted in the 1990s from an emphasis on volume reduction to reduction of activity in plant discharges. In 1995, management set a goal of discharging <0.5 Ci/a while preserving their industry-leading volume reduction performance in LRW processing.

The LRW system in Salem is a collection of liquids from floor drains, sample points, laboratories, primary and auxiliary equipment drains, containment, and other miscellaneous source points. The plant's two principal sources of water are service water and deionized water. The service water is mechanically filtered brackish Delaware Bay water that is high in sodium, conductivity and organics, while the deionized water is high quality demineralized water. The waste collection system provided limited opportunity for segregation of incoming liquids based on water quality. The resulting high conductivity water lessened the efficiency of demineralization with ordinary organic ion exchangers.

By August 1997 the plant completed installation of an LRW processing system that consisted of a tubular ultrafiltration unit and a demineralization system. A WPSTM (waste processing system) was installed and began operation in April 1991 while a TUF system was installed in August 1997 (both from Diversified Technologies Services, Inc., Knoxville, Tennessee).

The ultrafiltration system was the key to reducing effluent discharges while maintaining favourable waste generation rates. The TUF system was designed to provide filtration down to 0.05 μ m, thus protecting the downstream ion exchange beds by removing fouling agents such as suspended solids, oils, greases, and most colloids and metal complexes. The removal of these agents was expected to promote longer bed life and improve the DF. As part of the process of solids removal, a fraction of ^{58/60}Co, ⁵⁴Mg and ¹⁰⁰Ag activity is also removed. This fraction was found particularly important since the removed activity is, by definition, insoluble and not subject to removal by ion exchange. This insoluble activity has chronically plagued demineralizer operations in the past by readily passing through standard filter/demineralizer systems [98]. The WPS demineralizer system was employed downstream of the ultrafiltration and utilized a cascade logic that allowed for utilization of fresh polishing beds downstream of the process beds when an isotopic leakage occured. This configuration allowed production of the highest quality water.

Approximately 31 200 m³ (8.24 million Gal (US)) were processed from April 1991 to August 1997, representing 50–75% of the total water generated and released by the plant. The unprocessed water was generally low activity water that was sampled and discharged if regulatory specifications were met. Since the installation of the ultrafiltration upstream of the demineralizer, water containing hydrazine at concentrations as high as 300 ppb has been successfully processed without addition of hydrogen peroxide, with no detrimental effects on cobalt DFs. In addition, the ultrafiltration removed virtually 100% of the insoluble radioactive species while permitting the bulk of the ionic material to pass through for removal by the demineralizer system.

The introduction of ultrafiltration has minimized or eliminated the need for activated carbon, thereby further reducing the waste disposal volume and cost. From 1991 to 1998, DFs for total activity across the processing system ranged from 10 to 14. With the ultrafiltration removing particulate isotopes upstream of the demineralizer system, the total DFs have increased by approximately 2.5 times. Another measure of system performance and the impact of system changes are the water volumes processed versus Ci released [79]. From 1992 to 1997, prior to ultrafiltration, approximately 10 070 m³ (282 000 Gal (US)) were processed per Ci released. In 1998, with the installation of TUF,

volume/Ci released improved 15 times to 16 120 m³/Ci (4 259 048 Gal (US)/Ci). In 1999, this further increased to 21 180 m³/Ci (5 594 937 Gal (US)/Ci). Through June 2000, the Salem nuclear power plant was averaging 78 000 m³/Ci (20 592 965 Gal (US)/Ci) released.

Example 6

Facility name:	Seabrook nuclear power plant (USA)	
Membrane system:	ultrafiltration	
Objectives:	- Remove colloidal ⁵⁸ Co to below discharge limits	
	 Reduce all other TSSs 	
	 Improve overall performance 	

An ultrafiltration system was installed and tested at the PWR of the Seabrook nuclear power plant with the goal of removing colloidal ⁵⁸Co to below discharge limits of 1×10^{-5} mCi/mL. The plant management was also interested in removing all other TSSs and improving the overall performance of their LRW processing system [97].

The ultrafiltration/demineralization pilot unit was operated in parallel with Seabrook's processing system by taking a sidestream from the wastewater feed line. The spent resin tank drain-down water and the water from the two floor drain tanks were tested.

The processing configuration for testing at Seabrook was similar to that used at the River Bend nuclear power plant (see Example 4), with two exceptions. Only cation resin was used in the demineralizer vessel because the Seabrook nuclear power plant was focused on the removal of ⁵⁸Co. In addition, the ultrafiltration reject was routed through a solids collection system (SCSTM) and returned for recirculation. The purpose of the SCS is to collect and contain the solids separated from the feed wastewater by the ultrafiltration. Therefore, with the SCS in service, no reject stream that would require additional treatment was discharged from the ultrafiltration plant during pilot unit testing.

The pilot test results showed that the 58 Co activity in the ultrafiltration effluent was consistently at or below Seabrook's discharge limit of 1×10^{-5} mCi/mL. The 58 Co activity in the product water taken from the sidestream was also consistently equal to or less than that in the plant system effluent. It was also demonstrated that more than 90% of the total activity was removed with TSS by the ultrafiltration system. No chemical cleaning of the membranes was required. In addition, no coagulants were needed or added, and no pH adjustments were made to the waste stream.

Facility name:	Callaway nuclear power plant (USA)
Membrane system:	Ultrafiltration
Objectives:	- Reduce the plant's liquid effluent mixed fission and
	activation product activity
	 Reduce the occupational radiation dose

The Callaway nuclear power plant's management was interested in reducing the plant's liquid effluent mixed fission and activation product activity to less than 0.25 Ci/a and in lowering the radiation dose to less than 1% of specified annual limits. For an annual generation of 4540–6060 m³ (1.2–1.6 million Gal (US)) at the Callaway nuclear power plant, 0.25 Ci/a corresponds to an average of 4.1×10^{-5} mCi/mL in the plant's liquid effluent [99].

Using advanced processing technologies such as ultrafiltration, ion exchange, and SCS, 757 m³ (200 000 Gal (US)) of waste were processed from March to June 2001. The processed waste was taken from the FDT, the equipment drain tank (WHUT) and the reactor coolant system waste tank (RHUT). Table 13 gives the averages for the chemical and radiological characteristics of the waste.

Four ultrafiltration modules were used to process the RHUT wastes. The flow rate was limited to about 5.7 m³/h (25 gal/min) because of a high pressure drop through the plant's ion exchange system. The testing unit processed 760 m³ (200 000 Gal (US)) of this waste. No fouling of the ultrafiltration membranes was observed and thus no back-flushing or chemical cleaning of the membranes was required. The ultrafiltration unit removed about 70% of the total activity as suspended solids. The remaining activity was then removed to minimum detectable activity (MDA) by the test ion exchange system. The ⁵⁸Co was always removed to MDA levels.

One ultrafiltration module was used to process the FDT water. The ultrafiltration permeate was discharged to the floor drain for recycling into the plant rather than routing it through the plant's ion exchange system. This unusual step was requested by the plant management because of previous unsuccessful attempts at processing this waste through the plant's ion exchange system. The FDT waste was processed successfully, with 89% of the total activity removed as suspended solids by the ultrafiltration unit. Again, the remaining activity was reduced to MDA or to low 1×10^{-8} mCi/mL levels by the differently configured test ion exchange system. As in the case of the RHUT runs, ⁵⁸Co was removed to MDA. Complete recovery of the permeate flow was achieved by backflushing. No chemical cleaning was required.

	RHUT	FDT	WHUT
Annual volume (m ³ (Gal (US))	2250–30308 (600 000–800 000)	1140–1510 (300 000–400 000)	1140–1510 (300 000–400 000)
Average conductivity (mS/cm)	90	660	300
Average activity (mCi/mL)	1.30×10^{-3}	3.60×10^{-3}	7.50×10^{-3}
Co-58 (mCi/mL)	5.77×10^{-4}	2.4×10^{-3}	3.11×10^{-3}
Co-60 (mCi/mL)	5.90×10^{-4}	1.10×10^{-3}	1.60×10^{-3}
Cs-134 (mCi/mL)	1.29×10^{-5}	1.20×10^{-5}	5.76×10^{-5}
Cs-137 (mCi/mL)	2.80×10^{-5}	4.50×10^{-5}	1.80×10^{-4}

TABLE 13. CALLAWAY LIQUID WASTE: AVERAGE CHARACTERISTICS

In June 2001 a new correctly configured ion exchange system and other components were added to the original system. This full scale system is capable of processing the waste at a higher rate of 115 L/m (30 gal/min). Including the test period, as of November 2001 more than 1890 m³ (500 000 Gal (US)) of various waste streams had been processed. The performance of the full scale system has confirmed the results reported above. The 530 L (18.8 ft³) of SCS waste contained all the TSSs. Approximately 90% of the activity from the wastewater was also present in the SCS waste. The SCS waste has been certified for direct disposal at the radioactive waste disposal site.

In summary, the ultrafiltration unit was highly effective in removing virtually 100% of suspended solids, thereby preventing fouling of the resin beds as well as causing colloidal particles to bypass the beds. The unit eliminated the use of chemical injection that would shorten the life of the resin beds and consequently increase the secondary waste volume. The unit has also successfully processed high conductivity wastes and reduced radioactive isotopes to undetectable levels.

Example 8

Facility name:	Diablo Canyon nuclear power plant (USA)
Membrane system:	TUF ultrafiltration
Objective:	Select technology for spent media transfer liquids

The Diablo Canyon nuclear power plant has tested two ultrafiltration systems to process separate batches of spent media transfer liquid (sluice water). The liquid was high in sub-micrometre particulate activity and has proved to be the most difficult liquid for the in-plant system to process [81].

Diablo Canyon's current LRW system features segregated collection tanks, an in-plant filtration and ion exchange treatment subsystem, provisions for the use of mobile liquid treatment systems, and a filtered discharge subsystem. However, the in-plant subsystem is not capable of processing spent media transfer liquids from letdown, shutdown and spent fuel pool demineralizers high in sub-micrometre particulate activity. The LRW system routinely receives 3785–5677 m³ (1–1.5 million Gal (US)) of LRW per year containing 15–30 Ci.

The in-plant treatment subsystem consisted of a layered carbon bed followed by three deep bed vessels and a polishing cartridge filter. The carbon bed serves as a pre-filter and can remove organics and particulates down to about 3 mm. The carbon bed was followed by a zeolite bed, a cation bed and an anion bed. However, sub-micrometre particulate activity could not be removed effectively with the carbon bed as a pre-filter or by the sub-micrometre cartridge in the downstream polishing vessel. Addition of polymers to agglomerate the particles for removal on the carbon was not practical because the entire carbon bed must be disposed of when it becomes fouled. Therefore other technologies were considered.

In 1999 a mobile TUF system service was installed at Diablo Canyon. The TUF unit collected waste liquid in a shielded conical bottom feed tank. Liquid was metered from the tank to the TUF modules. The filtered product liquid was then sent to the plant for further ion exchange treatment. The reject was recycled back to the shielded feed tank. The flow in the reject loop was maintained at about 378 L/m (100 gal/min) to prevent activity from adhering to the TUF modules. The ultrafiltration reject was metered from the shielded feed tank onto a spent carbon medium in a steel shuttle liner for future processing.

A total of 45 m^3 (11 910 Gal (US)) of sluice water containing 5.3 Ci of gamma activity were processed in three days and 4.7 Ci of particulate activity were removed. The TUF liquid was then routed back to the plant for treatment by ion exchange. All of the liquid was successfully treated in-plant and

discharged. At the end of the testing period the membranes were removed, press packed into a $0.13 \text{ m}^3 (4.7 \text{ ft}^3)$ drum and disposed of at the Barnwell site.

In 2001, the Diablo Canyon nuclear power plant also tested a second ultrafiltration module. This 57 L/m (15 gal/min) modular system consisted of a waste feed pump skid, an ultrafiltration module skid, a recirculation pump skid, a clean in-place tank, a control console and an SCS. It was used to process 60 m³ (16 000 Gal (US)) of sluice water containing 5 Ci of gamma activity.

Waste liquid was metered to the ultrafiltration modules by the feed pump. The filtered product liquid was sent to the plant for further treatment by ion exchange. The reject was recycled to the ultrafiltration modules at a very high flow rate of more than 1515 L/m (400 gal/min). This high flow rate was used to prevent fouling of the membranes. All of the effluent from the ultrafiltration system was successfully treated in-plant by ion exchange and discharged. It should be noted that due to the SCS technology deployed no ultrafiltration reject effluent that would require additional processing was produced. The system did not appear to have intrinsic hot spots other than low point drains and could be transported, including the membranes, to the next project. No chemical cleaning was required before the system was shipped from the plant site.

Based on this experience, both ultrafiltration systems provided a product liquid that was free of particulate activity for the in-plant exchange system. However, innovative design characteristics such as membrane reusability, much lower secondary waste produced, elimination of reject that requires additional treatment (SCS), hot spot prevention and improved operability showed that the ultrafiltration technology for nuclear applications had significantly improved between the tests.

Example 9

Facility name:	Mound Laboratory (USA)
Membrane system:	Ultrafiltration
Objectives:	Process alpha contaminated waste from fuel
	reprocessing

An ultrafiltration system was tested to treat LRW from the reprocessing of irradiated nuclear fuel at the Mound Laboratory (USA) [34, 100]. The content of radionuclides in the initial waste stream did not exceed 16 000 Bq/L (the main radionuclide being ²³⁸Pu). The waste feed had a mild alkaline reaction (e.g. pH of 7.2–8.5) and a suspended matter content of 5–100 mg/L. The ultrafiltration system used tubular membrane elements. The pilot installation consisted of a bank of 32 three metre long tubular elements with a total

membrane surface of 6.5 m². The initial productivity of the installation was $4.5 \text{ m}^3/\text{h}$. More than 450 m³ of LRW were processed. In the test operation, approximately 80–99% of alpha radionuclides were retained. In the subsequent full scale installation, the retention of various radionuclides was as follows:

- ²⁴¹Am: 98.9%; - ²³⁷Np: 69.1%; - ²³³U: 93.7%; - ²³⁸Pu: 98.6%.

Example 10

Facility name:	AECL Chalk River Laboratory (Canada)	
Membrane system:	Microfiltration and reverse osmosis	
Objectives:	 Investigate and verify the application of membrane technology for treatment of LRWs Treat the laboratory's LRWs 	

Most of the detailed information on performance of a reverse osmosis system applied for cleaning liquid radioactive effluents has been reported in Refs [57, 58, 81–83]. Development of a membrane installation for cleaning LRW at AECL Research Laboratories at Chalk River, Canada, began in the 1970s [81]. The objective was development and acquisition of a two stage reverse osmosis system with a productivity of 28 000 m³/a. The concentrated reject from the reverse osmosis system (e.g. up to 5 wt%) was to be bitumenized.

The LRWs at the AECL nuclear research centre are characterized by a salinity of up to 5 g/L and specific radioactivity of up to 2×10^5 Bq/L (⁵⁰Mn, ⁵¹Cr, ⁶⁰Co, ⁹⁵Zr, ¹⁰³Ru, ¹⁴⁴Ce). Research and exploratory work was conducted in the 1980s which enabled design of a full scale system consisting of cross-flow microfiltration, spirally wound reverse osmosis (first stage) and tubular reverse osmosis (second stage), as shown in Fig. 45 [81].

The feed, that is the LRW to be treated, is collected in a fresh feed tank then pumped into the hollow fibre microfiltration apparatus. The microfiltration concentrates and the products of the gas membrane backwash are routed into the thin-film evaporator, representing the first evaporation stage. The evaporator bottoms are then processed, together with other concentrates, in the second stage evaporator/bitumenizer to produce a bituminized product. The microfiltration permeate is routed into a collection tank (spirally wound reverse osmosis feed tank), becoming the reverse osmosis feedwater. The spirally wound reverse osmosis apparatus consists of nine modules, arranged as a three stage cascade in the proportion 5:3:1, as the flow rate of feedwater is reduced because of the permeate withdrawal. Each module (with a diameter of 100 mm and a length of 6 m) contains six spirally wound Filmtec SW30HR RO elements. The membrane packing density in the element is 1000 m³/m². The operating pressure at the inlet of the cascade is 2.7 MPa. The total flow rate of the treated solution through the cascade is up to 3 m³/h. The permeate, almost completely cleaned from all toxic impurities, including radio-nuclides, R > 0.99, is accumulated in a discharge tank and then discharged into the environment (Table 14) Alternatively, the concentrate from the spirally wound reverse osmosis apparatus could be directed to the SWRO feed tank for recirculation or into tubular reverse osmosis feed tanks for further treatment by the tubular reverse osmosis system.

The tubular reverse osmosis system consists of three successively connected banks of eight tubular modules arranged in parallel. Each module (length 4 m, diameter 0.1 m) has 18 tubular membranes with a diameter of 1.3 cm. A working pressure of 4 MPa is used. The general content of salts and suspensions in the final concentrate is as high as 40 g/L. This concentrate was then directed to the thin-film evaporator and treated together with the concentrates arriving from the microfiltration pretreatment system. The concentrates fed to the thin-film evaporator are bituminized in 200 L galvanized steel drums furnished with an anti-corrosive layer. The system processes approximately 2200 m³ of LRW annually.

Radionuclide	Microfiltration	Spirally wound reverse osmosis	Tubular reverse osmosis	Plant efficiency
α	81.2 ± 15.5	97.3 ± 4.3	98.5 ± 2.2	99.9
β, γ	55.6 ± 20.8	99.3 ± 1.2	~99.9	99.6
¹⁴⁴ Ce	75.7 ± 20.8	99.4 ± 0.7	~100.0	99.6
⁶⁰ Co	55.1 ± 26.6	99.7 ± 0.2	~100.0	99.6
¹³⁷ Cs	17.5 ± 14.6	98.6 ± 2.1	99.8 ± 0.4	98.6
Total solids	16.0 ± 14.4	98.5 ± 4.0	98.7 ± 3.5	99.5
Ca	12.7 ± 13.1	97.3 ± 1.3	~100.0	99.5
Fe	69.6 ± 26.4	98.2 ± 1.6	~100.0	99.5
Mg	21.6 ± 16.3	98.2 ± 1.1	~100.0	99.5
SO^{2-}	_	99.5 ± 0.8	~100.0	99.5
PO_{4}^{3-}	10.0 ± 7.3	99.8 ± 0.1	~99.99	99.8

TABLE 14. CONTAMINANT REMOVAL EFFICIENCIES

Facility name:	AECL Chalk River Laboratory (Canada)	
Membrane system:	Microfiltration	
Objective:	Demonstrate cleaning of contaminated groundwaters	
	and soils	

Noticeable progress in the use of microfiltration for cleaning contaminated groundwaters and soils has been made by AECL's Chalk River Laboratory [57, 58, 82, 83, 89–92]. In the systems developed and introduced by AECL, microfiltration can work as a self-contained process for cleaning radioactive groundwaters [92] and also as a pretreatment step prior to reverse osmosis, as shown in Fig. 45. Since the overall system has been described elsewhere, only the microfiltration experience is addressed in the following.

A hollow fibre microfiltration system (model 40M1) with a nominal pore size of 0.2 μ m was introduced at Chalk River in 1988. The membrane elements had to be completely replaced in 1992. The cross-flow microfiltration system contains 40 filtration modules, approximately 6 cm in diameter and 50 cm long. Each filter module contains polypropylene hollow fibre membranes arranged in a shell and tube geometry. The total membrane surface area available for filtration in each module is about 1 m². The system is configured as two individual banks of 20 modules operating in parallel from a common surge tank. Each bank of 20 modules is further divided into two stages of 10 modules operating in series.

Feed flows tangentially across, over, and around the hollow fibre membranes at a sufficient cross-flow velocity to keep the solids in suspension, thus minimizing deposition and fouling. A small fraction (about 10%) of the total feed flow passes through the membrane into the centre of the tube or lumen and exits as a filtrate. The unfiltered portion of the feed is recycled to the system surge tank. The inlet feed pressure to the first stage is normally 300 kPa. The differential pressure across each stage is normally 40–50 kPa at a cross-flow rate of 245–285 L/min. At a filtrate production rate of 25 L/min per bank, the TMP drop, which is the average feed pressure minus the filtrate pressure, is in the range of 20–100 kPa.

To maintain productivity and performance of the membranes at the design values, the membranes are periodically backwashed by gas. Air at high pressure (e.g. 700 kPa) is periodically introduced into the filtrate side of the system and instantaneously expanded through the hollow fibre into the feed, thereby releasing accumulated solids from the membrane surface. Feedwater is then used to flush the remaining solids from the system. The duration of the backwash sequence is approximately 90 seconds. Backwash is started

automatically by a panel mounted timer, or manually by a push button. The system is chemically cleaned periodically, usually with an alkaline detergent. Chemical cleaning is required when the TMP exceeds 100 kPa at normal filtrate production rates of 15–25 L/min or if the cross-flow pressure drop across the feed channel exceeds 80 kPa.

In the early 1990s it was demonstrated on this system that microfiltration can successfully compete with ultrafiltration as long as the correct selection of reagents for the sedimentation of toxic impurities (including radionuclides) from the radioactive groundwaters and soil leachate is ensured. Based on the research work, a process flow diagram of the application of microfiltration to treat groundwaters and contaminated soils is given in Fig. 47.

During the 7-month pilot plant demonstration in 1991, about 120 m³ of radioactive groundwaters contaminated with ⁹⁰Sr were cleaned. The concentration of ⁹⁰Sr was reduced from 1700–3900 Bq/L to 2 Bq/L. These concentrations were lower by a factor of 5 than the Canadian drinking water standards for ⁹⁰Sr. Since 1991 the groundwater treatment system has processed over 20 000 m³.

In another test of the microfiltration installation, with pH adjustment of the treated solution the following retention factors of radionuclides in radioactive groundwaters were reached:

- Up to 70% for α radionuclides;
- Up to 45% for β/γ radionuclides;
- Up to 98% for Fe (e.g. from 50 to 1 mg/L).

It must be noted that up to 60% of the β radioactivity in the permeate was from ¹³⁷Cs [58, 92].

Appendix II

OTHER MEMBRANE SEPARATION METHODS

This appendix provides information on membrane separation methods other than those utilizing pressure as their process driving force. The process driving forces in the methods described below are based on an electrical potential gradient, temperature gradient or concentration gradient. In some cases the process driving force may be a combination of gradients. It should be noted, however, that the processes described here do not cover all existing membrane separation methods.

Some of the processes described have been used in laboratory or pilot scale experiments and are in development. Other processes have been used in non-radioactive applications but may have potential for the treatment of radioactive waste liquids. Another group has been used for the treatment of radioactive liquids. In this group the process has either been used far less than pressure driven membrane methods (and would require further significant development to become truly practical or a method of choice) or a process has been used to treat a specific radioactive liquid rather than LRWs in general.

MEMBRANE TYPES

The separation processes addressed in this appendix usually use different types of membrane than those used in pressure driven processes. This specifically applies to processes utilizing electrical potential gradient as the process driving force, which use ion exchange type membranes.

Ion exchange (ion selective) membranes

Ion exchange (ion selective) membranes allow the selective transport through the membrane of ions or molecules carrying a certain electric charge. The properties of ion exchange membranes are closely related to those of ion exchange resins but the purpose of these membranes, when used in processes driven by electrical potential gradient, is not the exchange of ions but rather the controlled and selective transport of ions through the membrane.

An ion exchange membrane is a foil or a plate made of an ion exchange substance, which is usually a synthetic resin or a macromolecular substance, containing firmly bound (fixed) functional groups with a charge that dissociates when in contact with water or ions. These ion exchangers have the characteristics of a polyelectrolyte with ionized groups bound to the polymeric structure of the membrane.

The charge of fixed functional groups in the membrane must be compensated by an equivalent number of oppositely charged ions. They are not fixed by means of covalent bonds and can move freely through the polymeric network until an equilibrium of charges is reached. These mobile ions are called 'counter-ions' and the membrane is selectively permeable for them.

Irregular distribution of bound functional groups in a polymeric skeleton of the membrane causes irregularities in the uniformity of spatial charge. These irregularities allow a passage of 'co-ions', i.e. ions with a charge identical to that of functional groups in the membrane.

From the perspective of the physical structure of the membrane, these polymeric ion exchange membranes are heterogeneous and their structure is characterized by ion exchange materials dispersed in an inert polymeric carrier. This offers a broad scope of possible production technologies. An important factor in the attainment of high efficiency of the membranes is the uniform distribution of the ion exchange materials in the inert binder. An n ion exchange membrane can be represented in a simple way by a homogeneous model, as shown in Fig. 48.

Three basic types of ion exchange membrane can be distinguished relative to the nature of the fixed functional groups:

- (1) Cation exchange membranes (CMs) containing firmly bonded acid anionic groups such as $-SO_3^-$, $-COO^-$, $-PO_3^{2-}$, $-AsO_3^{2-}$, etc., that allow passage of positively charged ions only, since passage of negatively charged ions is considerably restricted.
- (2) Anion exchange membranes (AMs) containing fixed basic cationic groups based on quaternary ammonium groups $-NR^{3+}$ (where R is the hydrogen or alkyl group) that allow free passage for negatively charged ions only, since passage of positively charged ions is highly restricted.
- (3) Bipolar membranes (BMs) that are a combination of CMs and AMs, thus containing both functional groups. Bipolar membranes are composed of two layers of membrane materials, each containing one type of functional group. The membrane layers are bound together using a suitable $2-5 \ \mu m$ thick 'intermediate zone' between the layers of. The BMs are a source of H⁺ and OH⁻ ions that are produced in the intermediate zone by water dissociation.

The majority of ion exchange membranes have low selectivity for ions of one specific (i.e. positive, or negative) charge. To increase the membrane's ion selectivity, the thin $(0.1-1 \ \mu m)$ layer of a membrane surface can be modified to



FIG. 48. Homogeneous ion exchange charged membrane immersed in a solution of binary electrolyte (\ominus : fixed charges (in this case negatively charged), \bullet : cations, O: anions).

act as an energy barrier, which enhances passage of similarly charged counterions [101]. Modification of the membrane surface may include etching, deposition of a polymeric ion exchange layer with an opposite electric charge, and various other methods.

Ion exchange membranes with hydrophobic structure

Some processes, such as membrane electrolysis, utilize ion exchange membranes with hydrophobic structures. The water content in such membranes does not exceed 3–4 molecules of water for each ion exchange group. Such membranes have strong electrical resistance, but can separate solutions containing various water dissociation products (H_3O^+ and OH^-). An example of such membranes is the NAFION type of membrane [102].

Inorganic ion exchange membranes

While the use of polymeric ion exchange membranes is subject to similar restrictions to those for the polymeric pressure driven membranes, there have

been efforts by the industry to develop inorganic ion exchange membranes having high ionic selectivity.

References [103, 104] describe a method of inorganic ion exchange membrane preparation by precipitation of barium phosphosilicate on a porous ceramic substrate made of alumosilicate materials with average pore sizes ranging from 0.3 to 2.5 μ m. The tests have shown that these membranes can withstand radiation exposures of 7.5×10^6 Gy without deterioration of their frame. This method of membrane preparation and the verification of their performance are still in the early stages of development.

Development and fabrication of tubular membranes based on the composite material NASICON has been reported from the USA [105, 106]. The membranes are characterized by a high diffusion rate of Na⁺ ions in the matrix of the material, but other single charged cations have diffusion coefficients orders of magnitude lower. NASICON (Na₃Zr₂Si₂PO₁₂) is also claimed to have high radiation resistance. The specific ion transport properties of NASICON are assumed to permit the following potential radioactive applications:

- (a) Regeneration of ion exchange resins;
- (b) Regulation of pH and an increase of sodium removal from radioactive solutions before extraction of ¹³⁷Cs;
- (c) Extraction of sodium from high level radioactive sludges;
- (d) Extraction of sodium from acidic LRWs.

Liquid organic membranes

There are three basic types of liquid organic membrane, as shown in Fig. 49:

- (1) Volumetric (or 'bulk') liquid membranes;
- (2) Membrane emulsions;
- (3) SLMs.



FIG. 49. Main types of liquid organic membrane: (1) volumetric liquid membranes, (2) membrane emulsions, (3) SLMs (1: treated water solution, 2: liquid membrane, 3: receiving water solution).

ELECTRICAL POTENTIAL (ΔE) DRIVEN PROCESSES

Some membrane processes use an electric field as the process driving force. These processes separate ions from solution by transferring ions through membranes under the influence of an electric field differential. They differ from pressure driven processes in that the ionic species are transported through the membrane rather than the solvent. The processes invariably use ion exchange membranes.

Three main processes in this category have been tested or utilized on a limited scale for processing LRWs:

- (1) Electrodialysis;
- (2) Electro-osmotic concentration;
- (3) Membrane electrolysis.

These may be complemented in the future by such processes as electrofiltration, electrosorption, electrochemical ion exchange and electro-osmofiltration. General information on processes utilizing electrical potential gradient (AE) as a driving process force can be found in Refs [1, 38, 107].

Electrodialysis

The electrodialysis process

Electrodialysis is a well established membrane technology that has been used widely for the desalination of brackish water. It is also used to separate monovalent ions from multivalent ions.

Electrodialysis systems are generally stacks of multiple compartments placed between two electrodes, separated by alternating cation and anion permeable membranes. The process feedwater flows through all the compartments (channels are available for water flow on either side of each membrane). A direct current electrical charge is applied to the electrodes. Positively charged ions are drawn through the cation permeable membranes to the cathode, whereas the negatively charged ions are drawn through the anode permeable membranes to the anode. The ions migrate to the appropriate electrode until a membrane that is permeable only to the opposite charge stops them. Under the influence of the electrical field, every other flow channel becomes ion depleted and the adjacent channels become ion enriched. Both positive and negative ions are concentrated in the ion enriched compartments [33]. The principle of ion transport in electrodialysis is shown in Fig. 50 [108].



FIG. 50. Principle of electrodialysis.

To reduce membrane fouling, most new electrodialysis systems use reversible electrodialysis. By reversing the polarity in the cells, ionic flow in the concentrating and depleting cells is reversed. Fouling, precipitates and surface films tend to either re-dissolve or are physically dislodged. Reversible electrodialysis is possible by using BMs that can operate in either anion or cation selective modes.

Electrodialysis is predominantly used in a plate and frame type of processing equipment. Some electrodialysers also utilize tubular membranes [38, 109]. Both arrangements exhibit low specific membrane surfaces (e.g. less than 300 m^2/m^3). Patents on the use of electrodialysis for cleaning LRWs are described in Refs [110–115].

Advantages and disadvantages of electrodialysis

The advantages of electrodialysis include the following [33]:

- (a) Electrodialysis cells can operate at nominal pressures and temperatures;
- (b) The ion enriched stream can be concentrated to salt levels of 20% or more, which is higher than the level achievable by other membrane treatment processes;
- (c) With proper feedwater pretreatment and regular cleaning, the membranes exhibit reasonable useful lifetimes.

Electrodialysis also has the following disadvantages:

- (1) The electrolysis products which evolve on the electrodes, i.e. water, hydrogen and oxygen, can form an explosive admixture;
- (2) Electrodialysis does not remove uncharged impurities such as suspensions and emulsions, hydrolysing cation forms, molecular impurities, neutrally charged complexes and the majority of organic compounds from treated solutions;
- (3) Ion exchange membranes can be 'poisoned' with multiple charged ions (i.e. iron ions) and organic ions (including surfactants), which are frequently present in treated radioactive wastes;
- (4) An overflow of electric current can cause the formation of precipitates of hydroxides, carbonates and other compounds (in some cases the crystalline sludge is immediately formed in the membrane body);
- (5) Concentration polarization of ion exchange membranes frequently invokes precipitation of slightly soluble compounds in the concentrate pathways of the equipment;
- (6) Transport of significant quantities of ions through a membrane (for example, in desalination of high salinity liquids) results in excessive power consumption;
- (7) Suspended solids or high organic levels can clog or foul the membranes;
- (8) Oxidizing materials and ferrous or manganous ion concentrations greater than 0.3 ppm (0.3 mg/L) can damage the membrane;
- (9) At alkaline pH values, membrane life may be reduced;
- (10) Calcium concentrations above 400 ppm (400 mg/L) can cause precipitation of calcium sulphate scale.

Electrodialysis utilization

Electrodialysis is most suitable for acidic streams containing a single principal metal ion, but can also be used for treating alkaline feedwaters. Electrodialysis is used in a number of industries and applications, including salt removal from brine and demineralization of brackish waters. New applications have been developed for electrodialysis in the food and pharmaceutical industry because the relatively gentle separation does not damage or thermally decompose the products.

Electrodialysis has been used to a limited extent on waste streams in the nuclear industry. New developments in membrane materials and production technologies are increasing the potential applications of electrodialysis, but large scale application for the treatment of radioactive wastes has not been achieved. The following is a brief overview of some applications of electrodialysis in the nuclear industry:

(a) An experimental electrodialysis facility [116] was started in 1964 at a Moscow plant for LRW treatment (Fig. 50). It had a productivity of up to 100 m³/d of treated LRW. In the first stage of the electrodialyser, the DF for LRW was 2–4 and for beta nuclides the DF was 2–5. After the second stage of the electrodialyser, the DF for radioactive wastes was 20–40, and for beta nuclides 100–30 000. The study indicated that the process scheme described was 70% more cost effective than that provided by ion exchange. Further development in 1987 of the scheme depicted in Fig. 51 is shown in Fig. 52. [117, 118]. The main difference is the use of dead end



FIG. 51. Flow diagram of a radioactive water cleaning system in an experimental industrial electrodialysis application: (1) second stage electrodialyser, (2) first stage electrodialyser, (3) tank of concentrate, (4) tank of electrode washing solution, (5) tank for separation of gases, (6) tank with 20% HNO₃, (7–9) pumps.

flow concentrate chambers for further concentrating brines produced in the first electrodialysis stage.

- (b) Test data from 1986 for a pilot electrodialysis facility [119] that processed low level radioactive acidic waters showed that electrodialysis can successfully remove ⁹⁰Sr, ¹³⁷Cs, ¹²⁹I, ¹⁰⁶Ru and Hg. For radionuclides the DF equalled 10.
- (c) Liquid mercury was used as a cathode in an electrodialysis unit used in Armenia [120] in 1987, and an electrodialysis apparatus was installed at the Armenian nuclear power plant.
- (d) Electrodialysis was examined for treatment of radioactive wastes between 1979 and 1987 in Japan [121–123].
- (e) Laboratory research [121, 124] has demonstrated that electrodialysis is capable of removing radionuclides, producing a clean water product.
- (f) An experimental industrial electrodialysis facility (on a scale of 1:100 to the designed plant) was tested on low level LRW in 1984 [125]. The concentrated liquid waste after treatment contained ¹⁰⁶Ru, ⁵¹Cr, ¹³¹I, ¹³⁷Cs and other toxic non-radioactive components up to 10% of the initial volume. The production rate of the installation was 18 L/h.



FIG. 52. Block diagram of an electrodialysis installation for cleaning radioactive liquids: (1) feedwater pretreatment, (2) first stage electrodialyser, (3) second stage electrodialyser, (4) electrodialyser concentrator.

- (g) A facility for cleaning LRW generated in the operation of Russian nuclear powered ice-breakers and submarines has been described in Refs [126, 127]. The facility, implemented in 1994, has the capability to process up to 5000 m³/a of LRW. This stationary system includes a cascade of seven water cleaning modules, one of which is electrodialysis and includes four regular electrodialysers and two electrodialyser concentrators with dead end flow concentrate chambers. The scheme of the electrolysis modules is a simplified variant of the flow diagram in Fig. 51.
- (h) Reference [128] describes another variant of an electrolysis based system for treatment of LRW. The results of experimental tests with this 100 L/h system are described. A DF of 140 was reached in this electrodialysis application.
- (i) Electrodialysis has been installed in an existing membrane treatment facility at Los Alamos National Laboratory, USA, in order to reduce the volume of reverse osmosis concentrate prior to evaporation [56]. Approximately 24 000 L/d of reverse osmosis concentrate are processed in an electrodialysis reversal unit to reduce the feed volume to the evaporator to 4800 L/d. The product stream is recycled to the existing reverse osmosis plant.

Electrodialysis using liquid organic membranes

This method does not differ fundamentally from conventional electrodialysis. The main difference is that instead of a firm polymeric membrane, either SLMs [129] or 'bulk' liquid membranes [130] are used. The use of an electric field to intensify ionic transport through liquid membranes was described in the 1970s [131, 132] However, difficulties have been encountered in the use of liquid organic membranes that have prevented their utilization in industrial applications.

Membrane electrolysis

Membrane electrolysis utilizes ion exchange membranes with hydrophobic structures. Membrane electrolysis is carried out in an electrolyser, which has electrodes separated by a membrane. A membrane electrolyser may be of a two chamber design (i.e. electrode chambers are separated by one membrane) or a three chamber design (i.e. each electrode chamber is separated by a membrane, while the treated solution occupies the inter-membrane space in the central chamber).

A three chamber membrane electrolyser has been used in nuclear fuel fabrication activities for obtaining HNO₃ and NH₄OH from a NH₄NO₃ solution

[133]. In another application [134], a method of regenerating acid electrolyte used for decontamination of equipment surfaces has been considered. In this application, the membrane electrolyser was divided into two chambers by an AM. The treated solution was introduced into the cathodic chamber. While anions pass into the anodic chamber under the influence of electric current, where an accumulation of acid occurs the cations, including radionuclides, precipitate on the cathode.

Electrosorption, electrofiltration and electrochemical ion exchange

In electrosorption [38], simultaneous use of sorbents and electric current was tried to increase efficiency of the electrodialyser chambers by introducing ion exchange materials into them [135]. However, the construction of such electrodialysers using ion exchange fillers became complicated and constrained broader utilization of this developing technology. However, efforts continued through the 1990s [136, 137]. A number of variants on the basic process have been developed, defined as 'contact electrosorption', 'non-contact electrosorption', 'true electrosorption', etc. [138]. Examples of these applications, including processes such as electrosorption, electrofiltration and electrochemical ion exchange, can be found in Refs [62, 139–143].

CONCENTRATION GRADIENT (ΔC) DRIVEN PROCESSES

Some membrane processes operate solely on the basis of a concentrated driving force between a feed and a receiving solution. Solutes can be transferred in both directions, depending on the concentration difference. The most common of these processes is dialysis, which has been developed as an artificial kidney replacement. Several other processes (e.g. membrane solvent extraction (MSX), ELMs) use concentration and other liquid properties together as the driving force for separation. Some of these processes are described in this appendix.

Dialysis

Dialysis is a rate governed membrane process in which a microsolute is driven across a membrane by means of a concentration gradient. The membrane separates solutes by size, and the process relies solely on diffusion. Both phases on each side of the membrane consist of aqueous solutions. Dialysis has not been used in the nuclear industry, although other concentration gradient processes that are descended from dialysis have been tested experimentally.

Membrane solvent extraction

Membrane solvent extraction relies on concentration differences and different solubilities of species in an organic extractant. It consists of a microporous membrane separating an organic and an aqueous phase, and is essentially the same process as conventional solvent extraction except that the interfacial area is known in MSX.

Recently developed MSX processes using microporous hollow fibres are of particular interest because of their versatility and the fact that they overcome problems encountered in conventional liquid–liquid extraction [144]. Non-dispersive membrane solvent extraction (NDMSX) is simply liquid–liquid extraction in a hollow fibre contactor which involves the use of a standard commercial hollow fibre module to contact an aqueous phase without dispersion, which minimizes the possibility of forming emulsion/third phase or crud formation with extractant; a second module would be used to strip the solute from the loaded organic phase.

The hollow fibre modules may also be connected in series or in parallel and the length and diameters of the fibres and modules can be varied to provide the required interfacial area. Such membrane processes not only remove the required components from the streams but can also concentrate the species on the product side simultaneously for further processing. Compared to conventional systems, membrane contactors provide various advantages such as non-dispersion of the phases in contact; independently variable flow rates without flooding limitations; lack of phase density difference limitations; lack of phase separation requirements; higher surface area per unit volume values, which may be up to $10^4 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^3$; and direct scale-up due to a modular design. These advantages may be offset, however, by an increased mass transfer resistance because of the need for diffusion through the membrane pores. However, recent results indicate that with careful design this resistance can be minimized.

In another study [145] a hollow fibre contactor was fabricated and experiments were conducted for extraction of macro amounts of uranium from reprocessing waste using a TBP/n-dodecane system. In an integrated membrane system, U(VI) (116 g/L) was extracted into an organic phase and subsequently re-extracted using 0.05M HNO₃. Some of the important results obtained established the potential for recovering high concentrations of uranium from low concentration feed stock.

Nuclear fuel reprocessing plants generating large amounts of radioactive wastes, such as condensate waste, could be treated with the NDMSX technique under suitable chemical conditions [146]. Preliminary tests were conducted [147] with a microporous hollow-filter membrane module for the liquid–liquid

extraction of actinides to evaluate the feasibility of recovering actinides or processing radioactive wastes. This work involved analysis of the potential for using these modules for process scale metal separation such as radioactive waste stream cleaning and environmental remediation. Similarly, Rogers and Lang [148] predicted the performance of shallow filter membrane contactor modules for extracting compounds with interfacial chemical reactions.

Supported liquid membrane

In a SLM an organic liquid is immobilized in the pores of a microporous membrane. Feed solution is contacted on one side of the membrane, extracted into the trapped organic phase, and stripped on the other side of the membrane by a strip solution. As an alternative to conventional solvent extraction or MSX the SLM has the advantage of very low solvent inventories. However, the membranes often suffer from poor stability. This has led to the development of the hollow fibre contained liquid membrane, which consists of a bundle of hollow fibres immersed in a stationary organic (contained liquid membrane). Feed and strip solution flow through the lumen of adjacent fibres and liquid separation is achieved.

Research in this field is continuing with the use of flat supported membranes and with membranes based on thin, hydrophobic, porous, hollow fibres. It has been reported that most of the research is being carried out in:

- (a) The USA, on recovery of Am, Pu, lanthanide and I-II group metals;
- (b) South Africa, on isolation of 134,137 Cs and 90 Sr from storage pool water;
- (c) France, on consecutive recovery of the most radiotoxic components $(^{134,137}Cs, {}^{90}Sr, actinides)$.

The processes of uranium compounds transported through SLMs have also been studied on a smaller scale in Japan, Pakistan, South Africa, Taiwan and the Republic of Korea. In France, research on membrane extraction with SLMs is a part of the French radioactive waste management programme ACTINEX [149].

Industrial scale modules were used at the Hanford site in the USA to test SLM separation of uranium (VI) from actual contaminated groundwater [150]. The uranium concentration was reduced by a factor of approximately 3500. The apparatus for membrane extraction consisted of polypropylene microporous fibres with a total surface of 3.6 m² [151]. Trilauryl amine dissolved in N-dodecane was used as a liquid membrane. Another example of the use of an apparatus with hollow fibre SLMs is given in Ref. [152], but the results are

irrelevant from the viewpoint of radionuclide extraction. Further research in this field has been reported in Refs [153–161].

TEMPERATURE GRADIENT DRIVEN PROCESSES

Temperature can be used as a driving force for membrane separation of the components of a liquid. Membrane distillation and pervaporation are the most common of these processes.

Membrane distillation is a thermally driven evaporation process for separating volatile solvent (or solvents) from solution on one side of a nonwetted microporous membrane. It is a method for desalination and removal of a broad spectrum of impurities from water [162], utilizing low temperature heat fluxes. In membrane distillation, the 'hot' feed solution (30–70°C) is introduced onto one side of a hydrophobic thin porous membrane, and a colder 'cool' distillate onto the other side of the membrane. The membrane is hydrophobic, with a small pore size (e.g. less than $1 \mu m$), and so the liquid phase does not permeate through the membrane. However, the vapour phase from the 'hot' solution permeates into the membrane pores, diffuses through an air layer in the pore and condenses on the cool side of the membrane. The process is nonisothermal and is applied to hydrophobic porous membranes developed for concentrations of water solutions or for the production of pure water [163-169]. As the process is characterized by high retention of non-volatile solutes, large DFs are expected in the separation of radionuclides that are present in liquid radioactive effluents in ionic form. Laboratory tests have shown that membrane distillation can be used to concentrate radioactive solutions [52, 170].

The feasibility of removing ¹³⁷Cs, ⁹⁰Sr and ⁹⁰Y from water by membrane distillation and their solution concentration limits have been studied and reported [167]. The average pore size of the membrane was between 0.15 and 0.65 μ m. Decontamination factors for various radionuclides were measured as follows: 90–11 000 for ¹³⁷Cs, 140–15 000 for ⁹⁰Sr and 180–18 000 for ⁹⁰Y. Special attention was given to the examination of surfactant influence on membrane distillation, which can result in hydrophilization of a membrane surface and loss of its water repellent properties [171–174].

Similar data were obtained from testing an apparatus for membrane distillation with flat membranes made of polytetrafluoroethylene on hot condensate from a nuclear power plant. The tests demonstrated highly efficient membrane distillation compared to traditional evaporation technology for radioisotope removal [174].

In pervaporation, liquid is maintained at atmospheric pressure on the feed or upstream side of the membrane while the permeate is removed as a vapour because of a low vapour pressure existing on the permeate or downstream side. This low (partial) vapour pressure can be achieved by employing a carrier gas or using a vacuum pump. The (partial) downstream pressure must be lower than the saturation pressure, as a minimum. In its simplest form pervaporation separates one component from another by the difference in the permeation (diffusion) rate of one component through a membrane compared to another. Pervaporation is most often used for the separation of such volatile components as hexane, toluene and trichloro-ethylene from water.

PROCESSES WITH COMBINED DRIVING FORCES

Various membrane processes exist that combine several driving forces to achieve separation. These will continue to be developed in the future. A typical process in this category that is worth mentioning is electro-osmofiltration (P + E). This is a process of directional separation of ions in the reverse osmosis condition under the influence of electric current running through a reverse



FIG. 53. The ELIX technology membrane apparatus: (A) reverse osmosis AM, (C) reverse osmosis cation exchange membrane.

osmosis membrane [8]. It has been shown in laboratory experiments that by passing a constant electric current through reverse osmosis membranes during contact electro-osmofiltration, the DF could be increased 3–5 times [175].

A commercial vendor in the USA [176] speaks of the availability of reverse osmosis ELIXTM technology which combines electro-osmofiltration and electrodialysis by filling the desalinating chambers with granulated ion exchange material. While a detailed description of the technology is not available, the operating principle of the apparatus is shown in Fig. 53.

REFERENCES

- [1] SUN-TAK HWANG, KAMMERMEYER, K., Membranes in Separations, Wiley, New York (1974).
- [2] KESTING, R.E., Synthetic Polymeric Membranes, Wiley, New York (1985).
- [3] CHEN, V., Membrane Technology in the Process Industries, CEIC 8341, UNESCO Centre for Membrane Science and Technology, University of New South Wales, Sydney (2002).
- [4] UNITED NATIONS Membrane Technology in the Chemical Industry, Rep. ECE/CHEM/72, UN Economic Commission for Europe, Geneva (1990).
- [5] STRATHMANN, H., Ion-exchange membranes in industrial separations processes, J. Sep. Proc. Technol. 5 1 (1984) 1–13.
- [6] BROCK, T.D., Membrane Filtration: A User's Guide and Reference Manual, Science Tech Inc., Madison, WI (1983).
- [7] MELTZER, T.H., High-purity Water Preparation, Tall Oaks Publishing, Inc. (1993).
- [8] DYTNERSKII, Y.I., Reverse Osmosis and Ultrafiltration, Chimia, Moscow (1978).
- [9] KATUMI, K., A Process for Treating Wastewater Containing Radioactive Substances Comprising Treating the Waste Water by Reverse Osmosis, German Patent 2454302 (1976).
- [10] KOJIMA, K., Process for Treating Waste Water Containing Radioactive Substances, US Patent 4161447 (1979).
- [11] DAISERU, K.K., Method Cleaning of Liquid Wastes, Containing of Radioactive Substances, Japanese Patent 53-36118 (1978).
- [12] MITSUBISHI DZUKOGE, K.K., Method for Treatment of Liquid Radioactive Waste, Japanese Patent 56-079998 (1981).
- [13] KAGAKU, G., CHO, K., Method for Treatment of Water Solution Containing of Radioactive Iodine, Japanese Patent 61-116695 (1986).
- [14] KNOFE, G., LEHNERT, D., Einrichtung zur Behandlung von Wäschereiwasser, German Democratic Republic Patent 223697 (1985).
- [15] MITSUBISHI DZUKOGE, K.K., Method for Treatment of Liquid Radioactive Waste, Japanese Patent 63-67877 (1988).
- [16] DAICEL Ltd, Process for Treating Waste Water Containing Radioactive Substances, French Patent 2274998 (1976).
- [17] CHAUFER, B., DERTANI, A., in Nuclear and Chemical Waste Management 8 (1988) 175–187.
- [18] CUMMING, I.W., TURNER, A.D., "Recent developments in testing new membrane systems at AERE Harwell for nuclear applications", Future Industrial Prospects on Membrane Processes (Proc. 1st Int. Symp. Brussels, 1988), Kluwer, Dordrecht (1989).
- [19] COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, First Annual Progress Report of the European Community Programme 1980–1984, Rep. EVR-8272, CEC, Luxembourg (1982).
- [20] ROBERTS, R.C., HERALD, W.R., Progress Report on Developments of Ultrafiltration and Inorganic Absorbents, Rep. MLM-2684, Mound Laboratory, Miamisburg, OH (1980) 59.
- [21] CARLEY-MACAULY, K.W., et. al., "Radioactive waste: Advanced management methods for medium active liquid wastes", Radioactive Waste Management, Vol. 1, CEC, Luxembourg (1981).
- [22] MANABU, T., Apparatus for Transporting Articles while Grasping the Same, Japanese Patent 77-049557 (1977).
- [23] KAMIYOSHI, H., Method of Processing Radioactive Liquid Waste, Japanese Patent 58-172598 (1983).
- [24] VIJAYAN, S., WONG, C.F., BUCKLEY, L.P., Waste Treatment Process for Removal of Contaminants from Aqueous, Mixed-waste Solutions using Sequential Chemical Treatment and Cross-flow Microfiltration, Followed by Dewatering, US Patent 5,366,634 (1994).
- [25] MONNARD, A., Procédé et Installation d'épuration de Composés Chimiques ou Nucléaires d'un Effluent, French Patent 2714620 (1995).
- [26] KAWASHIMA, A., et al., Apparatus for Filtration of a Suspension, French Patent 2525488 (1983).
- [27] HAYASHI, M., et al., "Membrane filter applications for crude separation from radioactive waste water generated in LWR power plants", On-site Management of Power Reactor Wastes (Proc. Symp. Zurich, 1979), OECD, Paris (1979) 229.
- [28] ERIKSSON, P., Nanofiltration extends the range of membrane filtration, Environmental Prog. **7** 58 (1988).
- [29] CONLON, W.J., HORNBURG, C.D., WATSON, B.M., KIEFER, C.A., Membrane softening: The concept and its application to municipal water supply, Desalination 78 (1990) 157–176.
- [30] RAUTENBACH, R., GRÖSCHL, A., Separation potential of NF membranes, Desalination 77 (1990) 73–84.
- [31] SOURIRAJAN, S., LOEB, S., Reverse Osmosis, Logos, London (1970).
- [32] DOW LIQUID SEPARATIONS, FILMTEC Membrane Elements: Technical Manual, FilmTec Corp., Minneapolis, MIN (1995).
- [33] GARCIA, R.S., Commercially Available Low-level Radioactive and Mixed Waste Treatment Technologies, Rep. DOE/LLW-240, Department of Energy, Washington, DC (1996).
- [34] COVIN, C.M., et al., Summary of the Ultrafiltration, Reverse Osmosis and Adsorbents Project, Rep. MLM-3033, UC-70B, Mound Laboratory, Miamisburg, OH (1983) 28.
- [35] HO, W.S., SIRKAR, K.K., Membrane Handbook, Van Nostrand Reinhold, Princeton, NJ, and New York (1992).
- [36] BURGGRAAF, A.J., KEIZER, K., VAN HASSEL, B.A., Ceramic nanostructure materials, membranes and composite layers, Solid State Ion. 32/33 (1989) 771– 782.

- [37] BARDOT, C., BERGEZ, P., EYRAUD, C., LLAHIANE, L., Elément d'ultrafiltration, ou de démineralization – son procédé de fabrication et son utilization pour le traitement d'effluents liquides radioactifs, French Patent 2600264 (1987).
- [38] LACEY, R.E., LOEB, S., Industrial Processing with Membranes, Wiley, New York (1972).
- [39] KOHOUT, R., Operating history of a 324,000 gpd RO plant, Ind. Water Eng. 28 (1973).
- [40] MACINTOSH, P., "Membrane process engineering concepts", Membrane Technologies in Water and Wastewater Treatment (Proc. Australian Water Association Workshop, 2002), University of New South Wales, Sydney (2002).
- [41] ADAMOVICH, D.V., et al., "Liquid radioactive waste treatment at Volgograd regional special facility RADON by mobile plant ECO-2", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM'99) (Proc. Conf. Nagoya, 1999), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1999).
- [42] BUKAY, M., How to monitor a reverse osmosis system, Ultrapure Water 1 2 (1984) 32–36.
- [43] SENGUPTA, S.K., Radwaste processing with microfiltration and RO, Ind. Water Treatment, July/August (1996) 22–38.
- [44] FIELD, R.W., et al., Critical flux concept for microfiltration fouling, J. Membr. Sci. 100 (1995) 259–272.
- [45] ESPINASSE, B., BACCHIN, P., AIMAR, P., On an experimental method to measure critical flux in ultrafiltration, Desalination 146 (2002) 91–96.
- [46] RAYCHEBA, J., Membrane Technology Reference Guide, Ontario Hydro, Toronto (1990).
- [47] DOW FILMTEC, Designing a Reverse Osmosis System, *http://www.dow.com/liquidseps/design/ro.htm*.
- [48] DEL SIGNORE, C.J., et al., Radioactive Liquid Waste Treatment Facility Plant Test Conducted May 2000, Rep. LA-UR-00-4333, Los Alamos National Laboratory, NM (2000).
- [49] PRASAD, R., SIRKAR, K.K., Analytical design equation for multi-component RO processes by spiral-wound module, Ind. Eng. Chem. Prod. Res. Dev. 24 (1985) 356.
- [50] MILES, W.C., POIRIER, M.R., BROWN, D.F., "F/H effluent treatment facility - Filtration upgrade alternative evaluations overview", WM'92 (Proc. Conf. Tucson, AZ, 1992), WM Symposia, Inc., Tucson, AZ (1992).
- [51] WORLAND, P.V., FREER, E.L., ALEXANDER, R.A., Pilot Scale Membrane Filtration Testing at the Los Alamos National Laboratory Radioactive Liquid Waste Treatment Facility, Rep. LA-UR-02-7108, Los Alamos National Laboratory, NM (2002).
- [52] ZAKRZEWSKA-TRZNADEL, G., HARASIMOWICZ, M., CHMIELEWSKI, A.G., TYMINSKI, B., "Membrane technologies for radioactive effluents processing", in World Congress of Chemical Engineering, Melbourne (2001).

- [53] ZAHID, A., Reverse Osmosis: Membrane Technology, Water Chemistry and Industrial Applications, Van Nostrand Reinhold, Princeton, NJ, and New York (1993).
- [54] MINDLER, A.B., EPSTEIN, A.C., Measurements and control in reverse osmosis desalination, Desalination 56 (1986) 343–379.
- [55] PUSCH, W., Performance of RO membranes in correlation with membrane structure, transport mechanisms of matter and module design – State of the art, Desalination 77 (1990) 35–54.
- [56] DEL SIGNORE, C.J., et al., Radioactive Liquid Waste Treatment Facility Secondary Stream Study, Rep. LA-UR-00-4332, Los Alamos National Laboratory, NM (2000).
- [57] SEN GUPTA, S.K., BUCKLEY, L.P., RIMPELAINEN, S., TREMBLAY, A.Y., "Liquid radwaste processing with spiral-wound reverse osmosis", WM'96 (Proc. Conf. Tucson, AZ, 1996), WM Symposia, Inc., Tucson, AZ (1996).
- [58] SEN GUPTA, S.K., SLADE, J.A., TULK, W.S., "Liquid radwaste processing with cross-flow microfiltration and spiral-wound reverse osmosis", WM'95 (Proc. Conf. Tucson, AZ, 1995), WM Symposia, Inc., Tucson, AZ (1995).
- [59] DURHAM, S.R., KRONMILLER, D.L., Membrane cleaning under the microscope – Successful cleaning means knowing the foulant, Water Technol. September (1995).
- [60] MULHERN, N., Death, taxes...and RO membrane fouling, Water Technol. November (1995).
- [61] PALINO, G.F., LIANG, T.J., KUBAREWICZ, J.W., LIGHT, W.G., Radwaste evaporator pretreatment by UF, Trans. Am. Nucl. Soc. **39** (1981) 158–160.
- [62] TURNER, A.D., JUNKISON, A.R., BRIDGER, N.J., "Electrical processes for liquid waste treatment", Management of Low and Intermediate Level Radioactive Wastes 1988 (Proc. Int. Symp. Stockholm, 1988), Vol. 2, IAEA, Vienna (1989) 75–87.
- [63] FARAHBAKHSH, K., SMITH, D.W., Performance comparison and pretreatment evaluation of three water treatment membrane pilot plants treating low turbidity water, J. Environ. Eng. Sci. 1 (2002) 113–122.
- [64] WOHLBERG, C., et al., The Management of Silica in Los Alamos National Laboratory Tap Water, Rep. LA-UR-96-1283, Los Alamos National Laboratory, NM (1996).
- [65] McCABE, D.J., WIGGINS, A.W., POIRIER, M.R., HAZEN, T.C., "Biofouling of microfilters at the Savannah River F/H area effluent treatment facility", WM'92 (Proc. Conf. Tucson, AZ, 1992), WM Symposia, Inc., Tucson, AZ (1992).
- [66] EMERSON PROCESS MANAGEMENT, Chlorine Monitoring for Protection of Reverse Osmosis Membranes and Prevention of Biofouling, Application Data Sheet ADS 4950-17rev A, Emerson Electric Co., St. Louis, MO (2002).
- [67] AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR TESTING AND MATERIALS, "Standard practice for standardizing reverse osmosis performance data", D4516-00, Annual Book of ASTM Standards, Vol. 11.02: Water and Environmental Technology, ASTM, New York (2003).

- [68] SAAD, M.A., "Optimize water cost by early prediction of membrane system fouling trends", in (Proc. IDA World Congr. on Desalination and Water Re-use, San Diego, CA, 1999).
- [69] RICHARDSON, J., SAAD, M.A., Real-time membrane fouling monitoring A case history, Automation 03 (2002) 13.
- [70] ABBAS, A., AL-BASTAKI, N., Performance decline in brackish water FilmTec spiral-wound RO membranes, Desalination 136 (2001) 281–286.
- [71] AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR TESTING AND MATERIALS, "Standard practice for calculation and adjustment of the langelier saturation index for reverse osmosis", D3739-94, Annual Book of ASTM Standards, Vol. 11.02: Water and Environmental Technology, ASTM, New York (1998).
- [72] AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR TESTING AND MATERIALS, "Standard test method for silt density index (SDI) of water", D4189-95, Annual Book of ASTM Standards, Vol. 11.01: Water and Environmental Technology, ASTM, New York (2002).
- [73] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Handling and Processing of Radioactive Waste from Nuclear Applications, Technical Reports Series No. 402, IAEA, Vienna (2001).
- [74] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Processing of Nuclear Power Plant Waste Streams Containing Boric Acid, IAEA-TECDOC-911, IAEA, Vienna (1996).
- [75] PHILIP, I.P., "Commercial and research status report for inorganic membranes: Suggested uses in environmental and waste management processes", WM'93 (Proc. Conf. Tucson, AZ, 1993), WM Symposia, Inc., Tucson, AZ (1993) 1713– 1716.
- [76] GREENAWAY, W.R., et al., Treatment of radioactive steam-generator blowdown, Ind. Water Engineer. 22 (1973).
- [77] ELECTRIC POWER RESEARCH INSTITUTE, Performance Evaluation of Advanced LLW Liquid Processing Technology: Boiling Water Reactor Liquid Processing, Rep. 1003063, Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA (2001).
- [78] FREEMAN, J., "Wolf Creek's liquid waste processing system improvements", in Proc. EPRI Int. Low-Level Waste Conf. 2000, Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA (2001).
- [79] FREEMAN, J., et al., "LRW processing with membranes: Tips, tricks and traps", ibid.
- [80] EVANS, D.W., GARAMSZEGHY, M., SOLAIMANI, H.M., STOTT, J.B., "Treatment of steam generator chemical cleaning wastes: Development and operation of the Bruce spent solvent treatment facility", in Proc. 5th Int. Symp. Nashville, TN, 1995, International Chemical Oxidation Association (1995).
- [81] BOURNS, W.T., BUCKLEY, L.P., BURRILL, K.A., "Development of techniques for radwaste systems in CANDU power stations", On-site Management of Power Reactor Wastes (Proc. Symp. Zurich, 1979), OECD, Paris (1979) 309–330.

- [82] BUCKLEY, L.P., SEN GUPTA, S.K., SLADE, J.A., "Treatment of low-level radioactive waste liquid by reverse osmosis", ICEM'95 (Proc. Conf. Berlin, 1995), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1995) 1015.
- [83] SEN GUPTA, S.K., BUCKLEY, L.P., "Bitumen immobilization of aqueous radwaste by thin-film evaporation", WM'96 (Proc. Conf. Tucson, AZ, 1996), WM Symposia, Inc., Tucson, AZ (1996).
- [84] MILLER, C., "Comparison of advanced filtration systems at Diablo Canyon", in Proc. ASME/EPRI Radwaste Workshop 2001, Rep. 1006690, Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA (2002).
- [85] VAN GILS GERARD, J., et al., "A combined ultrafiltration-carbon adsorption process for reuse of industrial laundry wastewater", Future Water Reuse (Proc. 3rd Symp. San Diego, CA, 1984) 911–935.
- [86] KNOFE, G., LEHNERT, D., Apparatus for treatment of laundry wastewater, Chem. Abst. **104** (1986) 272.
- [87] KICHIK, V.A., MASLOVA, M.N., SVITZOV, A.A., CULESHOV, N.F., Method for complex treatment of laundry liquid radioactive wastes by ultrafiltration, At. Ehnerg. 63 2 (1987) 130–134 (in Russian).
- [88] KARLIN, Y., GORBACHEV, D., VOLKOV, A., BARINOV, A., "Advantageous technology treatment of laundry waters", Technologies for the Management of Radioactive Waste from Nuclear Power Plants and Back End Nuclear Fuel Cycle Activities (Proc. Int. Symp. Taejon, 1999), C&S Papers CD Series No. 6, IAEA, Vienna (2001) 111–112 (CD-ROM).
- [89] SUZUKI, K., et al., "A study of removal of hazardous metals and radionuclides in ground water", WM'97 (Proc. Conf. Tucson, AZ, 1997), WM Symposia, Inc., Tucson, AZ (1997).
- [90] BONNEMA, B.E., NAVRATIL, J.D., BLOOM, R.R., "SOIL*EXTM process design basic for mixed waste treatment", WM'95 (Proc. Conf. Tucson, AZ, 1995), WM Symposia, Inc., Tucson, AZ (1995).
- [91] CIRILLO, J.R., KELSO, W.J., "Versatile treatment system cleans mixed wastewater from diverse sources", Spectrum '98 (Proc. Int. Conf. Denver, CO, 1998), American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1998) 997.
- [92] BUCKLEY, L.P., VIJAYAN, S., WONG, C.F., "Remediation process technology for ground water", Nuclear Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (Proc. Int. Conf. Prague, 1993), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1993) 33.
- [93] TORBITT, J., "Nine Mile Point Unit 1 experience with membrane processing of radwaste", in Proc. EPRI Int. Low Level Waste Conf. Providence, RI, 1997, Rep. TR-111657, Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA (1999).
- [94] TORBITT, J., BARKER, T.A., "Advanced treatment of liquid radwaste at the Nine Mile Point station", in Proc. ASME/EPRI Radwaste Workshop, Orlando, FLA, 1995, Rep. TR-105132, Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA (1996).

- [95] SCALA, R., "Nine Mile Point II radwaste processing experience utilizing R.O. membrane technology", in Proc. EPRI Int. Low Level Waste Conf. New Orleans, LA, 2003, Rep. 1006689, Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA (2003).
 - [96] PINEDA, B., "Analysis of UF/RO technology performance to replace a filter demin system", in Proc. ASME/EPRI Radwaste Workshop, San Antonio, TX, 2000, Rep. 100680, Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA (2001).
 - [97] WILSON, J.H., et al., "Effective liquid waste processing utilizing membrane technologies", in Proc. EPRI Int. Low Level Waste Conf., San Antonio, TX, 2000, Rep. 100671, Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA (2001).
 - [98] WERLINE, R., et al., "Processing of liquid radwaste utilizing ultrafiltration technology", in Proc. EPRI Int. Low Level Waste Conf., Orlando, FLA, 1998, Rep. TR-112660, Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA (1999).
- [99] ARMS, T.H., WILSON, J.H., "LLW fractionation using membrane and ion exchange technology", in Proc. EPRI Int. Low Level Waste Conf., Orlando, FLA, 2001, Rep. 1006689, Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA (2002).
- [100] KOENST, J.W., et al., Development of Ultrafiltration and Inorganic Adsorbents for Reducing Volumes of Low-level and Intermediate-level Liquid Waste, Rep. MLM2464, Mound Laboratory, Miamisburg, OH (1977).
- [101] MIZUTANI, Y., Ion exchange membranes with preferential permselectivity for monovalent ions, Membr. Sci. 54 (1990) 233–257.
- [102] YEO, R.S., Ion clustering and proton transport in NAFION membranes and its applications as solid polymer electrolyte, J. Electrochem. Soc. 130 (1983) 533–538.
- [103] LABAYRU, E., ANDALAFT, E., ALBORNOZ, C., et al., "Properties of dynamic membranes supported in ceramic material", CONAMET 94 (Proc. 8th Natl. Congr. on Metallurgy, Antofagasta, Chile, 1994), CODEN NUCLEQ 14 27 (1994) 39–44 (in Spanish).
- [104] ANDALAFT, E., VEGA, R., CORREA, M., ARAYA, R., LOYOLA, P., "Zeta potential control in decontamination with inorganic membranes and inorganic adsorbents", Treatment Technologies for Low and Intermediate Level Waste from Nuclear Applications, IAEA-TECDOC-929, IAEA, Vienna (1997) 15–32.
- [105] HOLLENBERG, G., CARLSON, C., VIRKAR, A., GORDON, J., JOSHI, A., "Salt splitting of sodium-dominated radioactive waste using ceramic membranes", Spectrum '94 (Proc. Int. Conf. Denver, CO, 1994), American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 2272–2276.
- [106] KURATH, D.E., et al., Salt splitting using ceramic membranes, Sep. Sci. Technol. 32 1–4 (1997) 557–572.
- [107] WILSON, J.R., Ed., Demineralization by Electrodialysis, Butterworth, London (1960).
- [108] IONICS Inc., Electrodialysis and Electrodialysis Reversal, http://www.ionics.com/ toolbox/edr.htm.
- [109] KWANG-LUNG LIN, MIN-LIN CHU, MU-CHANG SHIEH, Treatment of uranium containing effluents with reverse osmosis process, Desalination 61 2 (1987) 125–136.

- [110] NAKABE DENREKU, K.K., ORUGANO, K.K., Device for Treatment of Liquid Radioactive Waste, Japanese Patent 60-55040 (1985).
- [111] MIZUTANI, T., MIKI, M., Device for Disposing of Radioactive Liquid Waste, Japanese Patent 54-158597 (1979).
- [112] TOKUHITO, O., KIJHARU, N., Method Treatment of Liquid Nitrate-containing Radioactive Waste, Japanese Patent 60-24439 (1985).
- [113] BABCOCK & WILCOX Co., Combination Ion Exchange and Electrodialysis Fluid Purification Apparatus, French Patent 2397861 (1979).
- [114] LUNDSTROM, J.E., Decontamination of a Radioactive Waste Liquid by Electrodialysis, US Patent 4645625 (1987).
- [115] KRESSMAN, T.R.E., Process of Concentrating Dissolved Salts by Electrodialysis, US Patent 3014855 (1961).
- [116] RAUZEN, F.V., CULESHOV, N.F., TRUSHKOV, N.P., DUDNIK, S.S., Application of ion-exchange and electrodialysis for cleaning of the liquid radioactive waste, At. Ehnerg. 45 1 (1978) 49–53 (in Russian).
- [117] DEMKIN, V.I., TUBASHOV, Y.A., PANTELEEV, V.I., KARLIN, Y.V., Cleaning low mineral water by electrodialysis, Desalination 64 (1987) 367–374.
- [118] FULE, L., ZHONGMEI, Z., GUOZHEN, L., et al., A research into the mechanism of packed bed electrodialysis and its tentative application for treating low-level radioactive waste, Water Treatment (China) 1 1 (1987) 58–67.
- [119] DEL DEBBIO, J.A., DONOVAN, R.I., LUNDSTROM, J.E., Treatment of lowlevel liquid radioactive wastes by electrodialysis, Sep. Sci. Technol. 2 (1986) 111– 122.
- [120] MARTOIAN, G.A., DEMIRCHIAN, M.P., KARAMIAN, G.G., "The new method of concentration of liquid radioactive wastes by electrodialysis", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM'97) (Proc. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 429–430.
- [121] SUGIMOTO, S., Removal of radioactive ions from nuclear waste solutions by electrodialysis, J. Nucl. Sci. Technol. 15 (1987) 753–759.
- [122] SUGIMOTO, S., AIKAWA, H., Removal of radioactive ions by multistep electrodialysis, Genshiryoku-Gakkaishi 22 (1980) 813–820 (in Japanese).
- [123] MIYAGAWA, M., MIZUTANI, T., MIKI, M., OHUCHI, I., Volume reduction system of radioactive waste by electrodialysis, Karyoku Genshiryoku Hatsuden 30 (1979) 351–364 (in Japanese).
- [124] RAMACHANDHRAN, V., MISRA, B.M., Study of removal of radionuclides by electrodialysis, Sep. Sci. Technol. 20 7–8 (1985) 623–632.
- [125] Ionics aids waste processing, Nucl. Eng. Int. 29 361 (1984) 54.
- [126] DYER, R.S., DUFFEY, R.B., PENZIN, R., SORLIE, A., "U.S. and Russian innovative technologies to process low-level liquid radioactive wastes: The Murmansk initiative", Spectrum '96 (Proc. Int. Conf. Seattle, WA, 1996), American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1996) 470–474.

- [127] DYER, R.S, MOSKOWITZ, P.D., CZAJKOWSKI, C.J., COWGILL, M., SULLIVAN, T., "Environmental security benefits arising from Russian/ Norwegian/US cooperation in the high Arctic", WM'97 (Proc. Conf. Tucson, AZ, 1997), WM Symposia, Inc., Tucson, AZ (1997)..
- [128] MARTYNOV, B.V., "Optimization of the processing of liquid radioactive waste of low and medium level", Global'95 (Proc. Int. Conf. Versailles, 1995) (SUTCLIFFE, W.G., Ed.), Vol. 2, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, Livermore, CA (1996) 1830–1837.
- [129] IGAWA, M., SAITOU, K., KASAI, H., TANAKA, M., YAMABE, T., Electrodialysis with liquid membrane containing dibenzo-18-crown-6 as a carrier, Chem. Lett. (Japan) (1985) 861–864.
- [130] BATYUKHNOV, A.M., KARLIN, Y.V., PANTELEEV, V.I., SOBOLEV, I.A., "Development and testing of a pilot electrodialysis plant involving the use of a cation-exchange membrane, on the basis of mathematical simulation of mass transfer through a membrane", International Solvent Extraction, ISEC'88 (Proc. Int. Conf. Moscow, 1988), Nauka, Moscow (1988) 46–49.
- [131] GOLUBEV, V.N., PURIN, B.A., Method and Device for Liquid Extraction and Re-extraction of Inorganic Compounds, USSR Patent 542,526 (1977).
- [132] POLONSKI, J.W., HOBURG, J.F., EVANS, D.F., CUSSLER, E.L., Mixing liquid membranes with electric fields, Membr. Sci. 5 3 (1979) 371–374.
- [133] SAWA, T., HIROSE, Y., ISHII, Y., et al., "Development of electrochemical denitrification from waste water containing ammonium nitrate", ICEM'95 (Proc. Conf. Berlin, 1995), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1995) 1089–1093.
- [134] SHINICHI, N., Measuring Method of Cutting Tool, Japanese, Patent 5-057568 B4 (1993).
- [135] KEDEM, O., KEDEM, A., Electrodialysis Device, US Patent 4033850 (1977).
- [136] LOMASNEY, H.L., GRAVES, R.A., Extracting a Target Ion from an Aqueous Solution by Ion Exchange and Electropotential Ion Transport, US Patent 5482632 (1996).
- [137] KARLIN, Y.V., PROZOROV, L.B., CHUIKOV, V.Y., et al., "The selective extraction of the Cs and Co from the liquid radioactive waste", in Proc. Materials Research Society Fall Mtg Boston, MA, 1995, Materials Research Society, Warrendale, PA 589–590.
- [138] KARLIN, Yu., ILIASOV, R., SOBOLEV, I., "Elaboration of combined electrosorption method for treatment of LLRW", Combined Methods for Liquid Radioactive Waste Treatment, IAEA-TECDOC-1336, IAEA, Vienna (2003) 168.
- [139] HO-YEON YANG, JONG-HYUN HA, MYUNG-JAE SONG, "Combined liquid waste treatment processes involving inorganic and organic sorbents, reverse osmosis and micro/ultrafiltration", Combined Methods for Liquid Radioactive Waste Treatment, IAEA-TECDOC-1336, IAEA, Vienna (2003).
- [140] STREATFIELD, R.E., "Nuclear Electric's approach to the management of intermediate level radioactive wastes", WM'95 (Proc. Conf. Tucson, AZ, 1995), WM Symposia, Inc., Tucson, AZ (1995).

- [141] GALLAGHER, C.J., Polarity Reversal and Double Reversal Electrodeionization Apparatus and Method, US Patent 5558753 (1995).
- [142] NEWMAN, J.S., Electrochemical System, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ (1973).
- [143] DUKHIN, S.S., ESTRELA-LIOPIS, V.R., JOLKOVSKII, E.K., Electrosurface Phenomenon and Electrofiltration, Naukova Dumka, Kiev (1985) (in Russian).
- [144] KUMAR, A., SASTRE, A.M., "Developments in non-dispersive membrane extraction-separation processes", Ion Exchange and Solvent Extraction, Vol. 15, Dekker, New York (2001) 331–456.
- [145] GUPTA, S.K., et al., "Non-dispersive extraction of Am(III) using PC-88A as an extractant", NUCAR-2003 (Proc. DAE Symp. on Nuclear- and Radio-chemistry, Trombay, 2003), Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Trombay, Mumbai (2003) 133.
- [146] De HANN, A.B., BARTELS, P.V., DE GRAAUW, J., Extraction of metal ions from waste water. Modelling of the mass transfer in supported-liquid-membrane process, Membr. Sci. 45 (1989) 281.
- [147] KALHIOS, D.J., HARVINEN, G.D., YARBRO, S.L., SMITH, B.F., Membr. Sci. 97 (1994) 251.
- [148] ROGERS, J.D., LONG, R.L., Jr., Modelling hollow fiber membrane contactors using film theory, Vornoi tessellations and facilitation factors for systems with interface reactions, Membr. Sci. 134 1 (1997) 1–17.
- [149] ADNET, J.M., BROSSARD, P., BOURGES, J., "The selective extraction of oxidized minor actinides: A possible route for the ACTINEX program", GLOBAL'93 (Proc. Int. Conf. Seattle, WA, 1993), OECD Nuclear Energy Agency, Le Seine Saint-Germain (1993) 7.
- [150] Liquid membrane may have place in environmental management, Membr. Sep. Technol. News, September (1990) 5–6.
- [151] DWORZAK, W.R., NASER, A.J., Pilot-scale evaluation of supported liquid membrane extraction, Sep. Sci. Technol. 22 2&3 (1987) 677–689.
- [152] IZATT, R.M., ROPER, R.L., BRUENING, R.L., LAMB, J.D., Macrocyclemediated cation transport using hollow fiber supported liquid membranes, Membr. Sci. 45 (1989) 73–84.
- [153] MUSCATELLO, A.C., NAVRAHL, J.D., in Chemical Separations (Proc 1st Int. Conf. New York, 1986), (KING, C.J., NAVRAHL, J.D., Eds), Vol. 2, Litarvan Literature, Denver, CO (1986) 427–437.
- [154] MUSCATELLO, A.C., NAVRATIL, J.D., KILLION, M.E., PRICE, M.Y., Supported extractant membranes for Americium and plutonium recovery, Sep. Sci. Technol. 22 2&3 (1987) 843–853.
- [155] KUMAR, A., et al., Ind. J. Chem. 31A (1992) 373.
- [156] SHUKLA, J.P., KUMAR, A., SINGH, R.K., Influence of gamma-irradiation on extraction and cation-transport of uranium (VI) and plutonium (IV) by Dicyclohexano-18-Crown-6, Sep. Sci. Technol. 27 (1992) 447, J. Nucl. Sci. Technol. 31 10 (1994) 1066–1072.
- [157] SONAWANE, J.V., et al., Rep. BARC/2000/E/003, Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Trombay, Mumbai (2000).

- [158] DANESI, P.R., HORWITZ, E.P., RICKERT, P., CHIARIZIA, R., "Actinide separations by supported liquid membranes", in Proc. Int. Chem. Congr. of Pacific Basin Societies, Honolulu, 1984, National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA (1984).
- [159] DANESI, P.R., Sep. Sci. Technol. 21 (1984).
- [160] CHIAZIA, R., DANESI, P.R., in Separation Science and Technology for Energy Applications (Proc. Symp. Knoxville, 1985), Dekker, NY (1985).
- [161] DANESI, P.R., in International Solvent Extraction (Proc. Int. Conf. Munich, 1986), Vol. 1, Dechema, Frankfurt (1986) 527.
- [162] DRIOLI, E., WU, Y., CALABRO, V., Membrane distillation in the treatment of aqueous solutions, Membr. Sci. 33 3 (1987) 275–277.
- [163] TOMASZEWSKA, M., GRYTA, M., MORAWSKI, A.W., Study of concentration of acids by membrane distillation, Membr. Sci. 102 (1995) 113.
- [164] SHOJI, K., SHIN-ICHI, N., SHUN-ICHI, S., Treatment phenomena in membrane distillation, Membr. Sci. 33 (1987) 285.
- [165] SCHNEIDER, K., GASSEL, T.J., Membrane distillation, Chem. Eng. Technol. 56 (1984) 514.
- [166] SARTI, G.C., et al., Low energy cost desalination process using hydrophobic membranes, Desalination 56 (1985) 277.
- [167] ANDERSEN, S.J., KJELLNDER, N., RODESJO, B., Design and field tests of a new membrane distillation process, Desalination 56 (1985) 345.
- [168] HOGAN, P.A., SUDJITO, F.A.G., MORRISON, G.L., Desalination by solar heated membrane distillation, Desalination 81 (1985).
- [169] CHMIELEWSKI, A.G., et al., Sep. Sci. Technol. 32 (1997) 709.
- [170] ZAKRZEWSKA-TRZADEL, G., HARASIMOWICZ, M., CHMIELEWSKI, A.G., Concentration of radioactive components in liquid low-level radioactive waste by membrane distillation, Membr. Sci. 163 (1999) 257–264.
- [171] DYTNERSKII, Y.I., KARLIN, Y.V., KROPOTOV, V.N., Prospects for using membrane distillation for reprocessing liquid radioactive wastes, At. Ehnerg. 75 5 (1993) 345–350 (in Russian).
- [172] JÖNSSON, A.S., JÖNSSON, B., The influence of non-ionic and ionic surfactants on hydrophobic and hydrophilic ultrafiltration membranes, Membr. Sci. 56 1 (1991) 4976.
- [173] KARLIN, Y.V., KROPOTOV, V.N., AGRINENKO, V.V., Device for Treatment of LRW Containing Surfactants, Russian Patent 2063076 (1996).
- [174] CHMIELEWSKI, A.G., ZAKRZEWSKA-TRZADEL, G., MILJEVIE, N.R., VAN HOOK, W.A., Membrane distillation employed for separation of water isotopic compounds, Sep. Sci. Technol. **30** 7 (1995) 1653–1667.
- [175] DIMITROVA, N.S., Study of the Separation Process of Electrolyte Solutions by Reverse Osmosis and Ultrafiltration under Electric Current, PhD Thesis, Moscow University (1978) (in Russian).
- [176] MILLIPORE Corporation, New Type II Water System, Advertising brochure (1994).



CONTRIBUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW

Buckley, L.	Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd, Canada
Bushart, S.	Electric Power Research Institute, United States of America
Efremenkov, V.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Karlin, Y.	RADON, Russian Federation
Kohout, R.	R. Kohout & Associates Ltd, Canada
Pabby, A.	Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, India
Tapsell, G.	Australian Nuclear Science & Technology Organisation, Australia

Consultants Meetings

Vienna, Austria: 20-24 March 2000, 7-11 April 2003

Technical Committee Meeting

Vienna, Austria: 1-5 July 2002